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S&W SEED COMPANY

We are a multi-crop, middle-market agricultural
company with global reach. We develop and
supply high-quality germplasm designed to
produce higher yields for farmers worldwide.

We produce approximately 250 seed products in
the Western United States, Canada, Australia,
Europe and South Africa for sale in more than 30
countries. We are market leaders in the breeding,
production and sale of alfalfa seed and sorghum
seed and have a growing commercial market
presence in sunflower and wheat. We also maintain
an active stevia development program.

We are focused on driving trait improvement and
generating higher-margin products in all of our
crop categories. We expect to introduce more than
20 new products during the 2020-2022 fiscal years.

We believe that our efficient seed development,
production and distribution platform positions us
well for organic growth. Additionally, we believe
there are a number of opportunities to acquire
assets that are no longer a strategic fit in the
product portfolios of larger industry players or
assets that smaller industry players are unable to
effectively exploit.

THE OPPORTUNITY

The global agriculture market is experiencing
rapid change driven by population growth,
environmental challenges, limited availability of
arable land, diverse regulatory requirements and
evolving consumer demands. As a result, farmers
and other industry participants face ongoing
pressure to cost-effectively increase productivity
and output. These factors and others have led to
strategic realignments and significant consolidation
in the seed industry, leaving a small number of
large players.

We believe this environment presents an
opportunity to build a global agricultural company
focused on crop and market opportunities that
large seed companies may overlook, underserve or
ineffectively address.






ALFALFA

Our portfolio of over 200 commercialized alfalfa
seed products spans both non-dormant and
dormant categories. Our specialty is high-yield
alfalfa varieties with a wide range of adaptation
across many growing environments.

SORGHUM

Our portfolio of approximately 50 commercialized
sorghum seed products includes both forage

and grain sorghum. We believe that our sorghum
hybrids are highly competitive in select markets.

SUNFLOWER

We have a small, but fast-growing commercial
sunflower program. Our development focus is on
disease resistance, herbicide resistance, specific
oil profiles, and maximizing yield potential for
different growing conditions around the world.

WHEAT

Our commercial wheat program is initially focused
on the Australian market. We believe the varieties in
development have a number of potential benefits,
as compared to competing varieties, including
superior disease resistance, superior yields and
grain quality to suit diverse Australian conditions.

STEVIA

Our pre-commercial stevia program aims to bring
to market new varieties that can both meet taste
requirements of consumers and have yield quality
that would enable farmers to profitably grow stevia
in North and South America.



POSITIONED FOR
GROWTH

Our platform is built on a strong germplasm
asset base and trait development capabilities,
a cost-efficient global supply chain and

one of the industry’s largest networks of
distributors and dealers, reaching more than
30 countries, including a U.S. farmer-dealer
network that is unique among middle-market
seed companies.

We believe that our seed development,
production and distribution platform provides
a firm foundation for growing our business,
driving future profitability and delivering
value to our shareholders.

Management
Team

= Mark Wong named CEO
of S&W in June 2017

= Strengthened BOD with
appointment of former
Monsanto and Cargill
executives

- Reorganized operations
along geographic lines
instead of product lines
to better reach and serve
customers

- Deepened management
team, with focus on sales
and research

Research &
Development

= Multi-disciplinary team
comprised of breeding,
molecular genetics, and
greenhouse teams

- Biotech marker assisted
breeding

- Collaboration to apply
next generation gene
editing technology to
our elite alfalfa genetics

= Plan to bring to
market sorghum seed
incorporating our
proprietary, patent-
pending herbicide
tolerant trait




Broad Crop
Portfolio

- Alfalfa (Dormant and
Non-Dormant)

= Sorghum (Forage, Grain
and Sudan)

- Sunflower

- Wheat

- Stevia

Global
Production

= Production under
contract with more than
140 third-party growers
in the Western United
States, Canada, Australia,
Europe and South Africa

= Global, but localized,
production enables
region-specific products
at lower cost

- Direct ownership of
production facilities
enables flexible product
mix, quality control and
lower cost structure

-y

U.S. Farmer-
Dealer Network

- Extensive member
farmer-dealer network

- S&W internal sales force
focused on leveraging
farmer-dealer network
to cross sell additional
products

v

International
Distribution

- Network of distributors

and dealers, reaching
more than 30 countries

Addition of wheat to
portfolio advances
strategic objective to be
a leading supplier of
elite seed genetics to
Australian farmers

New South African
production and
distribution relationships
open African market
opportunity



NAMED MARK WONG
CEO OF S&W IN JUNE
2017

Strengthened board of
directors with appointment

of former Monsanto and
Cargill executives

REALIGNED
ORGANIZATION

Reorganized operations
along geographic lines
instead of product lines to
better reach and serve
local customers

Hired four key senior
managers focused on sales
and research
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STRENGTHENED
BALANCE SHEET

Closed $10.7 M private
placement in July 2017

Closed $12.25 M rights
offering in December 2017

Closed $27.5 M PIPE with
MFP Partners to fund
Chromatin acquisition in
Fall 2018




ACQUIRED CHROMATIN
SORGHUM ASSETS

Navigated complicated
receivership proceeding

to acquire sorghum market
leader

Extensive global sales
network with U.S. farmer-
dealer network

World class R&D and
testing program with
strong product pipeline

Tracking ahead of
expectations with positive
EBITDA in Year 1

RESTRUCTURED ALFALFA

AGREEMENT WITH
CORTEVA/PIONEER

Received $45 M in cash at
closing plus $25 M through
February 2021 in exchnage
for exclusive license to
certain alfalfa varieties

Retained ownership of next-
generation alfalfa pipeline

Strengthened balance sheet
provides opportunity to
invest in development of
high-value traits in existing
crops or enter new crop
markets

ADDED WHEAT TO
PRODUCT PORTFOLIO

Licensed Australian wheat
varieties from Corteva
Agriscience for $2.6 M

Commercial varieties
currently generating end
point royalties in Australia

New elite varieties in
development pipeline
scheduled for release in
April 2020

Program expected to be
EBITDA breakeven in FY20
and contribute positive
EBITDA in FY21 and beyond
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Our goalis to be a
leading multi-crop,
middle-market
agricultural
company

with global reach;
delivering value to
our customers and
strong financial
returns to our
shareholders.

To reach our goal,
we have prioritized
the following
strategic initiatives:

DEVELOP AND LAUNCH NEW
PRODUCTS THAT ADDRESS
UNMET MARKET NEEDS

We expect to introduce more than 20
new products during the 2020-2022
fiscal years across our current crop
offerings. We also plan to continue
development activities aimed to
generate high-value, improved traits
in our crops. These activities include
our collaboration with Calyxt, Inc. to
apply next generation gene-editing
technology to our elite alfalfa seed
genetics and our own efforts to
bring to market sorghum seed that
incorporates our proprietary, patent-
pending herbicide tolerant trait.

BUILD OUR MULTI-CHANNEL
DISTRIBUTION NETWORK
AND EXECUTE ON INTER-
NATIONAL CROSS-SELLING
OPPORTUNITIES

We believe that a more robust, diverse
distribution network will allow us

to continue to evolve beyond our
historical dependence on certain
geographical markets which carry
higher political, regulatory and
economic risks.




EXPLOIT INTERNATIONAL

PRODUCTION CAPABILITY
FOR BEST-IN CLASS COST
STRUCTURE

Our streamlined international supply
chain provides us with flexibility in
sourcing product to meet customer
needs. We are focused on exploiting
this ability to shift production to
low-cost areas to both support our
competitive position and improve
our margins.

COMMERCIALIZE
STEVIA

We believe that an opportunity
exists to bring to market new stevia
varieties that can both meet taste
requirements of consumers and
have yield quality that would enable
farmers to profitably grow stevia in
North and South America. We plan
to leverage our proprietary stevia
germplasm to form collaborations
and commercial agreements with
supply chain partners to create a
U.S.-based stevia production industry
for high-quality stevia sweetener
with superior taste profiles to supply
major customers in the U.S. market.

EXPAND CROP OFFERINGS
AND MARKET SHARE OF
EXISTING OFFERINGS
THROUGH STRATEGIC
ACQUISITIONS

We expect that ongoing consolidation
and realignment in the seed industry
will present opportunities for us to
acquire assets that no longer are a
strategic fit in the product portfolios
of larger industry players or that
smaller industry players are unable
to effectively exploit. We believe

that our production and distribution
platforms position us to more fully
realize the potential of these types of
assets. Moreover, we have a proven
track record of successfully acquiring
and integrating diverse operations
into our seed platform and
rebalancing our product portfolio.
We intend to emphasize disciplined
capital and resource allocation, with
a strong focus on return on invested
capital and evaluating opportunities
to expand our crop offerings or
increase our share of existing crop
markets.




DEAR SHAREHOLDERS

During fiscal 2019, we successfully executed several key steps in
our planto transform S&W into a leading multi-crop, middle-market
agricultural company with global reach. These steps included two
significant transactions and an operational realignment designed
to improve the effectiveness of our sales efforts, to make our
supply chain more efficient and to focus our development efforts
on high-value product and trait opportunities.

We returned our business to revenue growth, strengthened our
balance sheet and significantly increased our strategic flexibility.

We believe the foundation we built in fiscal 2019 leaves us well-
positioned to drive growth in our core business in fiscal 2020 and

beyond.

CHROMATIN SORGHUM TRANSACTION

In October 2018, we acquired the assets of Chromatin, a U.S.-based
sorghum operator, which had entered into receivership earlier in
the year. The purchase price of $26.5 million was funded entirely
by a sale of equity to our largest shareholder.

The Chromatin asset acquisition significantly expanded our
presence in the sorghum seed market. Chromatin started as an
agricultural biotech company and had become anintegrated global
sorghum seed company. We believe that we acquired commercial
sorghum hybrids that are some of the best in the industry and a
development pipeline of products that are expected to offer first-
to-market key traits. In addition to a strong product portfolio,
we acquired Chromatin’s farmer-dealer network, as well as a
distribution network of sales representatives and channel partners,
that we believe will allow for significant cross-selling synergies
with our existing alfalfa products. Importantly, we were able
to navigate a complicated receivership process that deterred a
number of larger companies and, as a result, acquired the assets at
what we we believe was an attractive valuation. This is precisely the
type of opportunity our management team and board had been
seeking to accelerate our go-forward strategic plan.

ALFALFA LICENSING TRANSACTION

In May 2019, we restructured our alfalfa relationship with Pioneer
Hi-Bred International, Inc. A new licensing framework replaced
our December 2014 production and distribution agreements
with Pioneer. In the transaction, we received $45 million in cash
at closing and are entitled to receive an additional $25 million in
payments over regularly scheduled dates concluding in February
2021, for a total of $70 million.

We retained ownership of all of the assets originally acquired in
the December 2014 asset purchase transaction with Pioneer (for
which we originally paid $39.5 million), including alfalfa varieties
and germplasm, research and development capabilities, and
production facilities. These assets are expected to enable us to sell
our next generation alfalfa varieties into our farmer-dealer network
in the US. and proprietary distribution channels worldwide,
allowing our customers to benefit from years of leading-edge
product development.

OPERATIONAL REALIGNMENT

Throughout the year, we realigned our operations with the goals
of improving the reach and effectiveness of our sales channels,
making our global supply chain more efficient and focusing our
development efforts on higher value product and opportunities.

The first key step we took was to restructure our organization
along geographic lines, as opposed to product lines. We appointed
20-year agribusiness executive Don Panter as Executive Vice
President, Americas and promoted David Callachor to Executive
Vice President, International. As we diversify our crop portfolio
beyond alfalfa, we believe it is important to align our organization
in a way that helps us best identify and address the needs of our
customers in each local market.

In the Americas, we have focused our sales efforts to better
leverage the farmer-dealer network we acquired in the Chromatin
acquisition. We believe we are the only middle-market agricultural
seed company to have such a network. We believe the farmer-dealer
network can be an effective channel not only for sorghum, but
also for our alfalfa products and additional products that we may



add to our crop portfolio. In fiscal 2019, our U.S. sales team began
the process of introducing alfalfa into this network and we expect
to recognize sales benefits for years to come.

In our international markets, we expanded our presence in
the Australian market through the addition of an elite wheat
germplasm portfolio in August 2019. We believe the addition
of a wheat program advances our goal to become a one-stop
supplier of elite genetics to Australian farmers. We expect that
this approach will enable our Australian sales team to solidify key
customer relationships and build brand awareness and loyalty
across our expanding crop portfolio. We also formed production
and distribution relationships with local partners in South Africa to
increase penetration of our sorghum and sunflower products in the
African market.

Our supply chain team continued to streamline our global, but
localized, production capacity to enable us to better deliver region-
specific products at lower cost.

Our R&D group made progress towards our bringing higher value
products and trait technologies to market. In alfalfa, our germplasm
with an enhanced digestibility trait (introduced in collaboration
with Calyxt) is beginning field testing to evaluate how much
more digestible our alfalfa varieties with this trait are compared to
currently available products. In sorghum, our herbicide resistance
trait is performing well in initial field trials. We expect to start large
field trials in the spring of 2020 and are beginning discussions
with potential partners on commercializing this trait. In stevia, we
transferred our breeding activities to the southeast U.S. where we
believe commercial production will ultimately take place. Our large
consumer products partner continues to support the program and
is investing with us to move the program forward.

STRENGTHENED BALANCE SHEET, CORE
REVENUE RAMP AND A LOOK TO THE FUTURE

An important result of the Pioneer alfalfa licensing transaction
is that we have significantly improved our financial position
and strategic flexibility. The $45 million cash infusion allowed
us to completely pay off our US. line of credit. We believe that

our strengthened balance sheet now has a significant amount of
unused borrowing capacity available when a growth opportunity
presents itself.

We also emerged from the Pioneer transaction with a smaller, but
growing, core business. As we transition away from the Pioneer
relationship, we believe that Core Revenue (our revenue excluding
revenue attributable to Pioneer) is an appropriate metric to evaluate
our business. In fiscal 2019, we generated Core Revenue of $38.0
million from our non-Pioneer alfalfa, sorghum and sunflower
operations. This represents a $13.3 million, or 54%, increase from
Core Revenue in fiscal 2018 primarily driven by revenue from the
acquired Chromatin operations and single digit organic growth in
other aspects of our business. This was a trend reversal from the
decreasing organic revenue we experienced in the last few years.

We believe that the increased diversification of our crop portfolio
and customer base, together with our recent operational initiatives,
will make organic growth in our core business sustainable.

OUR 2020 VISION

We continue to believe that an opportunity exists to build a global
agricultural company focused on crop and market opportunities
that large seed companies may overlook, underserve or
ineffectively address.

In this environment, our seed development, production and
distribution platform position us well both to grow our existing
business and to acquire assets that no longer are a strategic fit in
the product portfolios of larger industry players or that smaller
industry players are unable to effectively exploit. If we succeed in
realizing the opportunity before us, we are confident that we can
deliver exceptional value to our customers and strong financial
returns to our shareholders.

Thank you all for your continued support.

%/@ /V\M.v\%%

Mark Harvey Mark Wong
Chairman of the Board Chief Executive Officer



COMPANY FINANCIALS

S&W SEED COMPANY: CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Years ended June 30 2018 2019

Revenue $ 64,085,510 $ 109,722,511
Cost of Revenue

Gross Profit

Operating Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses 10,503,020 17,486,071
Research and development expenses 3,887,723 6,272,758
Depreciation and amortization 3,439,287 4,128,546
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (82,980) (86,222)
Goodwill impairment charges - 11,865,811
Intangible asset impairment charges - 6,034,792
Total Operating Expenses 17,747,050 45,701,756
Loss From Operations (2,993,592) (4,993,735)
Other Expenses
Foreign currency gain (12,584) (99,467)
Change in derivative warrant liabilities (431,300) -
Change in estimated value of assets held for sale - 1,521,855
Reduction of anticipated loss on sub-lease land - (141,373
Interest expense - amortization of debt discount 169,045 340,847
Interest expense - convertible debt and other 1,863,288 2,386,077
Loss Before Income Taxes (4,582,041) (9,501,674)
Provision (benefit) for income tax 143,049 (148747)
Net Loss
Net loss attributed to noncontrolling interests
Net Loss Attributable to S&W Seed Company $ (4,725,090) $ (9,305,242
Net Loss Per Common Share: Basic and Diluted $ (0.21 $ (031
Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding: Basic and Diluted 22,481,491 30,102,158

ITEMIZED RECONCILIATION BETWEEN NET LOSS AND NON-GAAP ADJUSTED EBITDA (UNAUDITED)
Years ended June 30 2018 2019

Net loss attributable to S&W Seed Company $(4,725,090) $(9,305,242)
Non-recurring transaction costs 66,160 1,196,476
Restructuring charges - 202,243
Non-cash stock based compensation 748,516 694,610
Depreciation and amortization 3,439,287 4,128,546
Goodwill impairment charges - 11,865,811
Intangible asset impairment charges - 6,034,792
Foreign currency gain (12,584) (99,467)
Change in derivative warrant liabilities (431,300) -
Change in estimated value of assets held for sale - 1,521,855
Reduction of anticipated loss on sub-lease land - (141,373)
Interest expense — amortization of debt discount 169,045 340,847
Interest expense 1,863,288 2,886,077
Provision from income taxes 143,049 (148,747)

Non-GAAP Adjusted EBITDA $ 126037 $ 19,176,428

Non-GAAP Measurements: This document includes certain financial information that constitutes “non-GAAP financial measures” as defined by the SEC. A full reconciliation of the non-GAAP measures to
GAAP can be found in the tables above. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are supplemental to results presented under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and
may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. These non-GAAP measures are used by management to facilitate period-to-period comparisons and analysis of S&W's
operating performance and liquidity. Management believes these non-GAAP measures are useful to investors in trending, analyzing and benchmarking the performance and value of S&W'’s business. These
non-GAAP measures should be considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for, other similar measures reported in accordance with GAAP.

REVENUE ADJUSTED EBITDA GROSS MARGIN
$100 ;
$20 $19.2M _—
. $641M 515 25
$60 20%
$10
$40
- $5 10%
$1.3M
$0 $0 0%
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements other than statements of historical fact could be deemed forward-
looking statements, including, but not limited to: any projections of revenue, margins, expenses, tax provisions,
earnings, cash flows and other financial items; any statements of the plans, strategies and objectives of management
for future operations; any statements regarding our ability to raise capital in the future; any statements concerning
expected development, performance or market acceptance relating to our products or services or our ability to
expand our grower or customer bases or to diversify our product offerings; any statements regarding future
economic conditions or performance; any statements of expectation or belief; any statements regarding our ability to
retain key employees; and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. These forward-looking
statements are often identified by the use of words such as, but not limited to, “anticipate,” “believe,” “can,”
“continue,” “could,” “estimate,” ” ” “will,” “plan,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “target,”

EENT3

expect,” “intend,” “may,
“will,” “would,” and similar expressions or variations intended to identify forward-looking statements. We have
based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations about future events. Such forward-looking
statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other important factors, including certain assumptions, that, if they
never materialize or prove incorrect, could cause our actual results and the timing of certain events to differ
materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Risks, uncertainties and
assumptions include the following:

o changes in demand for our alfalfa, sorghum, sunflower and stevia products;

° our plans for expansion of our business (including through acquisitions) and our ability to successfully
integrate acquisitions into our operations;

° whether we continue to invest in research and development and whether such investment results in trait
improvement across our crop categories;

° the continued ability of our distributors and suppliers to have access to sufficient liquidity to fund their
operations;

° market trends and other factors affecting our financial condition or results of operations from period to period;

° the impact of crop disease, severe weather conditions, such as flooding, or natural disasters, such as

carthquakes, on crop quality and yields and on our ability to grow, procure or export our products;

o the impact of pricing of other crops that may be influence what crops our growers elect to plant;

° whether we are successful in aligning expense levels to revenue changes;

° whether we are successful in monetizing our stevia business;

° the cost and other implications of pending or future legislation or court decisions and pending or future

accounting pronouncements; and

° other risks that are described herein including but not limited to the items discussed in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk
Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and that are otherwise described or updated from time to time
in our filings with the SEC.

You are urged to carefully review the disclosures made concerning risks and uncertainties that may affect our
business or operating results, which include, among others, those listed in “Risk Factors” below.



Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot
guarantee future results, level of activity, performance or achievements. Many factors discussed in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, some of which are beyond our control, will be important in determining our future
performance. Consequently, these statements are inherently uncertain and actual results may differ materially from
those that might be anticipated from the forward-looking statements. In light of these and other uncertainties, you
should not regard the inclusion of a forward-looking statement in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as a
representation by us that our plans and objectives will be achieved, and you should not place undue reliance on such
forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements included herein are expressly qualified in their entirety
by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section. Furthermore, such forward-looking statements
represent our views as of, and speak only as of, the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and such statements
should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially
available relevant information. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, or to
update the reasons why actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.

When used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” “the Company,” “S&W” and “S&W
Seed” refer to S&W Seed Company and its subsidiaries or, as the context may require, S&W Seed Company only.
Our fiscal year ends on June 30, and accordingly, the terms “fiscal 2019,” “fiscal 2018 and “fiscal 2017 in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K refer to the respective fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively,
with corresponding meanings to any fiscal year reference beyond such dates. Trademarks, service marks and trade
names of other companies appearing in this report are the property of their respective holders.



PART I

Item 1. Business
Overview

We are a global multi-crop, middle-market agricultural company. We are market leaders in the breeding, production
and sale of alfalfa seed and sorghum seed. We also have a growing commercial market presence in sunflower and
maintain an active stevia development program.

Our seed platform develops and supplies high quality germplasm designed to produce higher yields for farmers
worldwide. We produce approximately 250 seed products in the Western United States, Canada, Australia, Europe
and South Africa for sale in more than 30 countries. We maintain an active product pipeline and expect to introduce
more than 20 new products during the 2020-2022 fiscal years.

Founded in 1980, we began our operations as a limited producer of non-dormant alfalfa seed varieties bred for warm
climates and high-yields, including varieties that can thrive in poor, saline soils. Over the years we have built a
diversified, global agricultural platform through a combination of organic growth and strategic acquisitions,
including:

° Our 2012 acquisition of Imperial Valley Seeds, Inc., which enabled us to expand production of non-GMO
alfalfa seed into California's Imperial Valley, thereby ensuring a non-GMO uncontaminated source of alfalfa
seed due to the prohibition on growing GMO crops in the Imperial Valley, as well as enabling us to diversify
our production areas and distribution channels;

° Our 2012 acquisition of a portfolio of dormant alfalfa germplasm, which launched our entry into the dormant
alfalfa market;

° Our 2013 acquisition of Seed Genetics International Pty Ltd (now S&W Seed Company Australia Pty Ltd),
the leading producer of non-dormant alfalfa seed in South Australia, which made us the largest non-dormant
alfalfa seed company in the world, with production capabilities in both hemispheres;

o Our 2014 acquisition of alfalfa production and research facility assets and conventional (non-GMO) alfalfa
germplasm from Pioneer (“Pioneer”), which substantially broadened and improved our dormant alfalfa
germplasm portfolio and deepened our production, research and product development capabilities;

° Our 2016 acquisition of the business and assets of SV Genetics Pty Ltd, a developer of proprietary hybrid
sorghum and sunflower seed germplasm, which expanded our crop focus into two areas which we believe
have high global growth potential;

° Our 2018 acquisition of the assets of Chromatin, Inc. and related companies, which positioned us to become a
global leader in the hybrid sorghum seed market and enhanced our distribution channels both internationally
and within a U.S.-based farmer-dealer network; and

o Our 2018 joint venture with AGT Foods Africa Proprietary Limited (AGT) based in South Africa named
SeedVision Proprictary Limited (SeedVision). SeedVision will leverage AGT's African-based production and
processing facilities to produce S&W's hybrid sunflower, grain sorghum, and forage sorghum to be sold by
SeedVision in the African continent, Middle East countries, and Europe.

Our Strategy

The global agriculture market is experiencing rapid change driven by population growth, environmental challenges,
limited availability of arable land, diverse regulatory requirements and evolving consumer demands. As a result,
farmers and other industry participants face ongoing pressure to cost-effectively increase productivity and output.
These factors and others have led to strategic realignments and significant consolidation in the seed industry, leaving
a small number of large players.

We believe this environment presents an opportunity to build a global agricultural company focused on crop and
market opportunities that large seed companies may overlook, underserve or ineffectively address.



We believe our core strengths listed below position us to capitalize on this market opportunity:

Strong Germplasm Asset Base and Development Capabilities. We believe we have the largest and most
diversified alfalfa and sorghum germplasm pool in the world. Our germplasm pool offers traits sought by
farmers who grow forage hay, forage sorghum and grain sorghum, including high yield, drought tolerance and
disease tolerance. We continue to invest in research and development programs in the United States, Australia,
Europe and South America with an emphasis on driving trait improvement across all of our crop categories.

Cost-Efficient Global Supply Chain. We produce seed in the Western United States, Canada, Australia,
Europe and South Africa under contract with select third-party growers. We currently maintain more than 140
grower relationships, many of which are longstanding. Our global, but localized, production capabilities allow
us to produce seed close to the customer to ensure the seed product is developed specifically for the conditions
and requirements of that customer’s region and produced at low cost. We condition and package seed
primarily in our own facilities located in California, Idaho, Texas and Australia. We believe that direct
ownership of our production facility assets gives us more flexibility to react to demand changes unique to each
geography, greater control over product quality and a lower cost structure.

Global Distribution Capabilities and Relationships. We sell our seed through one of the industry’s largest
networks of distributors and dealers, reaching more than 30 countries. Our recent acquisition of the Chromatin
farmer-dealer network added a new element to our United States distribution capabilities that we believe can
support sales growth across crop categories.

Deep Industry Expertise. We believe that our management team has deep industry experience and a
demonstrated record of success that is unmatched for a seed industry company of our size. Our leadership
team includes both proven industry executives recruited to our company and top talent retained through our
various acquisitions. Mark Wong, our Chief Executive Officer, has over 40 years senior executive experience
in the agriculture industry and has successfully built, operated, and sold multiple seed companies to industry
leaders across multiple crops, including sorghum, corn, soybeans, and vegetables.

Our goal is to be a leading multi-crop, middle-market agricultural company; delivering value to our customers and
strong financial returns to our shareholders. To reach our goal, we have prioritized the following strategic
initiatives:

Develop and Launch New Products that Address Unmet Market Needs. We expect to introduce more than 20
new products during the 2020-2022 fiscal years across our current crop offerings. We also plan to continue
development activities aimed to generate high-value, improved traits in our crops. These activities include our
collaboration with Calyxt, Inc. to apply next generation gene-editing technology to our elite alfalfa seed
genetics and our own efforts to bring to market sorghum seed that incorporates our proprietary, patent-pending
herbicide tolerant trait.

Build Our Multi-Channel Distribution Network and Execute on International Cross-Selling Opportunities.
We recently realigned our organization across geographic lines (as opposed to product lines), which has
renewed our sales focus. We expect this approach will help us make the best use of recently acquired
distribution assets like the United States farmer-dealer network acquired from Chromatin and unlock potential
sales synergies through international cross-selling of products (particularly in Europe and Australia). We
believe that a more robust, diverse distribution network will allow us to continue to evolve beyond our
historical dependence on certain geographical markets which carry higher political, regulatory and economic
risks.

Exploit International Production Capability for Best-In Class Cost Structure. Our streamlined international
supply chain provides us with flexibility in sourcing product to meet customer needs. We are focused on
exploiting this ability to shift production to low-cost areas to both support our competitive position and
improve our margins.



° Commercialize Stevia. We believe that an opportunity exists to bring to market new stevia varieties that can
both meet taste requirements of consumers and have yield quality that would enable farmers to profitably
grow stevia in North and South America. We plan to leverage our proprietary stevia germplasm to form
collaborations and commercial agreements with supply chain partners to create a U.S.-based stevia production
industry for high-quality stevia sweetener with superior taste profiles to supply major customers in the U.S.
market.

° Expand Crop Offerings and Market Share of Existing Offerings Through Strategic Acquisitions. We expect
that ongoing consolidation and realignment in the seed industry will present opportunities for us to acquire
assets that no longer are a strategic fit in the product portfolios of larger industry players or that smaller
industry players are unable to effectively exploit. We believe that our production and distribution platforms
position us to more fully realize the potential of these types of assets. Moreover, we have a proven track
record of successfully acquiring and integrating diverse operations into our seed platform and rebalancing our
product portfolio. We intend to emphasize disciplined capital and resource allocation, with a strong focus on
return on invested capital and evaluating opportunities to expand our crop offerings or increase our share of
existing crop markets.

Our Current Crops
Alfalfa
The Alfalfa Market

Alfalfa seed is primarily used for growing alfalfa hay, which is grown throughout the world as “forage” for
livestock, including dairy and beef cattle, horses and sheep. It is most often harvested as hay, but can also be made
into silage, grazed or fed as green-chop to ruminant livestock. The alfalfa industry (and therefore the alfalfa seed
industry) is highly dependent on the dairy industry, which is the largest consumer of alfalfa hay. As markets around
the world continue to expand to a more westernized diet with high-protein consumption, the demands for alfalfa
production around the world should continue to increase.

Alfalfa is indigenous to the Middle East where it is considered a “non-dormant” plant, meaning it grows year-round.
“Dormant” varieties of alfalfa have adapted to cold climates by going dormant during periods when frost or snow
conditions would otherwise kill them. Dormancy is rated using a numerical system under which “dormant” varieties
are rated toward the lower end of a 1 through 11 scale, such as 2 through 4, while “non-dormant” varieties are rated
toward the upper end of the scale, such as 8 through 11. The number typically identifies the number of cuttings that
a farmer might be able to obtain each year.

While exact production estimates worldwide are difficult to obtain, we estimate that approximately 150 million
pounds of alfalfa seed are produced worldwide each year, roughly divided evenly between non-dormant and
dormant production.

S&W'’s Alfalfa Seed Portfolio

Our current portfolio of over 200 commercialized alfalfa seed products spans both non-dormant and dormant
categories. Our specialty is high-yield alfalfa varieties with a wide range of adaptation across many growing
environments. Our alfalfa seed products include varieties that, depending upon the particular variety, exhibit the
traits that forage hay farmers most value, such as high yield, root rot resistance, lodging resistance, salt tolerance,
drought tolerance, leathopper resistance and stem nematode resistance.

Our non-dormant breeding program is focused on maximizing yield regardless of soil and water salinity.

Although we recently licensed certain of our commercial dormant alfalfa varieties to Corteva Agriscience, Inc.
(“Corteva”) on an exclusive basis, we maintained our highest performing dormant alfalfa varieties as well as our
dormant alfalfa breeding program and are continuing the development of the next-generation varieties from that
germplasm. Our dormant alfalfa breeding emphasizes high yield and forage quality, developing hardy alfalfa
varieties that are resistant to disease and stress.



Europe, the Middle East, Australia and certain other parts of the world currently prohibit the sale of genetically
modified organism (GMO) alfalfa. Historically, we have not employed genetic engineering in the breeding of our
current commercial alfalfa seed varieties, so that we have products that can be sold throughout the world. More
recently, we have expanded our research and development efforts beyond our classically-bred proprietary alfalfa
seed breeding program. One result of these efforts was our recent commercial release of a Roundup Ready® alfalfa
variety incorporating a herbicide resistance trait (under license from Forage Genetics International) into our
proprietary germplasm. We also are collaborating with Calyxt, Inc. to research, develop, produce and commercialize
alfalfa seed products involving next generation gene-editing technology. The goal of this collaboration is to create
novel traits that are currently classified as non-GMO, which ultimately can be incorporated into our seed varieties.
While we believe this relationship is beginning to deliver meaningful product developments, we do not anticipate a
meaningful contribution to our revenue before fiscal year 2022, if at all.

Sorghum Seed
The Sorghum Market

Sorghum comes in two types, forage and grain, and is considered one of the indispensable crops in the world. It has
traditionally been used for livestock feed, as well as ethanol, but is gaining increasingly in popularity in food
products in the U.S. due to its gluten-free characteristics, as well as its antioxidant, high protein, lower fat, high fiber
and non-GMO properties. Consequently, grain sorghum is becoming a desired substitute for wheat, rye and barley.
Additionally, the pet food industry increasingly utilizes grain sorghum for its nutritional benefits and enhanced
digestibility.

Similar to alfalfa, sorghum grows well in poor soil and drought conditions, thanks to its hardiness, market versatility
and high-quality seed. Sorghum requires less water to grow than many other crops and is generally used as a
replacement for corn and other grains in areas where water is scarce. In Africa, sorghum can be a food staple for
human consumption. The majority of the world’s sorghum is grown in developing countries, primarily in Africa and
Asia

The U.S. Department of Agriculture (the “USDA”) projects that world grain sorghum production for 2019/2020 will
be approximately 59 million metric tons based on 41.5 million hectares of production. The USDA further projects
the 2019/2020 U.S. sorghum crop to encompass 6 million acres (2.4 million hectares) with total production of 375
million bushels of grain sorghum (9.5 million metric tons).

S&W'’s Sorghum Portfolio

Our current portfolio of approximately 50 commercialized sorghum seed products includes both forage and grain
sorghum. We believe that our sorghum hybrids are unmatched and consistently out-yield competitor products in
select markets.

Our sorghum portfolio and development platform was created through the acquisition of assets from Chromatin, SV
Genetics and NexSteppe, Inc. and represents the cumulative, long-term development investments made in each of
those programs. We are continuing those development and commercialization efforts.

We plan to commercially launch approximately seven new sorghum products during the fiscal years 2020-2022,
including new Sugarcane Aphid tolerant hybrids to address a significant market need. We also are moving forward
to validate and produce launch seed of sorghum hybrids, incorporating our patent-pending herbicide tolerant trait
that was developed in cooperation with the United Sorghum Checkoff Program of the U.S. Department of
Agriculture.



Sunflower
The Sunflower Market

Sunflowers have multiple specialty uses including oil, birdseed and human consumption. Our current sunflower seed
focus is on the oil market. Sunflower oil is light in taste and appearance and supplies more Vitamin E than any other
vegetable oil. It is a combination of monounsaturated and polyunsaturated fats with low saturated fat levels. The
versatility of this healthy oil is recognized by cooks internationally, valued for its frying performance and health
benefits. With multiple types of sunflower oils available, it meets the needs of consumer and food manufacturers
alike for a healthy and high performance non-transgenic vegetable oil. Additionally, sunflower is being sought after
as a source of non-GMO oils. USDA projects global sunflower seed production for 2019/2020 at 49.9 million tons,
up 5 percent from 2018/2019. The sunflower seed oil trade is forecasted to rise, supported by demand in India, the
EU, North Africa, and the Middle East.

S&W'’s Sunflower Portfolio

We currently have three high-yield sunflower hybrids in the market. We have research and development programs in
Australia and Europe to expand our market presence. Our sunflower program is focused on developing elite disease
resistance sunflower seed hybrids. We partner with leading companies around world to develop herbicide resistant
characteristics, specific oil profiles, both polyunsaturated and linoleic, and maximize yield potential for different
growing conditions around the world

Stevia
Stevia and the Sweetener Industry

Stevia is a relative newcomer in the estimated over $100 billion global sweetener market. Stevia is a part of the
high-intensity sweetener (HIS) market, also known as the non-caloric sweetener market, which is a $2.4 billion
segment of the overall market. Although the overall market is still dominated by sugar, sugar substitutes continue to
increase in market share as consumer concern over sugar intake increases. The global obesity and diabetes epidemic
is expected to drive growth of products like stevia, supported by sugar taxes, which have become prevalent in
developed economies. Stevia leaf and its refined products constitute a natural, non-caloric high intensity sweetener,
estimated to be 200 to 300 times sweeter than sugar. Its taste has a slower onset and longer duration than that of
sugar. It has the advantage of not breaking down with heat, making it more stable for cooking than other sugar
alternatives. In the U.S., approximately 70% of all new products formulated with stevia are beverages, with the
remainder split between diverse categories, including dairy products and baked goods.

The stevia plant is indigenous to the rain forests of Paraguay and has been used as a sweetener in its raw,
unprocessed form for hundreds of years. In recent years, it has been grown commercially in Brazil, Paraguay,
Uruguay, parts of Central America, Thailand, China and the U.S. Currently, the majority of global commercial
stevia production occurs in China.

The incorporation of stevia-derived extracts into foods and beverages in the U.S. has seen a rapid increase since the
beginning of 2009, when stevia was first introduced as a sweetener alternative to sugar and approved by the FDA as
generally regarded as safe. Within the high impact sweetener category, stevia represented a $423 million market in
2014. Beverages account for 50% of the stevia extract market in 2016, and major soft drink producers have active
programs to further develop the use of stevia in soda. Based on IHS Market projections, from 2016-2021, stevia is
expected to grow at 8.1% year-year, with higher growth rates predicted for Europe. While sales of artificial
sweeteners, such as aspartame, acesulfame K and sucralose still dominate the high-intensity sweetener market,
consumer demand for artificial sweeteners has seen a decline since the introduction of stevia.

S&W'’s Stevia Program

The majority of the global stevia supply is produced in Asia, as current varieties lack adaptive characteristics that
would permit farmers to profitably grow them in other global agricultural regions. We believe that there will be
significant future demand for U.S.-produced stevia. Since 2009, we have dedicated significant research and
development assets toward developing stevia into a U.S.-grown crop. We have employed advanced plant breeding
and chemical analysis techniques to identify and select varieties that can address this potential market. In early 2019,



we opened a dedicated stevia field breeding station in Tifton, GA to further support the breeding effort and select
new varieties adapted to the Southeast growing regions targeted for initial cultivation of stevia in the United States.

Since its inception, our stevia breeding program has generated four patented varieties, and we are working closely
with potential supply chain collaborators and customers to develop more advanced varieties that can both meet taste
requirements of consumers and have field performance that would enable farmers to profitably grow stevia in the
United States.

We plan to leverage our proprietary stevia germplasm to form collaborations and commercial agreements with
supply chain partners to create a U.S.-based stevia production industry for high-quality stevia sweetener with
superior taste profiles to supply major customers in the U.S. market.

Product Development

We conduct our breeding and development programs in the United States, Australia, Europe and South
America.

Our breeding programs are designed to make steady genetic improvements in our germplasm base, which we use to
create better-performing varieties and hybrids for our customers. Development of a typical new variety or hybrid can
take as little as five years or as long as 18 years, depending on methodology and the desired agronomic traits.
Because of the many years required to develop a new variety or hybrid, we believe our successful breeding program
allows us to offer seed varieties or hybrids incorporating a combination of characteristics desired by farmers that are
not available from any other source, thereby providing us with a competitive advantage.

We also plan to continue development activities aimed at generating high-value improved traits in our crops. With
this objective in mind, we are collaborating, and continue to look for opportunities to collaborate, with other
companies that have technologies that we believe complement our proprietary products and/or our research and
development breeding expertise to develop currently unavailable specialized seed products.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution

We currently sell approximately 250 seed products in more than 30 countries. Our principal markets for alfalfa sales
are the United States, Canada, Mexico, South America, the Middle East, North Africa, and Australia. Our sorghum
sales are focused in the United States, Mexico, Australia, Europe and South Africa. Our sunflower sales are
primarily in Europe, Asia and Australia.

We primarily sell our seed products under the S&W brand or other brands we own, such as Sorghum Partners®. To
a limited extent, we also sell some seed under private-label arrangements with distributors.

Our customers are primarily distributors and dealers. Our distributors and dealers, in turn, sell to farmers. We
believe that selling through dealers and distributors enables our products to reach growers in areas where there are
geographic or other constraints on direct sales efforts. We select dealers and distributors based on shared vision,
technical expertise, local market knowledge and financial stability. Over the years, we have built dealer/distributor
loyalty through an emphasis on service, access to breeders, ongoing training and promotional material support. We
limit the number of dealers and distributors with whom we have relationships in any particular area in order to
provide adequate support and opportunity to those with whom we choose to do business.

Our acquisition of Chromatin significantly expanded our retail and farmer-dealer network across the plains and
Midwest of United States to provide us an expanded sales channel for our products.

Both farmers and dealers use pest-control advisors who recommend the varieties or hybrids that will produce the
best results in a particular location. Therefore, a key part of our marketing strategy is to educate the consultants, as
well as the farmers, as to benefits of our seed varieties and hybrids.



We believe that our best marketing tool is the dissemination of information regarding the quality and characteristics
of our propriety seed products to those persons who make the growing decisions. We continue to place
advertisements in trade journals, agriculture publications, social media and participate in seed industry conferences
and trade shows and engage in various other educational and outreach programs as we deem appropriate.

Most of our international marketing efforts are accomplished through face-to-face meetings with our existing and
potential customers and their end users. In addition, we participate in international trade shows to boost our
international presence and sales efforts.

In fiscal 2019, sales to domestic customers increased as a percentage of our total sales, primarily as a result of
entering into a license agreement with Corteva which generated license revenue of $34.2 million. Sales into
international markets accounted for 20% in fiscal 2019 versus 35% in fiscal 2018. We recently terminated our
alfalfa distribution agreement with Corteva and entered into a prepaid license agreement with Corteva in fiscal 2019.
As a result, we anticipate that international sales will increase as a percentage of our total sales in fiscal 2020.

We recently realigned our organization across geographic lines (as opposed to product lines), which has renewed our
sales focus. We expect this approach will help us make the best use of recently acquired distribution assets like the
U.S. farmer-dealer network acquired from Chromatin and exploit potential sales synergies through international
cross-selling of products (particularly in Europe and Australia). We believe that a more robust, diverse distribution
network will allow us to continue to evolve beyond our historical dependence on certain geographical markets
which carry higher political, regulatory, and economic risks.

Seed Production
Global Production

We produce seed in the United States, Canada, Australia, Europe and South Africa under contract with select third-
party contract growers. We currently maintain over 140 grower relationships. Our network of growers has the
expertise needed to successfully grow high quality seed products. We have worked with many of the same growers
on a long-term basis, and we believe that we have strong relationships with them. We allocate our seed production
among our growers so that we can purchase the proper mix of seed each year. Our contracts with growers have
terms ranging from one to seven years, depending on the crop and the production area. Our global, but localized,
production capabilities allow us to produce close to the customer to ensure the seed product is developed specifically
for the conditions and requirements of that region and is produced at the lowest cost.

We condition and package seed primarily in our own facilities located in California, Idaho, Texas and Australia;
although in some markets (for example, Australia) we use third-party processing services. We believe that direct
ownership of production facility assets gives us more flexibility to react to demand changes unique to each
geography, greater control over product quality and a lower cost structure.

S&W Australia Production

S&W Australia has contracts with growers in Western Victoria, South Australia and New South Wales to grow its
alfalfa seed. In the Southern Hemisphere, alfalfa seed is grown counter seasonally to the Northern Hemisphere and
is harvested annually, in March through early May.

Under its current form of alfalfa seed production agreement, S&W Australia provides foundation seed to each
grower and grants each grower a license to use its seed for the purpose of production of seed for sale to S&W
Australia. Each grower is responsible for all costs of the crop production. Title in the produced seed passes to S&W
Australia upon it being certified compliant; and, if the seed is not compliant, title will only pass to S&W Australia
upon S&W Australia’s further agreement to purchase the non-compliant seed. S&W Australia uses a staggered
payment system with the growers of its alfalfa and white clover seed, and the payment amounts are based upon an
estimated budget price (“EBP”) for compliant seed. EBP is a forecast of the final price that S&W Australia believes
will be achieved taking into account prevailing and predicted market conditions at the time the estimate is made.
Following the grower’s delivery of uncleaned seed to a milling facility, S&W Australia typically pays 40% of the



EBP to the grower based on a percentage of the pre-cleaning weight. Following this initial payment and prior to the
final payment, S&W Australia will make a series of scheduled progress payments and, if applicable, a bonus
payment for “first grade” (high quality) alfalfa seed. The final price payable to each grower (and therefore the total
price) is dependent upon and subject to adjustment based upon the clean weight of the seed grown, on the average
price at which S&W Australia sells the pooled seed and other costs incurred by S&W Australia. Accordingly, the
total price paid by S&W Australia to its grower may be more or less than the EBP. S&W Australia’s seed
production agreements for alfalfa provide for an initial term of seven years and an optional renewal term of three
years. S&W Australia’s seed production agreements for white clover provide for an initial term of two years and an
optional renewal term of one year. Historically, S&W Australia has not required its growers to harvest seed in every
year under the seed production agreement. Some growers have elected to have non-harvest years, and their alfalfa is
cut for hay or used for grazing instead of being harvested for seed production.

Seasonality

We contract with growers based upon our anticipated market demand; we mill, clean and stock the seed during the
harvest season and ship from inventory throughout the year. However, our seed business is seasonal. In the
Northern hemisphere, production and harvest occurs from March through September and processing and shipping
finished goods primarily occurs from July through February. In the Southern hemisphere, production and harvest
occurs from October through March and processing and shipping primarily occurs from March through August.

Proprietary Rights

Ownership of and access to intellectual property rights are important to us. We sell proprietary seed varieties and
hybrids that have been specially selected to manifest the traits we deem best suited to particular regions in which our
seed is planted. Our ability to compete effectively is dependent upon the proprietary nature of the seeds, seedlings,
processes, technologies and materials owned by or used by us or our growers. If any competitors independently
develop any technologies that substantially equal or surpass our process technology, it will adversely affect our
competitive position.

In some cases, we obtain patent protection or plant breeder rights registrations for certain of our seed products.
However, our principal method of guarding our proprietary varieties and hybrids is exercising a high degree of
control over the supply chain. As part of this control process, we require our growers to deliver back to us all seed
derived from our proprietary varieties and, in the case, of hybrids, limit supply of parent seed that enables hybrid
production. Historically, we have found that these control mechanisms have been an effective means to protect our
proprietary seed. However, because we often do not have more formal proprietary rights protections, it would be
possible for persons with access to our seed or plants grown from our seed to potentially reproduce proprietary seed,
which could significantly harm our business and our reputation.

Competition

Competition in the seed industry both domestically and internationally is intense, and we believe it is intensifying
with industry consolidation. We face direct competition by other seed companies, including multinational
agriculture companies, regional seed companies and small family-owned businesses, as well as subsidiaries or other
affiliates of chemical, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, many of which have substantially greater
resources than we do.

We believe that the key competitive drivers in the industry are proven performance, customer support in the field
and value, which takes into account not simply the price of the seed but also yield in the field.

In the U.S. market, our principal competitors in our alfalfa seed business are Forage Genetics International (a
subsidiary of Land O’ Lakes, Inc.), Pioneer and Alforex Seeds (subsidiaries of Corteva), and Pacific International
Seed Company, Inc. In addition, S&W Seed Company Australia Pty Ltd (“S&W Australia”), our wholly owned
Australian subsidiary, faces regional competitors in the proprietary alfalfa seed market such as Heritage Seeds Pty.
Ltd., PGG Wrightson Seeds Ltd, Naracoorte Seeds Pty. Ltd., and Pasture Genetics Pty Ltd (formerly Seed
Distributors Pty. Ltd.). Various other minor companies compete with S&W Australia through sales of Siriver, a
common alfalfa variety. S&W Australia also faces competition from lower value alfalfa seed produced in the
European Union and, to a lesser extent, Argentina.
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Our principal competitors in sorghum are Pioneer, DeKalb (a subsidiary of Bayer), Advanta, Nuseed, and Heritage
Seeds Pty. Ltd.

Our principal competitors in sunflower are Pioneer, Nuseed, Dyna-Gro Seed (a subsidiary of Nutrien Ag Solutions),
Syngenta AG, Advanta, Limagrain, and KWS SAAT SE & Co.

Many of our existing and potential competitors have substantially greater research and product development
capabilities and financial, marketing and human resources than we do. As a result, these competitors may:

° succeed in developing products that are equal to or superior to our products or potential products or that
achieve greater market acceptance than our products or potential products;

° devote greater resources to developing, marketing or selling their products;

° respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies or scientific advances and changes in customer
requirements, which could render our products or potential products obsolete or less preferable;

o obtain patents that block or otherwise inhibit our ability to develop and commercialize potential products we
might otherwise develop;

° withstand price competition more successfully than we can;

° establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties that enhance their ability to address
the needs of our customers or prospective customers; and

° take advantage of acquisition or other opportunities more readily than we can.

Environmental and Regulatory Matters

Our agricultural operations are subject to a broad range of evolving environmental laws and regulations applicable
to the markets in which we operate. These environmental laws and regulations are intended to address concerns
related to air quality, storm water discharge and management and disposal of agricultural chemicals relating to seed
treatment.

Compliance with these laws and related regulations is an ongoing process that does not, and is not expected to, have
a material effect on our capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position. Environmental concerns are,
however, inherent in most major agricultural operations, including those conducted by us, and there can be no
assurance that the cost of compliance with environmental laws and regulations will not be material. Moreover, it is
possible that future developments, such as increasingly strict environmental laws and enforcement policies
thereunder, and further restrictions on the use of agricultural chemicals, could result in increased compliance costs.

We also are subject to various laws and regulations relating to the transport, export/import and sale of seed
applicable in the markets in which operate.

Internationally, we are subject to various government laws and regulations (including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act and similar non-U.S. laws and regulations) and local government regulations. To help ensure
compliance with these laws and regulations, we have adopted specific risk management and compliance practices
and policies, including a specific policy addressing the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.

Research and Development

R&D for the year ended June 30, 2019 totaled $6.3 million compared to $3.9 million in the year ended June 30,
2018.
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Employees

As of September 18, 2019, we had 126 total employees, of which 122 were full-time employees. We also retain
consultants for specific purposes when the need arises. None of our employees are represented by a labor union. We
consider our relations with our employees to be good.

Corporate History

From 1980 until 2009, our business was operated as a general partnership. We bought out the former partners
beginning in June 2008, incorporated in October 2009 in Delaware, and completed the buyout of the general
partners in May 2010. We reincorporated in Nevada in December 2011.

In April 2013, we, together with our wholly-owned subsidiary, S&W Holdings Australia Pty Ltd, an Australia
corporation (f/k/a S&W Seed Australia Pty Ltd “S&W Holdings”), consummated an acquisition of all of the issued
and outstanding shares of Seed Genetics International Pty Ltd, an Australia corporation (“SGI”), from SGI’s
shareholders. In April 2018, SGI changed its name to S&W Seed Company Australia Pty Ltd (“S&W Australia”).

Our Contact Information

Our principal business office is located at 106 K Street, Suite 300, Sacramento, CA 95814, and our telephone
number is (559) 884-2535. Our website address is www.swseedco.com. Information contained on our website or any
other website does not constitute part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the inclusion of our website address
in this report is an inactive textual reference only.

Item 1A.  Risk Factors
Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry

Our earnings can be negatively impacted by declining demand brought on by varying factors, many of which are
out of our control.

Demand for our seed depends upon a variety of factors, including end demand for the crops grown from the seed.
For example, a severe downturn in the dairy industry, could have a negative effect on sales of alfalfa hay, and as a
result, the demand for our alfalfa seed in the U.S. market. In addition, demand for our products could decline
because of other supply and quality issues or for any other reason, including products of competitors that might be
considered superior by end users. A decline in demand for our products could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our earnings may also be sensitive to fluctuations in market prices for seed.

Market prices for our seed can be impacted by factors such as the quality of the seed and the available supply,
including whether lower-quality, lower-priced seed is available. Growing conditions, particularly weather conditions
such as windstorms, floods, droughts and freezes, as well as diseases and pests and the adventitious presence of
GMO, are primary factors influencing the quality and quantity of the seed and, therefore, the market price at which
we can sell our seed to our customers. A decrease in the prices received for our products could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our earnings are vulnerable to cost increases.

Future increase in costs, such as the costs of growing seed, could cause our margins and earnings to decline unless
we are able to pass along the increased price of production to our customers. We may not be able to increase the
price of our seed sufficiently to maintain our margins and earnings in the future.
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Our inventory of seed can be adversely affected by the market price being paid for other crops.

Our seed production relies entirely on unaffiliated growers to grow our proprietary seed and to sell it to us at
negotiated prices each year. Growers have a choice of what crops to plant. If a particular crop is paying a materially
higher price than has been paid in the past, growers may decide to not grow our seed crops in favor of receiving a
higher return from an alternative crop planted on the same acreage. If our growers decline to a significant degree to
plant the acreage on which we rely, and if we cannot find other growers to plant the lost acreage, our inventory of
seed could be insufficient to satisfy the needs of our customers unless we are able to procure the necessary
additional seed in the market at prices we cannot control. If these circumstances occur, our business, results of
operations and financial condition could materially decline. In addition, our customers could look to other suppliers
for their seed if we cannot satisfy their requirements, and we may not be able to regain them as customers once our
inventory levels have returned to normal.

Adverse weather conditions, natural disasters, crop disease, pests and other natural conditions can impose
significant costs and losses on our business.

Our seed crops are vulnerable to adverse weather conditions, including windstorms, floods, drought and temperature
extremes, which are common but difficult to predict. In addition, seed crops are vulnerable to crop disease and to
pests, which may vary in severity and effect, depending on the stage of production at the time of infection or
infestation, the type of treatment applied and climatic conditions. Unfavorable growing conditions can reduce both
crop size and quality. Although we no longer grow any of our seed directly, these factors can still impact us by
potentially decreasing the quality and yields of our seed and reducing our available inventory. These factors can
increase costs, decrease revenue and lead to additional charges to earnings, which may have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Because our seed business is highly seasonal, our revenue, cash flows from operations and operating results may
fluctuate on a seasonal and quarterly basis.

Our seed business is seasonal. The seasonal nature of our operations results in significant fluctuations in our
working capital during the growing and selling cycles. We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience,
significant variability in net sales, operating cash flows and net income (loss) on a quarterly basis.

We have had a material concentration of revenue from a small group of customers that fluctuates, and the loss of
any of these customers in any quarter could have a material adverse effect on our revenue.

On a historical basis, we have experienced a material concentration of revenue from a small group of customers.
This concentration fluctuates from quarter to quarter, depending on our customer's specific requirements, which are
themselves cyclical. However, in any particular quarter, we generally have a small group of customers that accounts
for a substantial portion of that quarter’s revenue. Most of these customers are not contractually obligated to
purchase seed from us. The loss of one or more of these customers on a quarterly basis, when taken year over year,
could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial position, results of operations and operating cash
flows. We could also suffer a material adverse effect from any losses arising from a major customer's disputes
regarding shipments, product quality or related matters, or from our inability to collect accounts receivable from any
major customer. There are no assurances that we will be able to maintain our current customer relationships or that
they will continue to purchase our seed in the current projected quantities. Any failure to do so may materially
adversely impact our business.

Because we depend on a core group of significant customers, our sales, cash flows from operations and results of
operations may be negatively affected if our key customers reduce the amount of products they purchase from us.

We rely upon a small group of customers for a large percentage of our net revenue. Although our customer
concentration should decline as our product mix becomes more diverse, we expect that a small number of customers
will continue to account for a substantial portion of our net revenue for the foreseeable future. There is no assurance
that we will be able to maintain the relationships with our major customers or that they will continue to purchase our
seed in the quantities that we expect and rely upon. If we cannot do so, our results of operations could suffer.
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Because we do not grow the seed that we sell, we are completely dependent on our network of contract growers,
and our sales, cash flows from operations and results of operations may be negatively affected if we are unable to
maintain an adequate network of contract growers to supply our seed requirements.

We do not directly grow any of the seed that we sell, and therefore, we are entirely dependent upon our network of
growers. While we have some supply contracts with our growers of up to seven years in duration, many of our
grower contracts cover only one year, which makes us particularly vulnerable to factors beyond our control. Events
such as a shift in pricing caused by an increase in the value of commodity crops other than seed crops, increase in
land prices, unexpected competition or reduced water availability could disrupt our supply chain. Any of these
disruptions could limit the supply of seed that we obtain in any given year, adversely affecting supply and thereby
lowering revenue. Such disruption could also damage our customer relationships and loyalty to us if we cannot
supply the quantity of seed expected by them.

Our ability to contract for sufficient acreage presents challenges.

In order to increase revenue and earnings, we continue to need more production acreage. As we continue to increase
the number of acres under contract and/or to move production into new geographical locations, we face challenges
that can impede our ability to produce as much seed inventory as we have budgeted. For example, when we move
production into new geographical locations, we may find it difficult to identify growers with the expertise to grow
our seed crops, and we may not have sufficient company personnel available in such new locations to provide
production advice on a timely basis. We also face increased competition for conventional seed acreage as the need
for technology acres grows, which is further complicated by the field isolation issue relating to GMO crops that can
reduce the amount of acreage available for conventional alfalfa seed crops. If we are unable to secure the acreage we
need to meet our planned production for the crop year and are unable to purchase seed in the market, our results of
operations could suffer, as would our reputation.

A lack of availability of water in any of our production areas could impact our business.

Adequate quantities and correct timing of the application of water are vital for most agriculture to thrive. Whether
particular farms are experiencing water shortages depends, in large part, on their location. However, continuing
drought conditions can threaten all farmland other than those properties with their own water sources. Foreign or
domestic regulations regarding water usage and rights may also limit the availability of water. Although our current
seed products are not water-intensive crops, the availability or the cost of water is a factor in the planting of the
crops grown from our seed. Moreover, if the farmers and others who purchase our seed to grow crops cannot get an
adequate supply of water, or if the cost of water makes it uneconomical for the farmers to grow the crops, we may
not be able to sell our seed, which could have an adverse impact on our results of operations.

We face intense competition, and our inability to compete effectively for any reason could adversely affect our
business.

Competition in the seed industry both domestically and internationally is intense, and we believe it is intensifying
with industry consolidation. We face direct competition from other seed companies, including multinational
agriculture companies, regional seed companies and small family-owned businesses, as well as subsidiaries or other
affiliates of chemical, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, many of which have substantially greater
resources than we do.

These resources give our competitors greater operating flexibility that, in certain cases, may permit them to respond
better or more quickly to changes in the industry or to introduce new products more quickly and with greater
marketing support. Increased competition could result in lower profit margins, substantial pricing pressure, reduced
market share and lower operating cash flows. Price competition, together with other forms of competition, could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and operating cash flows.
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If we are unable to estimate our customers’ future needs accurately and to match our production to the demand
of our customers, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We sell our seed primarily to dealers and distributors who, in turn, sell primarily to farmers who grow crops from
the seed. Due to the nature of the seed industry, we normally produce seed according to our production plan before
we sell and deliver seed to distributors and dealers. Our dealers and distributors generally make purchasing decisions
for our products based on market prices, economic and weather conditions and other factors that we and our dealers
and distributors may not be able to anticipate accurately in advance. If we fail to accurately estimate the volume and
types of products sought by the end users and otherwise adequately manage production amounts, we may produce
more seed than our dealers and distributors want, resulting in excess inventory levels. It may be difficult for us to
dispose of all of our inventory on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and we may need to record an
impairment charge for a portion of this inventory in subsequent fiscal periods. Any such impairment charge or any
failure to sell inventory on commercially reasonable terms could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial position, results of operations and operating cash flows.

On the other hand, if we underestimate demand, we may not be able to satisfy our dealers and distributors' demand
for seed, and thus damage our customer relations and end-user loyalty. Our failure to estimate end users’ future
needs and to match our production to the demand of our customers may adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our third-party distributors may not effectively distribute our products.

We depend in part on third-party distributors and strategic relationships for the marketing and selling of our
products. We depend on these distributors’ efforts to market our products, yet we are unable to control their efforts
completely. In addition, we are unable to ensure that our distributors comply with all applicable laws regarding the
sale of our products, including the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended. If our
distributors fail to effectively market and sell our products, and in full compliance with applicable laws, our
operating results and business may suffer.

We extend credit to our largest international customer and to certain of our other international customers, which
exposes us to the difficulties of collecting our receivables in foreign jurisdictions if those customers fail to pay us.

Although payment terms for our export seed sales range from prepayment to 90 to 120 days, we extend credit to our
largest international customer, Sorouh, and to other international customers up to 180 days. Sales of our seed to
Sorouh and to other international customers represented a material portion of our revenue in historical periods and
we expect that we will continue to extend credit in connection with future sales. Because these customers are located
in foreign countries, collection efforts, were they to become necessary, could be much more difficult and expensive
than pursuing similar claims in the United States. Moreover, future political and/or economic factors, as well as
future unanticipated trade regulations, could negatively impact our ability to timely collect outstanding receivables
from these important customers. The extension of credit to our international customers exposes us to the risk that our
seed will be delivered but that we may not receive all or a portion of the payment therefor. If these customers are
unable or unwilling to fully pay for the seed they purchase on credit, our results of operations and financial
condition could be materially negatively impacted. Moreover, our internal forecasts on which we make business
decisions throughout the year could be severely compromised, which could, in turn, mean that we spend capital for
operations, investment or otherwise that we would not have spent had we been aware that the customer would not
honor its credit extension obligation.

The future demand for our non-dormant alfalfa seed varieties in Saudi Arabia is uncertain.

Historically, sales of alfalfa seed to customers in Saudi Arabia have represented a significant portion of our revenue.
Regulatory uncertainty in Saudi Arabia surrounding water use restrictions for large forage producers caused
customers in the region to defer purchases and/or reduce inventory carrying levels. The outlook for demand for our
non-dormant alfalfa varieties in Saudi Arabia over the next two to four years continues to be uncertain because of
the potential for water use restrictions and further regulations from the Saudi Arabian government on water usage.
As a result of the continued depressed sales to our customers in Saudi Arabia, we have experienced a material
decline in revenue and earnings. Given the foregoing regulatory uncertainty, there may be a continued depressed
demand from our customers in Saudi Arabia, and, in the absence of sales growth in other regions and other products,
we may experience a further material decline in revenue and earnings.
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Our current reliance on the seed development and production business does not permit us to spread our business
risks among different business segments, and thus a disruption in our seed production or the industry would
harm us more immediately and directly than if we were more diversified.

We currently operate primarily in the alfalfa, sorghum, and sunflower seed business, and we do not expect this to
change materially in the foreseeable future. Without business line diversity, we will not be able to spread the risk of
our operations. Therefore, our business opportunities, revenue and income could be more immediately and directly
affected by disruptions from such things as drought and disease or widespread problems affecting the alfalfa,
sorghum and sunflower markets, payment disruptions and customer rejection of our seed. If there is a disruption as
described above, our revenue and earnings could be reduced, and our business operations might have to be scaled
back.

If we fail to introduce and commercialize new seed products, we may not be able to maintain market share, and
our future sales may be harmed.

The performance of our new seed products may not meet our customers’ expectations, or we may not be able to
introduce and commercialize specific seed varieties and hybrids. Reorder rates are uncertain due to several factors,
many of which are beyond our control. These include changing customer preferences, which could be further
complicated by competitive price pressures, our failure to develop new products to meet the evolving demands of
the end users, the development of higher-demand products by our competitors and general economic conditions. The
process for new products to gain market recognition and acceptance is long and has uncertainties. If we fail to
introduce and commercialize a new seed product that meets the demand of the end user, if our competitors develop
products that are favored by the end users, or if we are unable to produce our existing products in sufficient
quantities, our growth prospects may be materially and adversely affected, and our revenue may decline. In addition,
sales of our new products could replace sales of some of our current similar products, offsetting the benefit of a
successful product introduction.

The presence of GMO alfalfa in Australia or California could impact our sales.

GMO crops currently are prohibited in most of the international markets in which our proprietary seed is currently
sold. There are regions in the United States, including the Pacific Northwest, where even small quantities of GMO
material inadvertently interspersed with conventional (non-GMO) alfalfa seed make the seed undesirable, which
causes customers to look elsewhere for their alfalfa seed requirements. The greater the use of GMO seed in
California and other alfalfa seed growing regions, the greater the risk that the adventitious presence of GMO
material in our seed production will occur due to pollination from hay fields or other seed fields. We regularly test
for the adventitious presence of GMO in our conventional alfalfa seed, and we have seen a slight increase in the
percentage of GMO presence in conventional alfalfa seed over the past several years. Our seed containing GMO
material can only be sold domestically or in other jurisdictions that permit the importation of GMO alfalfa. If we are
unable to isolate our conventional alfalfa seed from inadvertently being contaminated by GMO seed, we may find it
more difficult to sell that seed in our key markets and we may have insufficient quantities of seed to sell
internationally, either of which could materially adversely impact our revenue over time.

The stevia market may not develop as we anticipate, and therefore our continued research and development
activities with respect to stevia may never become profitable to us.

There are a number of challenges to market acceptance of stevia as a natural, non-caloric sweetener. Stevia has its
own unique flavor, which can affect the taste of some foods and beverages. A common complaint about stevia is that
some of its extracts and derivatives have a bitter aftertaste, and its taste does not uniformly correspond to all regional
taste preferences or combine well with some food flavors. Other factors that could impact market acceptance include
the price structure compared to other sugar substitutes and availability. If the high-intensity, non-caloric sweetener
market declines or if stevia fails to achieve substantially greater market acceptance than it currently enjoys, we
might never be able to profit from our continued research and development activities relating to stevia or any
commercial applications that we derive therefrom. Even if products conform to applicable safety and quality
standards, sales could be adversely affected if consumers in target markets lose confidence in the safety, efficacy
and quality of stevia. Adverse publicity about stevia or stevia-based products may discourage consumers from
buying products that contain stevia. Any of these developments could adversely impact the future amount of dry leaf
stevia, processed stevia leaves or extract we are able to sell, which could adversely impact our results of operations.
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The loss of key employees or the failure to attract qualified personnel could have a material adverse effect on our
ability to run our business.

The loss of any of our current executives, key employees or key advisors, or the failure to attract, integrate, motivate
and retain additional key employees, could have a material adverse effect on our business. Although we have
employment agreements with our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer, our Executive Vice
President - Americas, and our Executive Vice President - International, as well as certain other employees, any
employee could leave our employ at any time if he or she chose to do so. We do not carry “key person” insurance on
the lives of any of our management team. As we develop additional capabilities, we may require more skilled
personnel who must be highly skilled and have a sound understanding of our industry, business or processing
requirements. Recruiting skilled personnel is highly competitive. Although to date we have been successful in
recruiting and retaining qualified personnel, there can be no assurance that we will continue to attract and retain the
personnel needed for our business. The failure to attract or retain qualified personnel could have a material adverse
effect on our business.

We may not be able to manage expansion of our operations effectively.

We expect our operations to continue to grow in the future, both as we expand our historical alfalfa seed business
both domestically and internationally through internal growth and synergistic acquisitions and increase our growers’
production. These efforts will require the addition of employees, expansion of facilities and greater oversight,
perhaps in diverse locations. If we are unable to manage our growth effectively, we may not be able to take
advantage of market opportunities, execute on our business strategies or respond to competitive pressures, and we
may have difficulties maintaining and updating the internal procedures and the controls necessary to meet the
planned expansion of our overall business.

Our management will also be required to maintain and expand our relationships with customers, suppliers and other
third parties as well as attract new customers and suppliers. We expect that our sales and marketing costs will
increase as we grow our product lines and as we increase our sales efforts in new and existing markets. Our current
and planned operations, personnel, systems and internal procedures and controls may not be adequate to support our
future growth.

We may be unable to successfully integrate the businesses we have recently acquired and may acquire in the
Sfuture with our current management and structure.

As part of our growth strategy, we have acquired and may continue to acquire additional businesses, product lines or
other assets. We may not be able to locate or make suitable acquisitions on acceptable terms, and future acquisitions
may not be effectively and profitably integrated into our business. Our failure to successfully complete the
integration of the businesses we acquire could have an adverse effect on our prospects, business activities, cash
flow, financial condition, results of operations and stock price. Integration challenges may include the following:

o assimilating the acquired operations, products and personnel with our existing operations, products and
personnel;
° estimating the capital, personnel and equipment required for the acquired businesses based on the historical

experience of management with the businesses with which they are familiar;

° minimizing potential adverse effects on existing business relationships with other suppliers and customers;
° developing and marketing the new products and services;

° entering markets in which we have limited or no prior experience; and

o coordinating our efforts throughout various distant localities and time zones.

In connection with any such transactions, we may also issue equity securities, incur additional debt, assume
contractual obligations or liabilities or expend significant cash. Such transactions could harm our operating results
and cash position and negatively affect the price of our stock.
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For example, on October 25, 2018, we completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Chromatin, Inc.
(together with certain of its subsidiaries and affiliates in receivership, "Chromatin"), as well as the assumption of
certain contracts and limited specified liabilities of Chromatin, for an aggregate cash purchase price of
approximately $26.5 million (the "Acquisition"), pursuant to the terms of our previously disclosed Asset Purchase
Agreement, dated September 14, 2018, with Novo Advisors (f/k/a Turnaround Advisory Group Inc.), solely in its
capacity as the receiver for, and on behalf of, Chromatin ("Novo"). To fund the Chromatin Acquisition, cover
transaction expenses and provide additional working capital, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the
"September SPA") with MFP Partners, L.P. ("MFP"), pursuant to which we agreed to sell and issue to MFP
1,607,717 shares of our common stock (the "Common Shares") for approximate gross proceeds of $5.0 million at an
initial closing (the "Initial Closing") and, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, 7,235 shares of newly
designated Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of the Company ("Preferred Shares") for aggregate gross proceeds
of $22.5 million at a second closing (the "Second Closing"), each in a private placement. The Initial Closing was
completed on September 5, 2018 and the Second Closing was completed on October 23, 2018.

We cannot guarantee that the Chromatin Acquisition will yield the results we have anticipated. In addition, there can
be no assurance that we will achieve the revenues, growth prospects and synergies expected from this acquisition,
our prior acquisitions or any future acquisitions, or that we will achieve such revenue, growth prospects and
synergies in a manner consistent with our expectations. Our failure to do so could adversely affect our business,
operating results and financial condition.

The diversion of management's attention and costs associated with acquisitions may have a negative impact on
our business.

If management’s attention is diverted from the management of our existing businesses as a result of its efforts in
evaluating and negotiating new acquisitions and strategic transactions, the prospects, business activities, cash flow,
financial condition and results of operations of our existing businesses may suffer. We also may incur unanticipated
costs in connection with pursuing acquisitions and strategic transactions, whether they ultimately are consummated
or not.

S&W Australia's alfalfa seed grower pool is dependent on a limited number of milling facilities to process its
seed, with particular dependence on a dominant operator whose commercial interests may be adverse to S& W
Australia.

Only five milling facilities are regularly used by S&W Australia’s grower pool to clean and process S&W Australia
alfalfa seed. Should one or more of these facilities become unusable, there could be a significant effect on S&W
Australia’s ability to get its Australian alfalfa seed to market in a timely manner or at all. S&W Australia’s growers
use Tatiara to process approximately 70% of the seed grown for S&W Australia. The owner of Tatiara has begun to
sell his own common seed and is now a competitor of S&W Australia. This competing seed business creates a
potential conflict of interest for Tatiara in the care and handling of S&W Australia’s product and could impact S&W
Australia’s ability to have seed available to sell on the time schedule required by our customers.

S&W Australia is thinly capitalized and may become dependent upon us for financing.

Because S&W Australia has relatively little net working capital, it is substantially dependent upon its credit
arrangement with National Australia Bank Ltd (“NAB”) to purchase its seed inventory. If S&W Australia breaches
its credit arrangement in the future or other reasons cause this credit arrangement to become unavailable to S&W
Australia, S&W Australia may become reliant on us to finance its operations or for financial guarantees. We
currently are a guarantor on S&W Australia's NAB credit facility. S&W Australia's financial dependency upon us
could have a negative adverse effect upon our financial condition.
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S&W Australia is dependent on a pool of seed growers and a favorable pricing model for alfalfa seed production.

S&W Australia relies on a pool of approximately 150 Australian contract growers to produce its proprietary alfalfa
seeds. In this system, growers contract with S&W Australia to grow S&W Australia’s seed for terms of seven to ten
years in the case of alfalfa and two to three years for white clover. S&W Australia uses a staggered payment system
with the growers of its alfalfa and white clover; the payment amounts are based upon an estimated budget price, or
EBP, for compliant seed. EBP is a forecast of the final price that S&W Australia believes will be achieved taking
into account prevailing and predicted market conditions at the time the estimate is made. Following the grower’s
delivery of uncleaned seed to a milling facility, S&W Australia typically pays 40% of the EBP to the grower based
on pre-cleaning weight. Following this initial payment and prior to the final payment, S&W Australia makes a series
of scheduled progress payments and, if applicable, a bonus payment for “first grade” alfalfa seed. The final price
payable to each grower (and therefore the total price) is dependent upon and subject to adjustment based upon the
clean weight of the seed grown, on the average price at which S&W Australia sells the pooled seed and other costs
incurred by S&W Australia. Accordingly, the total price paid by S&W Australia to its growers may be more or less
than the EBP. This arrangement exposes S&W Australia’s business to unique risks, including, the potential for
current growers to make collective demands that are unfavorable to S&W Australia and the potential for our
competitors to offer more favorable terms for seed production, including fixed (instead of variable) payment terms.

S&W Australia’s reliance upon an estimated purchase price to growers could result in changes in estimates in
our consolidated financial statements.

S&W Australia does not fix the final price for alfalfa and clover seed payable to its growers until the completion of a
given year’s sales cycle, pursuant to the standard contract production agreement. We record an estimated unit price,
and accordingly, inventory, cost of goods sold and gross profits are based upon management’s best estimate of the
final purchase price to our S&W Australia growers. To the extent the estimated purchase price varies from the final
purchase price for seed, the adjustment to actual could materially impact the results in the period when the
difference between estimates and actuals are identified. If the actual purchase price is in excess of our estimated
purchase price, this would negatively impact our financial results, including a reduction in gross profits and net
income.

We may need to raise additional capital in the future.

We may find it necessary or advisable to raise additional capital in the future, whether to enhance our working
capital, to repay indebtedness, to fund acquisitions or for other reasons. If we are required or desire to raise
additional capital in the future, such additional financing may not be available on favorable terms, or available at all,
may be dilutive to our existing stockholders, if in the form of equity financing, or may contain restrictions on the
operation of our business, if in the form of debt financing. If we fail to obtain additional capital as and when
required, such failure could have a material impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Changes in government policies and laws could adversely affect international sales and therefore our financial
results.

Historically, sales to our distributors who sell our proprietary alfalfa seed varieties outside the United States have
constituted a meaningful portion of our annual revenue. We anticipate that sales into international markets will
continue to represent a meaningful portion of our total sales and that continued growth and profitability will require
further international expansion, particularly in the Middle East and Africa. Our financial results could be affected by
changes in trade, monetary and fiscal policies, laws and regulations, or other activities of U.S. and non-U.S.
governments, agencies and similar organizations. These conditions include but are not limited to changes in a
country’s or region’s economic or political conditions, trade regulations affecting production, pricing and marketing
of products, local labor conditions and regulations, reduced protection of intellectual property rights in some
countries, changes in the regulatory or legal environment, burdensome taxes and tariffs and other trade barriers.
International risks and uncertainties, including changing social and economic conditions as well as terrorism,
political hostilities and war, could lead to reduced distribution of our products into international markets and reduced
profitability associated with such sales.
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We are subject to risks associated with doing business globally.

Our operations, both inside and outside the United States, are subject to risks inherent in conducting business
globally and under the laws, regulations and customs of various jurisdictions and geographies. Although we sell
seed to various regions of the world, a large percentage of our sales outside the United States in fiscal year 2019
were principally to customers in the Middle East, North Africa and Mexico. Accordingly, developments in those
parts of the world generally have a more significant effect on our operations than developments in other places. Our
operations outside the United States are subject to special risks and restrictions, including, without limitation:
fluctuations in currency values and foreign-currency exchange rates; exchange control regulations; changes in local
political or economic conditions; governmental pricing directives; import and trade restrictions; import or export
licensing requirements and trade policy; restrictions on the ability to repatriate funds; and other potentially
detrimental domestic and foreign governmental practices or policies affecting U.S. companies doing business
abroad, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the trade sanctions laws and regulations administered
by the U.S. Department of the Treasury's Office of Foreign Assets Control. Acts of terror or war may impair our
ability to operate in particular countries or regions, and may impede the flow of goods and services between
countries. Customers in weakened economies may be unable to purchase our products, or it could become more
expensive for them to purchase imported products in their local currency, or sell their commodity at prevailing
international prices, and we may be unable to collect receivables from such customers. Further, changes in exchange
rates may affect our net earnings, the book value of our assets outside the United States and our stockholders’
equity. Failure to comply with the laws and regulations that affect our global operations could have an adverse effect
on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Failure to comply with the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act or similar laws could subject us to
penalties and other adverse consequences.

We are subject to the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, which generally prohibits United States
companies, including their suppliers, distributors and other commercial partners, from engaging in bribery or other
prohibited payments to foreign officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Corruption, extortion,
bribery, pay-offs, theft and other fraudulent practices occur from time-to-time in the countries in which we distribute
products. We have adopted formal policies and procedures designed to facilitate compliance with these laws. If our
employees or other agents, including our distributors or suppliers, are found to have engaged in such practices, we
could suffer severe penalties and other consequences that may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Environmental regulation affecting our alfalfa seed, sorghum, sunflower or stevia products could negatively
impact our business.

Our agricultural operations are subject to a broad range of evolving environmental laws and regulations applicable
to the markets in which we operate. These environmental laws and regulations are intended to address concerns
related to, among other things, air quality, storm water discharge and management and disposal of agricultural
chemicals relating to seed treatment.

In the U.S., we are subject to evolving environmental laws and regulations by federal and state governments. Federal
laws and regulations include the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act,
the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act, the Federal Seed Act, and potentially regulations of the FDA and/or other State
regulatory agencies.

Our Australian operations are also subject to a number of environmental laws, regulations and policies, including in

particular the Environment Protection Act 1993 (SA), the Agricultural and Veterinary Products (Control of Use) Act
2002 (SA), the Genetically Modified Crops Management Act 2004 (SA), the Dangerous Substances Act 1979 (SA),

the Controlled Substances Act 1984 (SA) and related regulations and policies.

Our failure to comply with these laws and related regulations could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations. Moreover, it is possible that future developments, such as increasingly strict
environmental laws and enforcement policies thereunder, and further restrictions on the use of agricultural
chemicals, could result in increased compliance costs which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operations.

20



Unauthorized access to our information technology systems, infrastructure and data could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We are dependent upon our own and third-party information technology systems, infrastructure and data, including
mobile technologies, to operate our business. The multitude and complexity of our computer systems may make
them vulnerable to service interruption or destruction, disruption of data integrity, malicious intrusion, or random
attacks. Likewise, data privacy or security incidents or breaches by employees or others may pose a risk that
sensitive data, including our intellectual property, trade secrets or personal information of our employees, customers
or other business partners may be exposed to unauthorized persons or to the public. Our business partners face
similar risks and any security breach of their systems could adversely affect our security posture.

In addition, cyber-attacks are increasing in their frequency, sophistication and intensity. Cyber-attacks could include
the deployment of harmful malware, denial-of-service, social engineering and other means to affect service
reliability and threaten data confidentiality, integrity and availability. Moreover, the prevalent use of mobile devices
that access confidential information increases the risk of data security breaches, which could lead to the loss of
confidential information, trade secrets or other intellectual property.

A security breach, including, for example, a misappropriation of customer, distributor or employee confidential
information, trade secrets or intellectual property, could disrupt our business and result in increased costs or loss of
revenue, which may include potential costs of investigations, legal, forensic and consulting fees and expenses, costs
and diversion of management’s attention required for investigation, remediation and litigation, substantial repair or
replacement costs. In addition, any disruption in our information technology systems, loss of data or other
disruptions could impair our ability to manage inventories, process transactions and communicate with our
customers, which could prevent us from being able to fulfill orders, result in cancelations and loss of customers,
cause us reputational harm and generally disrupt our ability to conduct our business, any of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

While we have implemented measures for the protection of our data and information technology infrastructure, there
can be no assurance that our efforts will prevent service interruptions, or identify breaches in our systems, that could
adversely affect our business and operations and/or result in the loss of critical or sensitive information, which could
result in financial, legal, business or reputational harm to us. In addition, our liability insurance may not be sufficient
in type or amount to cover us against claims related to security breaches, cyber-attacks and other related breaches.

Insurance covering defective seed claims may become unavailable or be inadequate.

Defective seed could result in insurance claims and negative publicity. Although we carry general liability insurance
to cover defective seed claims, such coverage may become unavailable or be inadequate. Even if coverage is
offered, it may be at a price and on terms not acceptable to us. If claims exceed coverage limits, or if insurance is not
available to us, the occurrence of significant claims could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

We may be exposed to product quality claims, which may cause us to incur substantial legal expenses and, if
determined adversely against us, may cause us to pay significant damage awards.

We may be subject to legal proceedings and claims from time to time relating to our seed or stevia quality. The
defense of these proceedings and claims can be both costly and time consuming and may significantly divert efforts
and resources of our management personnel. An adverse determination in any such proceeding could subject us to
significant liability and damage our market reputation and prevent us from achieving increased sales and market
share. Protracted litigation could also result in our customers or potential customers deferring or limiting their
purchase of our products.
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Capital and credit market issues could negatively affect our liquidity, increase our costs of borrowing and disrupt
the operations of our growers and customers.

The capital and credit markets have experienced increased volatility and disruption over the past several years,
making it more difficult for companies to access those markets. Although we believe that our operating cash flows,
historical access to the capital market and our lines of credit will permit us to meet our financing needs for the
foreseeable future, continued or increased volatility and disruption in the capital and credit markets may impair our
liquidity or increase our costs of borrowing, if we need to access the credit market. Our business could also be
negatively impacted if our growers or customers experience disruptions resulting from tighter capital and credit
markets or a slowdown in the general economy.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights, our business and prospects may be harmed.

Our ability to compete effectively is dependent upon the proprietary nature of the seeds, seedlings, processes,
technologies and materials owned by or used by us or our growers. If any competitors independently develop new
traits, seeds, seedlings, processes or technologies that customers or end users determine are better than our existing
products, such developments could adversely affect our competitive position.

In some cases, we obtain patent protection or plant breeder rights registrations for certain of our seed products.
However, our principal method of guarding our proprietary varieties and hybrids is exercising a high degree of
control over the supply chain. We also rely on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect
proprietary know-how that is not patentable, processes for which patents are difficult to enforce and any other
elements of our discovery and development processes that involve proprietary know-how, information or technology
that is not covered by patents. Although we require our employees, consultants, advisors and any third parties who
have access to our proprietary know-how, information, or technology to enter into confidentiality agreements, we
cannot be certain that our trade secrets and other confidential proprietary information will not be disclosed or that
competitors will not otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or independently develop substantially equivalent
information and techniques.

Even with these measures in place, it would be possible for persons with access to our seed or plants grown from our
seed to reproduce and market products substantially similar to our proprietary seed varieties, which could
significantly harm our business and our reputation. Third parties may challenge the validity, enforceability and
scope of our intellectual property rights. Furthermore, we sell our products in more than 30 countries and the laws
of some countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent or in the same manner as the laws of the
United States. As a result, we may encounter significant problems in protecting and defending our intellectual
property both in the United States and abroad. Litigation may be necessary to protect our proprietary property and
determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of competitors. Intellectual property litigation could result
in substantial costs and diversion of our management and other resources. If we are unable to successfully protect
our intellectual property rights, our competitors could market products that compete with our proprietary products
without obtaining a license from us.
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Risks Related to our Financial Position and Investment in Our Securities

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our stockholders or restrict our operations.

From time to time, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination of equity and debt financings, as well
as potentially entering into collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements. To the extent that we raise
additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest could be diluted
and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a
common stockholder. Debt financing may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our
ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends
and may be secured by all or a portion of our assets.

The value of our common stock can be volatile.

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market. The overall market and the price of our common stock
can fluctuate greatly. The trading price of our common stock may be significantly affected by various factors,
including but not limited to:

° economic status and trends in the dairy industry, which underlies demand for our alfalfa seed;

° market conditions for alfalfa seed in the Middle East and North Africa, where a substantial amount of our seed
historically has been purchased by end users;

° quarterly fluctuations in our operating results;

° our ability to meet the earnings estimates and other performance expectations of investors or financial
analysts;

o fluctuations in the stock prices of our peer companies or in stock markets in general; and

° general economic or political conditions.

Our quarter-to-quarter performance may vary substantially, and this variance, as well as general market
conditions, may cause the price of our securities to fluctuate greatly and potentially expose us to litigation.

Our seed business is highly seasonal because it is tied to the growing and harvesting seasons. If sales in particular
quarters are lower than expected, our operating results for these quarters could cause our share price to decline.

Our future expense estimates are based, in large part, on estimates of future revenue, which is difficult to predict.
We expect to continue to make significant expenditures in order to expand production, sales, marketing and
processes. We may be unable to, or may elect not to, adjust spending quickly enough to offset any unexpected
revenue shortfall. If our increased expenses are not accompanied by increased revenue in the same quarter, our
quarterly operating results would be harmed.

In one or more future quarters, our results of operations may fall below the expectations of investors or analysts, and
the trading price of our securities may decline as a consequence. We believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of
our operating results will not be a good indication of our future performance and should not be relied upon to predict
the future performance of our stock price.

In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have often been subject to
securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. Securities litigation
against us could result in substantial costs and divert our management's attention from other business concerns,
which could seriously harm our business.
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If we issue shares of preferred stock, the holdings of those owning our common stock could be diluted or
subordinated to the rights of the holders of preferred stock.

Our board of directors is authorized by our articles of incorporation to establish classes or series of preferred stock
and fix the designation, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of each such class or series without any further
vote or action by our stockholders. Any shares of preferred stock so issued could have priority over our common
stock with respect to dividend or liquidation rights.

Our actual operating results may differ significantly from our guidance.

We routinely release annual guidance in our quarterly earnings releases, our quarterly earnings conference calls and
in other forums we consider appropriate. Such guidance regarding our future performance represents our
management's estimates as of the date of release or other communication. This guidance, which includes forward-
looking statements, is based on projections prepared by our management. These projections are not prepared with a
view toward compliance with published guidelines of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and
neither our independent registered public accountants nor any other independent expert or outside party compiles or
examines the projections, and accordingly, no such person expresses any opinion or any other form of assurance
with respect thereto.

Projections are based upon a number of assumptions and estimates that, while presented with numerical specificity,
are inherently subject to significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies, many of
which are beyond our control and are based upon specific assumptions with respect to future business decisions,
some of which will change. If we issue guidance, we will generally state possible outcomes as high and low ranges
or approximations that are intended to provide a sensitivity analysis as variables are changed but are not intended to
represent that actual results could not fall outside of the suggested ranges or approximations. The principal reason
that we would release guidance would be to provide a basis for our management to discuss our business outlook
with analysts and investors. We do not accept any responsibility for any projections or reports published by any such
persons.

Guidance is necessarily speculative in nature, and it can be expected that some or all of the assumptions of the
guidance furnished by us will not materialize or will vary significantly from actual results. Accordingly, our
guidance, when given, is only an estimate of what management believes is realizable as of the date of release or
other communication. Actual results will vary from our guidance, and the variations may be material. In light of the
foregoing, investors are urged not to rely upon, or otherwise consider, our guidance in making an investment
decision about our securities.

We do not anticipate declaring any cash dividends on our common stock.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock and do not plan to pay any cash dividends in
the near future. Our current policy is to retain all funds and any earnings for use in the operation and expansion of
our business. If we do not pay cash dividends, our stock may be less valuable to investors because a return on their
investment will only occur if our stock price appreciates.

Anti-takeover provisions and our right to issue preferred stock could make a third-party acquisition of us
difficult.

Our articles of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that would make it more difficult for a third party to
acquire control of us, including a provision that our board of directors may issue preferred stock without stockholder
approval. In addition, certain anti-takeover provisions of Nevada law, if and when applicable, could make it more
difficult for a third party to acquire control of us, even if such change in control would be beneficial to our
stockholders.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2. Properties

The following is a description of our material properties:

Location Size Primary Use Leased or Owned
Arlington (Columbia 25 acres Alfalfa research and Owned by S&W
County), Wisconsin development
Boulder (Boulder County), 1,615 sq. ft. Temporary corporate Leased by S&W
Colorado headquarters
Drayton, Queensland 3,068 sq. ft. Sunflower and sorghum Leased by S&W Australia
research and development
facilities
Dumas (Moore County), 9,021 sq. ft. Warehouse storage Owned by S&W
Texas
Five Points (Fresno 5 acres Milling facilities Owned by S&W
County), California
Kern County, California 584 acres Farmland suitable for Leased by S&W
farming alfalfa seed and
alfalfa hay
Keith, South Australia 8.2 acres Processing facility Owned by S&W Australia
Keith, South Australia 38 acres Research farm Leased by S&W Australia
Lubbock (Lubbock 41,380 sq. ft. Research facilities and Leased by S&W
County), Texas warchouse storage
Lubbock (Lubbock 1,972 sq. ft. Laboratory and general Leased by S&W
County), Texas office
Nampa (Canyon County), 80 acres (approx.) Alfalfa research and Owned by S&W
Idaho development facilities
Nampa (Canyon County), 16 acres Milling facilities Owned by S&W
Idaho
Nampa (Canyon County), 8,000 sq. ft. Production warehouse Leased by S&W
Idaho storage
Nampa (Canyon County), 7,500 sq. ft. Production warehouse Leased by S&W
Idaho storage
New Deal (Lubbock 111,062 sq. ft. Processing facility and Owned by S&W
County), Texas production warehouse
storage
Plainview (Hale County), 117,232 sq. ft. Production warehouse Owned by S&W
Texas storage
Sacramento (Sacramento 4,885 sq. ft. Corporate headquarters for Leased by S&W
County), California S&W
Stirling, South Australia 1,690 sq. ft. Corporate headquarters for Leased by S&W Australia
S&W Australia
Szeged, Hungary 4,191 sq. ft. Corporate headquarter for  Leased by S&W Hungary
S&W Hungary
Szeged, Hungary 13 acres Research farm Leased by S&W Hungary
Tifton (Tift County), 3,000 sq. ft. Research facilities Leased by S&W
Georgia
Victoria (Victoria County), 2,400 sq. ft. Research facilities and Leased by S&W

Texas

warchouse storage

We believe that our current facilities are adequate for our needs for the immediate future and that, should it be
needed, suitable additional space will be available to accommodate expansion of our operations on commercially

reasonable terms
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings, including pending
opposition proceedings involving patents that arise in the ordinary course of business. There are no matters pending
that we expect to have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash
flows.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART 11
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities
Market Information Regarding Our Common Stock

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “SANW.” The following table sets
forth the range of high and low sales prices per share of common stock as reported on Nasdaq for the periods
indicated. The closing price of our common stock on September 17, 2019 was $2.34.

High Low

Year Ended June 30, 2018

First Quarter $ 420 $ 2.90

Second Quarter 4.00 2.90

Third Quarter 4.40 3.30

Fourth Quarter 3.80 3.05
Year Ended June 30, 2019

First Quarter $ 340 $ 2.35

Second Quarter 3.19 1.81

Third Quarter 3.20 1.83

Fourth Quarter 3.02 2.32

Holders

As of September 18, 2019, we had 33,283,695 shares of common stock outstanding held by 37 stockholders of
record. Because many of our shares of common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of
stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of beneficial stockholders represented by these record
holders.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. For the foreseeable future, we intend to
retain any earnings to finance the development and expansion of our business, and we do not anticipate paying any
cash dividends on our common stock. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of the
Board of Directors and will be dependent upon then existing conditions, including our financial condition and results
of operations, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, business prospects and other factors that the Board of
Directors considers relevant. In addition, our credit facility with KeyBank contains restrictions on our ability to pay
dividends.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities
There were no unregistered sales of equity securities in 2019 fiscal year that have not been previously reported on a

Current Report on Form 8-K.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliate Purchasers

None.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide information typically disclosed under this item.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements” of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to our historical consolidated financial information, the following
discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates, and beliefs. Our actual results could
differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements as referred to on page 2 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include those discussed below and
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, particularly in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Executive Overview

We are a global multi-crop, middle-market agricultural company. We are market leaders in the breeding, production
and sale of alfalfa seed and sorghum seed. We also have a growing commercial market presence in sunflower and
maintain an active stevia development program.

Our seed platform develops and supplies high quality germplasm designed to produce higher yields for farmers
worldwide. We produce approximately 250 seed products in the Western United States, Canada, Australia, Europe
and South Africa for sale in more than 30 countries. We maintain an active product pipeline and expect to introduce
more than 20 new products during the 2020-2022 fiscal years.

Founded in 1980, we began our operations as a limited producer of non-dormant alfalfa seed varieties bred for warm
climates and high-yields, including varieties that can thrive in poor, saline soils. Over the years we have built a
diversified, global agricultural platform through a combination of organic growth and strategic acquisitions,
including:

° Our 2012 acquisition of Imperial Valley Seeds, Inc., which enabled us to expand production of non-GMO
alfalfa seed into California's Imperial Valley, thereby ensuring a non-GMO uncontaminated source of alfalfa
seed due to the prohibition on growing GMO crops in the Imperial Valley, as well as enabling us to diversify
our production areas and distribution channels;

o Our 2012 acquisition of a portfolio of dormant alfalfa germplasm, which launched our entry into the dormant
alfalfa market;

o Our 2013 acquisition of Seed Genetics International Pty Ltd (now S&W Seed Company Australia Pty Ltd),
the leading producer of non-dormant alfalfa seed in South Australia, which made us the largest non-dormant
alfalfa seed company in the world, with production capabilities in both hemispheres;

° Our 2014 acquisition of alfalfa production and research facility assets and conventional (non-GMO) alfalfa
germplasm from Pioneer, which substantially broadened and improved our dormant alfalfa germplasm
portfolio and deepened our production, research and product development capabilities;

° Our 2016 acquisition of the business and assets of SV Genetics Pty Ltd, a developer of proprietary hybrid
sorghum and sunflower seed germplasm, which expanded our crop focus into two areas which we believe
have high global growth potential;

° Our 2018 acquisition of the assets of Chromatin, Inc. and related companies, which positioned us to become a
global leader in the hybrid sorghum seed market and enhanced our distribution channels both internationally
and within a U.S.-based farmer-dealer network; and

° Our 2018 joint venture with AGT Foods Africa Proprietary Limited (AGT) based in South Africa named
SeedVision Proprietary Limited (SeedVision). SeedVision will leverage AGT's African-based production and
processing facilities to produce S&W's hybrid sunflower, grain sorghum, and forage sorghum to be sold by
SeedVision in the African continent, Middle East countries, and Europe.
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On May 22, 2019, we restructured our relationship with Pioneer, a subsidiary of Corteva, by entering into two
agreements under which, among other things:

° We received $45.0 million in May 2019 and are entitled to receive an aggregate of $25.0 million in additional
payments on the dates and in the amounts as set forth below.

Payment
Date Amount
September 15, 2019 $ 5,551,372
January 15, 2020 $ 5,551,372
February 15, 2020 $ 5,551,372
September 15, 2020 $ 3,750,927
January 15, 2021 $ 2,500,618
February 15, 2021 $ 2,100,519
Total: $ 25,006,180
° Corteva received a fully pre-paid, exclusive license to produce and distribute certain of our alfalfa varieties

world-wide (except South America). The licensed varieties include certain of our existing commercial
conventional (non-GMO) alfalfa varieties and six pre-commercial dormant alfalfa varieties. Corteva received
no license to our other commercial alfalfa varieties or pre-commercial alfalfa pipeline products and no rights
to any future products developed by us.

o We assigned to Corteva grower production contract rights, and Corteva assumed grower production contract
obligations, related to the licensed and certain other alfalfa varieties.

° Our prior Distribution Agreement, related to conventional (non-GMO) alfalfa varieties, and Contract Alfalfa
Production Services Agreement, related to GMO-traited alfalfa varieties, with Corteva both terminated.
Under the Distribution Agreement, Corteva was obligated to make minimum annual purchases from us.

As a result of the May 2019 transactions with Corteva, we recognized licensing revenue of $34.2 million and wrote-
off $6.0 million of intangible assets. We also attribute our $11.9 million goodwill impairment charge largely to the
termination of the production and distribution agreements with Corteva.

As a result of the 2018 Chromatin acquisition and the 2019 restructuring of our relationship with Corteva, we expect
that our results of operations for fiscal 2020 and future periods will differ significantly from prior periods as the mix
of our product portfolio rebalances away from a reliance on alfalfa sales (sales of alfalfa seed to Corteva totaled
$37.6 million) to a more diverse product mix. We expect to generate alfalfa seed revenue of approximately $34
million to Corteva over the fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2021 combined periods as the seed is delivered to Corteva through
February 2021. We do not expect any other significant revenue from sales to Corteva in the future.

Components of Our Statements of Operations Data
Revenue and Cost of Revenue
Product and Other Revenue

We derive most of our revenue from the sale of our proprietary seed varieties and hybrids. We expect that over the
next several years, a substantial majority of our revenue will be generated from the sale of alfalfa, sorghum, and
sunflower seed, although we are continually assessing other possible product offerings or means to increase revenue,
including expanding into other, higher margin crops.

The mix of our product offerings will continue to change over time with the introduction of new seed varieties and

hybrids resulting from our robust research and development efforts, including our potential expansion into gene-
edited products in future periods.
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Our revenue will fluctuate depending on the timing of orders from our customers and distributors. Because some of
our large customers and distributors order in bulk only one or two times per year, our product revenue may fluctuate
significantly from period to period. However, some of this fluctuation is offset by having operations in both the
northern and southern hemispheres.

Our stevia breeding program has yet to generate any meaningful revenue. However, management continues to
evaluate this portion of our business and assess various means to monetize the results of our effort to breed new,
better tasting stevia varieties. Such potential opportunities include possible licensing agreements and royalty-based
agreements.

Licensing Revenue

During the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company entered into a license with Corteva, under which Corteva
received a fully pre-paid, exclusive license to produce and distribute certain of the Company's alfalfa seed varieties
world-wide (except South America). The licensed seed varieties include certain of the Company's existing
commercial conventional (non-GMO) alfalfa varieties and six pre-commercial dormant alfalfa varieties

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue relates to sale of our seed products and consists of the cost of procuring seed, plant conditioning and
packaging costs, direct labor and raw materials and overhead costs.

Operating Expenses
Research and Development Expenses

Seed and stevia research and development expenses consist of costs incurred in the discovery, development,
breeding and testing of new products incorporating the traits we have specifically selected. These expenses consist
primarily of employee salaries and benefits, consultant services, land leased for field trials, chemicals and supplies
and other external expenses.

Overall, we have been focused on controlling research and development expenses, while balancing that objective
against the recognition that continued advancement in product development is an important part of our strategic
planning. We intend to focus our resources on high value activities. For alfalfa seed, we plan to invest in further
development of differentiating forage quality traits. For sorghum, we plan to invest in higher value grain products
as well as development of proprietary herbicide tolerance traits. We expect our research and development expenses
will increase in 2020 and fluctuate from period to period as a result of the timing of various research and
development projects.

Our internal research and development costs are expensed as incurred, while third party research and developments
costs are expensed when the contracted work has been performed or as milestone results have been achieved. The
costs associated with equipment or facilities acquired or construed for research and development activities that have
alternative future uses are capitalized and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the
asset.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general, and administrative expenses consist primarily of employee costs, including salaries, employee
benefits and share-based compensation, as well as professional service fees, insurance, marketing, travel and
entertainment expense, public company expense and other overhead costs. We proactively take steps on an ongoing
basis to control selling, general and administrative expense as much as is reasonably possible.
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Depreciation and Amortization

We amortize intangible assets, including those acquired from Chromatin in 2018 and from SV Genetics in May
2016, using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset, consisting of periods of 10-30 years
for technology/IP/germplasm, 5-20 years for customer relationships and trade names and 3-20 years for other
intangible assets. Property, plant and equipment is depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful life of the asset, consisting of periods of 5-35 years for buildings, 2-20 years for machinery and equipment
and 2-5 years for vehicles.

Other Expense

Other expense consists primarily of foreign currency gains and losses, changes in the fair value of derivative
liabilities related to our warrants, changes in the estimated fair value of assets held for sale and interest expense in
connection with amortization of debt discount. Interest expense primarily consists of interest costs related to
outstanding borrowings on our credit facilities, including our KeyBank revolving line of credit and on S&W
Australia’s credit facilities, and our financing with Conterra Agricultural Capital, LLC ("Conterra").

Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate is based on income, statutory tax rates, differences in the deductibility of certain expenses and
inclusion of certain income items between financial statement and tax return purposes, and tax planning
opportunities available to us in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. Under U.S. GAAP, if we determine
that a tax position is more likely than not of being sustained upon audit, based solely on the technical merits of the
position, we recognize the benefit. Tax regulations require certain items to be included in the tax return at different
times than when those items are required to be recorded in the consolidated financial statements. As a result, our
effective tax rate reflected in our consolidated financial statements is different from that reported in our tax returns.
Some of these differences are permanent, such as meals and entertainment expenses that are not fully deductible on
our tax return, and some are temporary differences, such as depreciation expense. Temporary differences create
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets generally represent items that can be used as a tax deduction or
credit in our tax return in future years for which we have already recorded the tax benefit in our consolidated
statements of operations. In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2017, we recorded a valuation allowance against all of
our deferred tax assets. The full valuation allowance was recorded during the fiscal year 2017 as a result of changes
to our operating results and future projections, resulting from a decline in export sales to Saudi Arabia. As a result,
we don’t believe that it is more likely than not that our deferred tax assets will be realized.

Results of Operations
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019 Compared to the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018
Revenue and Cost of Revenue

Revenue for fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 was $109.7 million compared to $64.1 million for the year ended June
30, 2018. The $45.6 million increase in revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 was primarily due to $34.2
million of licensing revenue from Pioneer. In May 2019, we terminated the production and distribution agreements
with Pioneer, from which we recorded sales of approximately $37.6 million during the year ended June 30, 2019,
which was a decrease of $1.9 million from the prior year amount of $39.5 million.

As part of the termination, Pioneer’s parent company, Corteva, agreed to purchase from us certain quantities of seed
held by us as of that date that Pioneer was not previously obligated to purchase. Those quantities of seed will be
delivered to Corteva periodically through February 2021. Contemporaneously with the termination, we entered into
a license with Corteva, under which Corteva received a fully pre-paid, exclusive license to produce and distribute
certain of the Company's alfalfa seed varieties world-wide (except South America). The licensed seed varieties
include certain of the Company's existing commercial conventional (non-GMO) alfalfa varieties and six pre-
commercial dormant alfalfa varieties.
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We received a payment of $45.0 million in May 2019 from Pioneer/Corteva, and will receive quarterly payments
through February 2021, which total approximately $25.0 million. Approximately $34.2 million of these amounts
has been allocated to the license to the Company’s alfalfa varieties, which amount is included in revenue in the
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended June 30, 2019. The Company allocated approximately $1.8
million to an unbilled receivable related to revenue recognition at contract termination and the remaining amounts
will be recognized as revenue as the seed is delivered to Corteva through February 2021.

The increase in revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 can also be attributed to $12.4 million of sorghum
revenue from the recently acquired sorghum operations. These increases were partially offset by a $2.5 million
decrease in revenue from sales to customers in Sudan due to the geo-political issues facing that country. In addition,
revenues into Latin America were down due to continued softness in the non-dormant alfalfa seed markets.

Sales into international markets represented 20% and 35% of our total revenue during the years ended June 30, 2019
and 2018, respectively. Domestic revenue accounted for 80% and 65% of our total revenue for the years ended June
30,2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase in domestic revenue as a percentage of total revenue is primarily
attributable to licensing revenue related to the termination of the Pioneer/Corteva agreement mentioned above. As a
result, we anticipate that international sales will increase as a percentage of our total sales in fiscal 2020.

The following table shows revenue from external sources by destination country:

Years Ended June 30,
2019 2018
United States $ 88,176,809 80% $41,662,556 65%
Saudi Arabia 4,745,993 4% 1,461,368 2%
Australia 2,787,128 3% 1,242,957 2%
Libya 2,629,750 2% 936,423 1%
Mexico 2,264,827 2% 4,932,105 8%
Pakistan 1,009,120 1% 5,856 0%
Egypt 965,269 1% 284,760 0%
Peru 905,580 1% 1,844,898 3%
France 845,172 1% 220,919 0%
Argentina 841,969 1% 2,748492 4%
Other 4,550,893 4% 8,745,176 15%
Total $109,722,511 100% $64,085,510 100%

Cost of revenue of $69.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2019 was equal to 62.9% of total revenue for the year
ended June 30, 2019, while the cost of revenue of $49.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2018 was equal to
77.0% of total revenue for the year ended June 30, 2018. Cost of revenue decreased on a percentage basis primarily
due to the license agreement with Corteva.
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Total gross profit margin for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 was 37.1% compared to 23.0% in the year ended
June 30, 2018. The increase in gross profit margins was primarily due to the license agreement with Corteva,
partially offset by a lower of cost or net realizable value adjustment made to inventory.

Excluding the $34.2 million of license revenue mentioned above, gross profit margins for the year ended June 30,
2019, would have been 8.6%. The decrease in gross margins can be attributed to a $8.8 million write-down of
inventory. Excluding the $8.8 million of inventory write-down and the $34.2 million of license revenue, gross
margins would have been 20.3% for the year ended June 30, 2019. The remaining decrease in gross margins for the
year ended June 30, 2019 compared to the year ended June 30, 2018, relates to lower margin alfalfa sales due to
competitive pricing pressures in international markets.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) expense for the year ended June 30, 2019 totaled $17.5 million
compared to $10.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2018. The $7.0 million increase in SG&A expense versus the
prior year was due to $2.1 million in SG&A expenses following our October 2018 acquisition of Chromatin, $1.2
million of non-recurring transactions costs related to the Chromatin acquisition, $1.2 million of bad debt expense
associated with our reserve for Sudan receivables, $0.8 million in additional compensation and benefits costs
associated with sales and management personnel, as well as other expense increases. As a percentage of revenue,
SG&A expenses were 15.9% for the year ended June 30, 2019, compared to 16.4% for the year ended June 30,
2018.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for the year ended June 30, 2019 totaled $6.3 million compared to $3.9 million
for the year ended June 30, 2018. The $2.4 million increase in research and development expense versus the prior
year is driven by $1.8 million of additional research and development activities incurred in connection with the
Chromatin business following our October 2018 acquisition, as well as additional investment in our hybrid sorghum
and sunflower programs. We expect our research and development spend for fiscal 2020 to increase as we expand
our hybrid sorghum and sunflower programs.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense for the year ended June 30, 2019 was $4.1 million compared to $3.4 million
for the year ended June 30, 2018. Included in the amount was amortization expense for intangible assets, which
totaled $2.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2019 and $2.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2018. The $0.7
million increase in depreciation and amortization expense over the prior year is primarily driven by additional
Chromatin expenses following our October 2018 acquisition.

Goodwill Impairment Charges

We recorded an impairment charge of $11.9 million during the year ended June 30, 2019. During the year ended
June 30, 2018, we did not record an impairment charge. The impairment charge related to the full impairment of the
Company’s goodwill and was a result of the termination of the distribution agreement with Pioneer/Corteva.

The termination of the production and distribution agreements with Pioneer was, in our view, a potential indicator of
impairment due to the significant reduction in future forecasted revenues. As a result, we initiated an impairment test
and concluded that the entire goodwill balance was impaired.

Intangible Asset Impairment Charges

We recorded an impairment charge of $6.0 million during the year ended June 30, 2019. During the year ended June
30, 2018, we did not record an impairment charge. The impairment charge was a result of the termination of the
distribution agreement with Pioneer.
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The intangible asset write-off related to the carrying value of the distribution agreement, which previously was being
amortized over the contractual life of the agreement.

Foreign Currency (Gain) Loss

We recorded a foreign currency gain of $0.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2019 compared to a gain of $12,584
for the year ended June 30, 2018. The foreign currency gains and losses are primarily associated with S&W
Australia, our wholly-owned subsidiary in Australia.

Change in Derivative Warrant Liability

The derivative warrant liability was considered a level 3 fair value financial instrument and was measured at each
reporting period until December 31, 2017 at which time the warrants were reclassified to equity due to the expiration
of the down-round price protection provision. We recorded $0 in the year ended June 30, 2019 compared to a non-
cash change in derivative warrant liability gain of $0.4 million in the year ended June 30, 2018. The gain represents
the decrease in fair value of the outstanding warrants issued in December 2014 due to the passage of time and
decrease in our stock price.

Change in Estimated Value of Assets Held for Sale

The Company recorded $1.5 million and $0 of expenses for the years ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018,
respectively. The expense in the current fiscal year relates to our estimated change in value of certain properties held
for sale.

Reduction of Anticipated Loss on Sub-Lease Land

The Company recorded $0.1 million and $0 of expenses for the years ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018,
respectively. The expense in the current fiscal year relates to our reduction of anticipated loss on sub-lease land.

Interest Expense - Amortization of Debt Discount

Non-cash amortization of debt discount expense for the year ended June 30, 2019 was $0.3 million compared to $0.2
million for the year ended June 30, 2018. The expense in the current year represents the amortization of the debt
issuance costs associated with our working capital facilities, our secured property note, and our equipment capital
leases. The expense in the prior year primarily represents the amortization of the debt issuance costs associated with
our working capital facilities and our secured property note.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the year ended June 30, 2019 totaled $2.9 million compared to $1.9 million for the year ended
June 30, 2018. Interest expense for the year ended June 30, 2019 primarily consisted of interest incurred on the
working capital credit facilities with KeyBank and NAB, the secured property loan entered into in November 2017,
and equipment capital leases. Interest expense for the year ended June 30, 2018 primarily consisted of interest
incurred on the working capital credit facilities with KeyBank and NAB, interest on the note payable issued to
Pioneer which was paid off in November 2017, the secured property loan entered into in November 2017 and
equipment capital leases. The $1.0 million increase in interest expense for the year ended June 30, 2019 is primarily
driven by interest on the secured property and equipment loans as well as additional interest on the working capital
credit facilities due to increased levels of borrowings and interest rates.

Provision for Income Taxes

Income tax benefit totaled $0.2 million for the year ended June 30, 2019 compared to income tax expense of $0.1
million for the year ended June 30, 2018. Our effective tax rate was 1.6% for the year ended June 30, 2019
compared to (3.1%) for the year ended June 30, 2018. The increase in our effective tax rate for the year ended June

34



30, 2019 was primarily attributable to a slight increase in our valuation allowance for the year ended June 30, 2019
compared to the year ended June 30, 2018. Previously, we had certain intangible assets with indefinite lives for
financial reporting purposes which produced deferred tax liabilities that could not be offset by a valuation
allowance. During fiscal year 2019, we wrote down a majority of these assets for financial reporting purposes,
generating a net deferred tax asset balance with respect to these indefinite lived intangible assets, which is now fully
offset by our valuation allowance. The increase to the valuation allowance in the current year generated a tax benefit
for the Company and a positive effective tax rate, as opposed to the previous year when the increase in our net
deferred tax liability balance produced an income tax provision and a negative effective tax rate. Due to the
valuation allowance, we do not record the income tax expense or benefit related to substantially all of our current
year operating results, as such results are generally incorporated in our net operating loss deferred tax asset position,
which has a full valuation allowance against it. However, we did record tax benefit related to the write-down of our
prior year net deferred tax liability balance as discussed above. We also recorded tax expense related to certain other
items occurring throughout the year. For example, we recorded income tax expense related to the current and prior
year tax return filings of certain of our subsidiaries located in Australia and South Africa and also recorded tax
expense related to current year state tax return liabilities.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our working capital and working capital requirements fluctuate from quarter to quarter depending on the phase of
the growing and sales cycle that falls during a particular quarter. Our need for cash has historically been highest in
the second and third fiscal quarters (October through March) because we historically have paid our North American
contracted growers progressively, starting in the second fiscal quarter. In fiscal year 2019, we paid our North
American growers approximately 50% of amounts due in October 2018 and the balance was paid in February 2019.
This payment cycle to our growers was similar in fiscal year 2018. S&W Australia, our Australian-based
subsidiary, has a production cycle that is counter-cyclical to North America; however, this also puts a greater
demand on our working capital and working capital requirements during the second, third and fourth fiscal quarters
based on timing of payments to growers in the second through fourth quarters.

Historically, due to the concentration of sales to certain distributors, our month-to-month and quarter-to-quarter
sales and associated cash receipts are highly dependent upon the timing of deliveries to and payments from these
distributors, which varies significantly from year to year.

We continuously monitor and evaluate our credit policies with all of our customers based on historical collection
experience, current economic and market conditions and a review of the current status of the respective trade
accounts receivable balance. Our principal working capital components include cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, inventory, prepaid expense and other current assets, accounts payable and our working capital lines of
credit.

In addition to funding our business with cash from operations, we have historically relied upon occasional sales of
our debt and equity securities and credit facilities from financial institutions, both in the United States and South
Australia.

In recent periods, we have consummated the following equity and debt financings:

Outstanding Debt Financings
KeyBank Credit Facility

In September 2015, we entered into a credit and security agreement (the “KeyBank Credit Facility””) with KeyBank.
Key provisions of the KeyBank Credit Facility, as amended, include:

° An aggregate principal amount that we may borrow, repay and reborrow, of up to $45.0 million in the
aggregate, subject to a requirement that we maintain a reduced loan balance of (i) not more than $20.0 million
for at least 30 consecutive days over the prior twelve months (measured each quarter on a trailing 12 month
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basis) and (ii) not more than $25.0 million for at least 60 consecutive days over the prior twelve months
(measured each quarter on a trailing 12 month basis).

o All amounts due and owing, including, but not limited to, accrued and unpaid principal and interest, will be
payable in full on December 31, 2020; provided that on or after January 15, 2020, KeyBank may deliver
notice of termination of the facility to us specifying a termination date no earlier than 30 days after the date of
the notice.

o A borrowing base of up to the total of the following: (a) 85% of eligible domestic accounts receivable, plus
(b) 90% of eligible foreign accounts receivable, plus (c) the lesser of (i) 75% of the cost eligible inventory or
(i1) 90% of the net orderly liquidation value of the inventory, plus (d) the amount of any unencumbered cash
we hold at KeyBank, minus (e ) $16 million, subject to lender reserves.

° Loans may be based on a Base Rate or Eurodollar Rate (which is increased by an applicable margin of 2.9%
per annum for Eurodollar Loans and 1.0% for Base Rate Loans) (both as defined in the KeyBank Credit
Facility), generally at our option. In the event of a default, at the option of KeyBank, the interest rate on all
obligations owing will increase by 3% per annum over the rate otherwise applicable.

o Subject to certain exceptions, the KeyBank Credit Facility is secured by a first priority perfected security
interest in all our now owned and after acquired tangible and intangible assets and our domestic subsidiaries,
which have guaranteed our obligations under the KeyBank Credit Facility. The KeyBank Credit Facility is
further secured by a lien on, and a pledge of, 65% of the stock of our wholly-owned subsidiary, S&W
Holdings Australia Pty Ltd.

° At June 30, 2019, we were in compliance with all KeyBank debt covenants.

Conterra Transaction

In November 2017, we entered into a secured note financing transaction with Conterra for $12.5 million in gross
proceeds. In the transaction, we issued two secured promissory notes to Conterra._One promissory note in the
principal amount of $10.4 million (the "Secured Real Estate Note") is secured by a first priority security interest in
the property, plant and fixtures located at our Five Points, California and Nampa, Idaho production facilities and our
Nampa, Idaho and Arlington, Wisconsin research facilities. The note matures on November 30, 2020, which, subject
to Conterra's approval, may be extended to November 30, 2022. The note bears interest of 7.75% per annum. We
have agreed to make semi-annual payments of interest and amortized principal on a 20-year amortization schedule,
for a combined payment of $0.5 million, starting July 1, 2018, in addition to a one-time interest only payment on
January 1, 2018. We may prepay the note, in whole or in part, at any time.

A second promissory note, in the principal amount of $2.1 million and secured by certain of our equipment, was
repaid in full in August 2018.

Equipment Sale-Leaseback

In August 2018, we closed on a sale-leaseback transaction with American AgCredit involving certain equipment
located at our Five Points, California and Nampa, Idaho production facilities. Under the terms of the sale-leaseback
transaction:

° We sold the equipment to American AgCredit for $2.1 million in proceeds. The proceeds were used to pay off
in full the Conterra promissory note mentioned above.

° We entered into a lease agreement with American AgCredit relating to the equipment. The lease agreement
has a five-year term and provides for monthly lease payments of $40,023 (representing an annual interest rate
of 5.6%). At the end of the lease term, we will repurchase the equipment for $1.

S&W Australia Facilities

S&W Australia has a series of debt facilities with National Australia Bank Ltd (“NAB”), all of which are guaranteed
by us. The NAB facilities and their key terms are as follows:
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° S&W Australia finances the purchase of most of its seed inventory from growers pursuant to a seasonal credit
facility comprised of two facility lines: (i) an overdraft line having a credit limit of AUD 2,000,000 (USD
$1,404,400 at June 30, 2019) and a borrowing base line having a credit limit of AUD 13,000,000 (USD
$9,128,600 at June 30, 2019). The seasonal credit facility expires on March 31, 2021. As of June 30, 2019,
AUD 12,500,632 (USD $8,777,944) was outstanding under S&W Australia’s seasonal credit facility with
NAB. The seasonal credit facility is secured by a fixed and floating lien over all the present and future rights,
property and undertakings of S&W Australia. S&W Australia was in compliance with all debt covenants
under the seasonal credit facility at June 30, 2019.

o S&W Australia financed the construction of a building on S&W Australia’s Keith, South Australia property,
purchase of adjoining land and for the machinery and equipment for use in the operations of the building
through two additional debt facilities with NAB: a business markets — flexible rate loan (the “Keith Building
Loan”) and a separate machinery and equipment facility (the “Keith Machinery and Equipment Facility”).
The Keith Building Loan matures on November 30, 2024. The interest rate on the Keith Building Loan varies
from pricing period to pricing period (each such period approximately 30 days), based on the weighted
average of a specified basket of interest rates (5.79% as of June 30, 2019). Interest is payable each month in
arrears. The Keith Machinery and Equipment Facility bears interest, payable in arrears, based on the
Australian Trade Refinance Rate quoted by NAB at the time of the drawdown, plus 2.9%. The Keith Building
Loan and Keith Machinery and Equipment Facility are secured by a lien on all the present and future rights,
property and undertakings of S&W Australia and a mortgage on S&W Australia’s Keith, South Australia
property. As of June 30, 2019, USD $330,034 and USD $525,507 was outstanding under the Keith Building
Loan and the Keith Machinery and Equipment Facility, respectively.

° S&W finances certain equipment purchases under a master asset finance facility with NAB. The master asset
finance facility has various maturity dates through 2023 and have interest rates ranging from 4.89% to 5.31%.
The credit limit under the facility is AUD 2,000,000 (USD $1,404,400) at June 30, 2019. As of June 30,
2019, AUD 412,986 (USD $289,999) was outstanding under S&W Australia’s master asset finance facility
with NAB.

S&W Australia was in compliance with all debt covenants under its debt facilities with NAB at June 30, 2019.

Equity Issuances

In July 2017, we sold and issued to certain investors an aggregate of 2,685,000 shares of our Common Stock at a
purchase price of $4.00 per share, for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $10.7 million.

In October 2017, we sold and issued to Mark W. Wong, our President and Chief Executive Officer, an aggregate of
75,000 shares of our Common Stock at a purchase price of $3.50 per share, for aggregate gross proceeds of
approximately $0.3 million.

In December 2017, we completed a rights offering of 3,500,000 shares of our Common Stock. At the closing, we
sold and issued an aggregate of 2,594,923 shares of our Common Stock at a subscription price of $3.50 per share.
Pursuant to a backstop commitment with MFP Partners, L.P. (“MFP”), concurrently with the closing of rights
offering, we sold and issued the remaining 905,077 shares of our Common Stock not purchased in the rights offering
to MFP at the subscription price of $3.50 per share. Combined, we sold and issued an aggregate of 3,500,000 shares
of our common stock for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $12.3 million.

In September 2018, we sold 1,607,717 shares of our common stock to MFP at a purchase price of $3.11 per share,
for gross proceeds of approximately $5.0 million.

In October 2018, we issued to MFP 7,235 shares of a newly designated Series A Convertible Preferred Stock at a
purchase price of $3,110 per share, for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $22.5 million. The preferred
shares carried no voting rights and were automatically convertible into shares of our common stock at the rate of
1,000 shares of common stock per preferred share upon the approval of our stockholders for the issuance of the
requisite shares of common stock. Pursuant to the purchase agreement for the preferred shares, we agreed to use
reasonable best efforts to solicit the approval of our shareholders for the issuance of stock upon the conversion of the
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preferred shares. Approval was obtained in November 2018 and the shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
converted into 7,235,000 shares of our common stock.

Summary of Cash Flows

The following table shows a summary of our cash flows for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

Years Ended June 30,

2019 2018
Cash flows from operating activities $ 21,295,831 $(22,200,241)
Cash flows from investing activities (26,565,775)  (1,436,511)
Cash flows from financing activities 4,630,925 27,342,196
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (250,073) (129,551)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash

equivalents (889,092) 3,575,893
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 4,320,894 745,001
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 3,431,802 $ 4,320,894
Operating Activities

For the year ended June 30, 2019, operating activities provided $21.3 million in cash. Net loss plus and minus the
adjustments for non-cash items as detailed on the statement of cash flows provided $24.5 million in cash, and
changes in operating assets and liabilities as detailed on the statement of cash flows used $3.2 million in cash. The
decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities was primarily driven by an increase in inventory of
$13.3 million, offset by increases in deferred revenue of $8.1 million related to the Corteva license agreement and
accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $3.1 million.

For the year ended June 30, 2018, operating activities used $22.2 million in cash. Net loss plus and minus the
adjustments for non-cash items as detailed on the statement of cash flows used $0.0 million in cash, and changes in
operating assets and liabilities as detailed on the statement of cash flows used $22.2 million in cash. The decrease in
cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities was primarily driven by increases in inventory of $29.9 million
due to an increase in production coupled with a decrease in revenue, partially offset by a decrease in accounts
receivable of $9.2 million.

Investing Activities

Investing activities during the year ended June 30, 2019 used $26.6 million in cash. The Chromatin Acquisition
accounted for $26.4 million of the cash used in investing activities. We also had additions to property, plant and
equipment of $0.7 million consisting primarily of equipment purchases for our facility in Keith, Australia and
replacements of our vehicle fleet in the US.

Investing activities during the year ended June 30, 2018 used $1.4 million in cash. These activities consisted
primarily of additions to a build out of a new research and development facility in Nampa, Idaho as well as the
acquisition of germplasm assets.

Financing Activities

Financing activities during the year ended June 30, 2019 provided $4.6 million in cash. During the year ended June
30, 2019, we completed a private placement of common stock which raised net proceeds of $4.9 million in cash and
a private placement of preferred stock which raised net proceeds of $22.4 million. During the year ended June 30,
2019, we also had net repayments on the working capital lines of credit of $21.3 million. On August 15, 2018, we
closed on a sale and leaseback transaction involving certain equipment located at our Five Points, California and
Nampa, Idaho production facilities. Under the terms of the transaction, we sold the equipment for $2.1 million in
proceeds. The proceeds were used to pay off in full the Secured Equipment Note mentioned above.
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Financing activities during the year ended June 30, 2018 provided $27.3 million in cash. We completed two separate
private placements of common stock during the year ended June 30, 2018 which raised net proceeds of $10.7
million in cash. In December 2017, we also completed the closing of our rights offering and backstop commitment
with MFP. Pursuant to the rights offering and backstop commitment with MFP, we sold and issued an aggregate of
3,500,000 shares of our common stock in December 2017 for aggregate net proceeds of $11.8 million. On
November 30, 2017, we entered into a secured note financing transaction for $12.5 million in gross proceeds. The
proceeds from the secured note financing were used to repay the Pioneer Note. The repayment amount included the
$2.5 million earn-out payment related to the Pioneer Acquisition that was added to the principal amount of the
Pioneer Note in October 2017.

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations, including our revenue and income from continuing operations. However, if our costs were to become
subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price
increases. Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements during the year ended June 30, 2019.

Capital Resources and Requirements

Our future liquidity and capital requirements will be influenced by numerous factors, including:

° the extent and duration of future operating income;

. the level and timing of future sales and expenditures;

° working capital required to support our growth;

° investment capital for plant and equipment;

° our sales and marketing programs;

° investment capital for potential acquisitions;

° our ability to renew and/or refinance our debt on acceptable terms;
o competition; and

° market developments.
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Critical Accounting Policies

The accounting policies and the use of accounting estimates are set forth in the footnotes to our consolidated
financial statements.

In preparing our financial statements, we must select and apply various accounting policies. Our most significant
policies are described in Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the footnotes to the consolidated
financial statements. In order to apply our accounting policies, we often need to make estimates based on judgments
about future events. In making such estimates, we rely on historical experience, market and other conditions, and on
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable. However, the estimation process is by its nature uncertain given that
estimates depend on events over which we may not have control. If market and other conditions change from those
that we anticipate, our results of operations, financial condition and changes in financial condition may be materially
affected. In addition, if our assumptions change, we may need to revise our estimates, or to take other corrective
actions, either of which may also have a material effect on our results of operations, financial condition or changes
in financial condition. Members of our senior management have discussed the development and selection of our
critical accounting estimates, and our disclosure regarding them, with the audit committee of our board of directors,
and do so on a regular basis.

We believe that the following estimates have a higher degree of inherent uncertainty and require our most significant
judgments. In addition, had we used estimates different from any of these, our results of operations, financial
condition or changes in financial condition for the current period could have been materially different from those
presented.

Goodwill

Goodwill is assessed annually for impairment or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that
would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit. The Company adopted Accounting Standards
Update No. 2017-04, Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment ("ASU 2017-04") effective July 1, 2018. This
standard eliminates Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. Instead, the Company performs its annual or interim
goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount and recognize an
impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit's fair value, not to
exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit.

During the fourth quarter of the year ended June 30, 2019, we terminated our production and distribution agreements
with Pioneer, thereby triggering a potential indicator of goodwill impairment. As a result, we initiated a goodwill
impairment test for the year ended June 30, 2019.

We compared the carrying value of our invested capital to estimated fair values at June 30, 2019. We estimated the
fair value based on the income approach. The discounted cash flows served as the primary basis for the income
approach and were based on discrete financial forecasts developed by management. Cash flows beyond the discrete
forecast period of ten years were estimated using the perpetuity growth method calculation. The income approach
valuation included estimated weighted average cost of capital, which was 10.6%.

Upon completing the impairment test, we determined that the fair value of invested capital was less than the carrying
value by approximately 10%, thus indicating an impairment. We recognized a goodwill impairment charge of $11.9
million for the year ended June 30, 2019, which represented the entire goodwill balance prior to the impairment
charge.

Intangible Assets

All amortizable intangible assets are assessed for impairment whenever events indicate a possible loss. Such an
assessment involves estimating undiscounted cash flows over the remaining useful life of the intangible. If the
review indicates that undiscounted cash flows are less than the recorded value of the intangible asset, the carrying
amount of the intangible is compared to its fair value, with an impairment loss recognized if the fair value is below
carrying value. Fair values are typically estimated using discounted cash flow techniques. Significant changes in key
assumptions about the business, market conditions and prospects for which the intangible asset is currently utilized
or expected to be utilized could result in an impairment charge.
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In conjunction with the termination of the Pioneer production and distribution agreements, we recorded a $6.0
million impairment charge of intangible assets related to the Pioneer distribution agreements for the year ended June
30, 2019.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718
Stock Compensation, which establishes accounting for equity instruments exchanged for employee services. Under
such provisions, stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date, based on the calculated fair value of
the award, and is recognized as an expense, under the straight-line method, over the employee’s requisite service
period (generally the vesting period of the equity grant).

We account for equity instruments, including stock options issued to non-employees, in accordance with
authoritative guidance for equity-based payments to non-employees (FASB ASC 505-50). Stock options issued to
non-employees are accounted for at their estimated fair value. The fair value of options granted to non-employees is
re-measured as they vest.

We utilize the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model to estimate the fair value of options granted under share-
based compensation plans. The Black-Scholes-Merton model requires us to estimate a variety of factors including,
but not limited to, the expected term of the award, stock price volatility, dividend rate, risk-free interest rate. The
input factors to use in the valuation model are based on subjective future expectations combined with management
judgment. The expected term used represents the weighted-average period that the stock options are expected to be
outstanding. We have used the historical volatility for our stock for the expected volatility assumption required in
the model, as it is more representative of future stock price trends. We use a risk-free interest rate that is based on
the implied yield available on U.S. Treasury issued with an equivalent remaining term at the time of grant. We have
not paid dividends in the past and currently do not plan to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future, and as such,
dividend yield is assumed to be zero for the purposes of valuing the stock options granted. We evaluate the
assumptions used to value stock awards on a quarterly basis. If factors change, and we employ different
assumptions, share-based compensation expense may differ significantly from what we have recorded in the past.
When there are any modifications or cancellations of the underlying unvested securities, we may be required to
accelerate, increase or cancel any remaining unearned share-based compensation expense. To the extent that we
grant additional equity securities to employees, our share-based compensation expense will be increased by the
additional unearned compensation resulting from those additional grants.

Income Taxes

We regularly assess the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income. To the
extent management believes that it is more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will not be realized, a valuation
allowance is established. When a valuation allowance is established or increased, an income tax charge is included
in the consolidated financial statements and net deferred tax assets are adjusted accordingly. Changes in tax laws,
statutory tax rates and estimates of our future taxable income levels could result in actual realization of the deferred
tax assets being materially different from the amounts provided for in the consolidated financial statements. If the
actual recovery amount of the deferred tax asset is less than anticipated, we would be required to write-off the
remaining deferred tax asset and increase the tax provision, resulting in a reduction of earnings and stockholders’
equity.

Inventories

All inventories are accounted for on a lower of cost or net realizable value. Inventories consist of raw materials and
finished goods. Depending on market conditions, the actual amount received on sale could differ from our estimated
value of inventory. In order to determine the value of inventory at the balance sheet date, we evaluate a number of
factors to determine the adequacy of provisions for inventory. The factors include the age of inventory, the amount
of inventory held by type, future demand for products and the expected future selling price we expect to realize by
selling the inventory. Our estimates are judgmental in nature and are made at a point in time, using available
information, expected business plans and expected market conditions. We perform a review of our inventory by
product line on a quarterly basis.
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Our subsidiary, S&W Australia, does not fix the final price for seed payable to its growers until the completion of a
given year’s sales cycle pursuant to its standard contract production agreement. We record an estimated unit price
accordingly, inventory, cost of revenue and gross profits are based upon management’s best estimate of the final
purchase price to our S&W Australia growers. To the extent the estimated purchase price varies from the final
purchase price for seed, the adjustment to actual could materially impact the results in the period when the
difference between estimates and actuals are identified. If the actual purchase price is in excess of our estimated
purchase price, this would negatively impact our financial results including a reduction in gross profits and earnings.

During the fourth quarter of the year ended June 30, 2019, we recognized a write-down of inventory in the amount
of $8.8 million, which is included in Cost of Revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. $4.8 million of
this write-down related to dormant alfalfa seed products. The termination of the distribution and production
agreements with Pioneer altered our planned consumption of these varieties and as a result we determined this
particular dormant seed inventory will need to be sold to alternative sales channels at lower selling prices. The
remaining inventory write-down primarily relates to changes in our assessment of the future market prices for non-
dormant alfalfa seed varieties. The changes in our assessment occurred as we updated our business plans taking into
account activity during the fourth quarter, which is the height of the sales season for non-dormant varieties.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We regularly assess the collectability of receivables and provide an allowance for doubtful trade receivables equal to
the estimated uncollectible amounts. That estimate is based on historical collection experience, current economic
and market conditions and a review of the current status of each customer’s trade accounts receivable. Our estimates
are judgmental in nature and are made at a point in time. Management believes the allowance for doubtful accounts
is appropriate to cover anticipated losses in our accounts receivable under current conditions; however, unexpected,
significant deterioration in any of the factors mentioned above or in general economic conditions could materially
change these expectations.

Item 7A.  Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Market Risk

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide information typically disclosed under this item.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Stockholders and the Board of Directors of S&W Seed Company
Sacramento, California

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of S&W Seed Company (the "Company") as of
June 30, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss),
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended June 30, 2019, and the related
notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended June 30, 2019, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent
with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform,
an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, in fiscal year 2019, the Company adopted new

accounting guidance related to revenue recognition pursuant to ASC Topic 606. Our opinion is not modified with
respect to this matter.

/s/ Crowe LLP
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2015.

San Francisco, California
September 18, 2019
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S&W SEED COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Assets held for sale
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangibles, net
Goodwill
Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Deferred revenue
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Lines of credit, net
Current portion of long-term debt, net
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long-term debt, net, less current portion
Other non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized;
no shares issued and outstanding
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized,

33,303,218 issued and 33,278,218 outstanding at June 30, 2019
24,367,906 issued and 24,342,906 outstanding at June 30, 2018

Treasury stock, at cost, 25,000 shares
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Noncontrolling interests
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018
$  3431,802 $ 4,320,894
13,380,464 13,861,932
71,295,520 60,419,276
1,687,490 1,279,794
1,850,000 —
91,645,276 79,881,896
20,634,949 13,180,132
32,714,484 33,109,780
— 10,292,265
1,369,560 1,303,135
$§ 146,364,269 $ 137,767,208
$ 6,930,829 $ 5,935,454
9,054,549 212,393
6,073,110 3,114,799
10,755,548 32,630,559
1,113,502 503,012
33,927,538 42,396,217
12,158,095 12,977,087
280,424 651,780
46,366,057 56,025,084
33,303 24,367
(134,196) (134,196)
136,751,875 108,803,991
(30,466,618) (21,161,376)
(6,138,467) (5,790,662)
(47,685) —
99,998,212 81,742,124
$§ 146,364,269 $§ 137,767,208




S&W SEED COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended June 30,
2019 2018
Revenue
Product and other $ 75,507,078 64,085,510
Licensing 34,215,433 —
Total revenue 109,722,511 64,085,510
Cost of revenue
Product and other 69,014,490 49,332,052
Total cost of revenue 69,014,490 49,332,052
Gross profit 40,708,021 14,753,458
Operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses 17,486,071 10,503,020
Research and development expenses 6,272,758 3,887,723
Depreciation and amortization 4,128,546 3,439,287
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (86,222) (82,980)
Goodwill impairment charges 11,865,811 —
Intangible asset impairment charges 6,034,792 —
Total operating expenses 45,701,756 17,747,050
Loss from operations (4,993,735) (2,993,592)
Other expense
Foreign currency gain (99,467) (12,584)
Change in derivative warrant liabilities — (431,300)
Change in estimated value of assets held for sale 1,521,855 —
Reduction of anticipated loss on sub-lease land (141,373) —
Interest expense - amortization of debt discount 340,847 169,045
Interest expense 2,886,077 1,863,288
Loss before income taxes (9,501,674) (4,582,041)
Provision for income taxes (148,747) 143,049
Net loss $  (9,352,927) (4,725,090)
Net loss attributed to noncontrolling interests (47,685) —
Net loss attributable to S&W Seed Company $  (9,305,242) (4,725,090)
Net loss attributable to S&W Seed Company per common share:
Basic $ (0.31) (0.21)
Diluted $ (0.31) (0.21)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic 30,102,158 22,481,491
Diluted 30,102,158 22,481,491

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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S&W SEED COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Years Ended June 30,
2019 2018
Net loss $ (9,352,927) $ (4,725,090)
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of income taxes (347,805) (252,277)
Comprehensive loss $ (9,700,732) $ (4,977,367)
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (47,685)
Comprehensive loss attributable to S&W Seed Company $ (9,653,047) $ (4,977,367)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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S&W SEED COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended June 30,

2019 2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss $ (9,352,927) $ (4,725,090)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss from operating activities to net
cash provided by (used) in operating activities

Stock-based compensation 694,610 748,516
Change in allowance for doubtful accounts 996,461 78,980
Inventory write-down 8,822,103 482,250
Depreciation and amortization 4,128,546 3,439,287
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (86,222) (82,980)
Goodwill impairment charges 11,865,811 —
Intangible asset impairment charges 6,034,792 —
Change in deferred tax provision (270,083) —
Change in foreign exchange contracts (52,778) 272,801
Change in derivative warrant liabilities — (431,300)
Change in estimated value of assets held for sale 1,521,855 —
Amortization of debt discount 340,847 169,045
Reduction of anticipated loss on sub-lease land (141,373) —
Changes in:
Accounts receivable 307,209 9,207,302
Inventories (13,331,376) (29,860,271)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (413,751) (241,394)
Other non-current asset 203,132 259,683
Accounts payable (830,718) (1,052,624)
Accounts payable - related parties — (336,494)
Deferred revenue 8,069,734 (456,643)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 3,114,523 307,500
Other non-current liabilities (324,564) 21,191
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 21,295,831 (22,200,241)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to property, plant and equipment (735,316) (1,187,307)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 567,492 45,830
Additions to internal use software (43,000) —
Acquisition of germplasm assets — (295,034)
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired (26,354,951) —
Net cash used in investing activities (26,565,775) (1,436,511)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from sale of common stock 4,927,682 22,459,339
Net proceeds from sale of preferred stock 22,373,842 —
Taxes paid related to net share settlements of stock-based compensation awards (39,314) (115,319)
Borrowings and repayments on lines of credit, net (21,289,159) 5,439,382
Payment of contingent consideration obligation — (2,500,000)
Borrowings of long-term debt 2,359,431 12,590,318
Debt issuance costs (411,315) (257,964)
Repayments of long-term debt (3,290,242) (10,273,560)
Net cash provided by financing activities 4,630,925 27,342,196
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH (250,073) (129,551)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS (889,092) 3,575,893
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of the period $ 4,320,894 $ 745,001
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of period $ 3,431,802 § 4,320,894

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid (received) during the period for:
Interest $ 2,945,034 § 1,830,277
Income taxes 69,713 (150,139)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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S&W SEED COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - BACKGROUND AND ORGANIZATION
Organization

S&W Seed Company, a Nevada corporation (the “Company’), began as S&W Seed Company, a general
partnership, in 1980 and was originally in the business of breeding, growing, processing and selling alfalfa seed. We
then incorporated a corporation with the same name in Delaware in October 2009, which is the successor entity to
Seed Holding, LLC, having purchased a majority interest in the general partnership between June 2008 and
December 2009. Following the Company’s initial public offering in May 2010, the Company purchased the
remaining general partnership interests and became the sole owner of the general partnership’s original business.
Seed Holding, LLC remains a consolidated subsidiary of the Company.

In December 2011, the Company reincorporated in Nevada as a result of a statutory short-form merger of the
Delaware corporation into its wholly-owned subsidiary, S&W Seed Company, a Nevada corporation.

On April 1, 2013, the Company, together with its wholly-owned subsidiary, S&W Holdings Australia Pty Ltd, an
Australia corporation (f/k/a S&W Seed Australia Pty Ltd “S&W Holdings”), consummated an acquisition of all of
the issued and outstanding shares of Seed Genetics International Pty Ltd, an Australia corporation (“SGI”), from
SGI’s shareholders. In April 2018, SGI changed its name to S&W Seed Company Australia Pty Ltd (“S&W
Australia”).

On September 19, 2018, the Company and AGT Foods Africa Proprietary Limited (“AGT”) formed a venture based
in South Africa named SeedVision Proprietary Limited (“SeedVision”). SeedVision will leverage AGT's African-
based production and processing facilities to produce S&W's hybrid sunflower, grain sorghum, and forage sorghum
to be sold by SeedVision in the African continent, Middle East countries, and Europe.

Business Overview

Since its establishment, the Company, including its predecessor entities, has been principally engaged in breeding,
growing, processing and selling agricultural seeds, primarily alfalfa seed. The Company owns seed cleaning and
processing facilities, which are located in Five Points, California, Nampa, Idaho, Dumas, Texas, New Deal, Texas
and Keith, South Australia. The Company’s seed products are primarily grown under contract by farmers. The
Company began its stevia initiative in fiscal year 2010 and is currently focused on breeding improved varieties of
stevia and developing marketing and distribution programs for its stevia products.

The Company has also been actively engaged in expansion initiatives through a combination of organic growth and
strategic acquisitions, including in December 31, 2014, when the Company purchased certain alfalfa research and
production facilities and conventional (non-GMO) alfalfa germplasm assets and assumed certain related liabilities
(“the Pioneer Acquisition”) of Pioneer Hi-Bred International, Inc. (“Pioneer”).

The Company had a long-term distribution agreement with Pioneer regarding conventional (non-GMO) varieties,
and a production agreement with Pioneer (relating to GMO-traited varieties). These agreements were terminated on
May 20, 2019. See Note 3 for further discussion.

In May 2016, the Company acquired the assets and business of SV Genetics, a private Australian company
specializing in the breeding and licensing of proprietary hybrid sorghum and sunflower seed germplasm, which
represented the Company’s initial effort to diversify its product portfolio beyond alfalfa seed and stevia.

In October 2018, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Chromatin, Inc., a U.S.-based sorghum
genetics and seed company, as part of the Company's efforts to expand its penetration into the hybrid sorghum
market.

The Company’s operations span the world’s alfalfa seed production regions with operations in the San Joaquin and
Imperial Valleys of California, Texas, five other U.S. states, Australia, and three provinces in Canada, and the
Company sells its seed products in more than 30 countries around the globe.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of S&W Seed Company and its subsidiaries. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The consolidated financial
statements were prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and include the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of
all wholly-owned subsidiaries and majority-owned subsidiaries over which the Company's exercises control.
Outside stockholders' interests in subsidiaries are shown on the condensed consolidated financial statements as
Noncontrolling interests.

The Company owns 50.1% of SeedVision, which is a variable interest entity as defined in ASC §10-

10, Consolidation, because no substantive equity contributions have been made to it, and SeedVision is being
funded through advances, as needed, from its investors. The Company has concluded that it is the primary
beneficiary of SeedVision because it has the power, through a tie-breaking vote on the board of directors, to direct
the sales and marketing activities of SeedVision, which are considered to be the activities that have the greatest
impact on the future economic performance of SeedVision.

The Company owns 51.0% of Sorghum Solutions South Africa, which is a variable interest entity as defined in ASC
810-10, Consolidation, because no substantive equity contributions have been made to it, and Sorghum Solutions
South Africa is being funded through advances, as needed, from its investors. The Company has concluded that it is
the primary beneficiary of Sorghum Solutions South Africa because it has the power, through a tie-breaking vote on
the board of directors, to direct the sales and marketing activities of Sorghum Solutions South Africa, which are
considered to be the activities that have the greatest impact on the future economic performance of Sorghum
Solutions South Africa.

Because the Company is its primary beneficiary, SeedVision's and Sorghum Solutions South Africa’s financial
results are included in these financial statements. We have recorded a combined $0.6 million of current assets
(restricted) and $0.2 million of current liabilities (nonrecourse) for these entities in our consolidated balance sheet as
of June 30, 2019.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Estimates are
adjusted to reflect actual experience when necessary. Significant estimates and assumptions affect many items in the
financial statements. These include allowance for doubtful trade receivables, inventory valuation, asset impairments,
provisions for income taxes, grower accruals (an estimate of amounts payable to farmers who grow seed for the
Company), contingent consideration obligations, derivative liabilities, contingencies and litigation. Significant
estimates and assumptions are also used to establish the fair value and useful lives of depreciable tangible and
certain intangible assets, goodwill as well as valuing stock-based compensation. Actual results may differ from those
estimates and assumptions, and such results may affect income, financial position or cash flows.

Certain Risks and Concentrations

The Company’s revenue is principally derived from the sale of seed, the market for which is highly competitive. The
Company depends on a core group of significant customers. One customer accounted for 65% of its revenue for the
year ended June 30, 2019. One customer accounted for 62% of its revenue for the year ended June 30, 2018.

One customer accounted for 19% of the Company’s accounts receivable at June 30, 2019. One customer accounted
for 35% of the Company’s accounts receivable at June 30, 2018.

The Company sells a substantial portion of its products to international customers. Sales to international markets

represented 20% and 35% of revenue during the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The net book
value of fixed assets located outside the United States was 11% and 20% of total fixed assets at June 30, 2019 and
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June 30, 2018, respectively. Cash balances located outside of the United States may not be insured and totaled
$236,822 and $369,803 at June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018, respectively.

The following table shows revenue from external sources by destination country:

Years Ended June 30,
2019 2018
United States $ 88,176,809 80% $41,662,556 65%
Saudi Arabia 4,745,993 4% 1,461,368 2%
Australia 2,787,128 3% 1,242,957 2%
Libya 2,629,750 2% 936,423 1%
Mexico 2,264,827 2% 4,932,105 8%
Pakistan 1,009,120 1% 5,856 0%
Egypt 965,269 1% 284,760 0%
Peru 905,580 1% 1,844,898 3%
France 845,172 1% 220,919 0%
Argentina 841,969 1% 2,748,492 4%
Other 4,550,893 4% 8,745,176 15%
Total $109,722,511 100% $64,085,510 100%

International Operations

The Company translates its foreign operations’ assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies into U.S.
dollars at the current rates of exchange as of the balance sheet date and income and expense items at the average
exchange rate for the reporting period. Translation adjustments resulting from exchange rate fluctuations are
recorded in the cumulative translation account, a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
Gains or losses from foreign currency transactions are included in the consolidated statement of operations.

Revenue Recognition

The Company adopted the provisions of ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("Topic 606") as
of July 1, 2018. See Note 4 for further discussion.

Cost of Revenue

The Company records purchasing and receiving costs, inspection costs and warehousing costs in cost of revenue.
When the Company is required to pay for outward freight and/or the costs incurred to deliver products to its
customers, the costs are included in cost of revenue.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For financial statement presentation purposes, the Company considers time deposits, certificates of deposit and all
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash and cash equivalents. At times,
cash and cash equivalents balances exceed amounts insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

Accounts Receivable

The Company provides an allowance for doubtful trade receivables equal to the estimated uncollectible amounts.
That estimate is based on historical collection experience, current economic and market conditions and a review of
the current status of each customer’s trade accounts receivable. The allowance for doubtful trade receivables was
$1,576,900 and $584,202 at June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018, respectively.
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Inventories

Inventories consist of seed and packaging materials.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, and an inventory reserve permanently reduces the
cost basis of inventory. Inventories are valued as follows: Actual cost is used to value raw materials such as
packaging materials, as well as goods in process. Costs for substantially all finished goods, which include the cost of
carryover crops from the previous year, are valued at actual cost. Actual cost for finished goods includes plant
conditioning and packaging costs, direct labor and raw materials and manufacturing overhead costs based on normal
capacity. The Company records abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and wasted
material (spoilage) as current period charges and allocates fixed production overhead to the costs of finished goods
based on the normal capacity of the production facilities.

The Company’s subsidiary, S&W Australia, does not fix the final price for seed payable to its growers until the
completion of a given year’s sales cycle pursuant to its standard contract production agreement. S&W Australia
records an estimated unit price; accordingly, inventory, cost of revenue and gross profits are based upon
management’s best estimate of the final purchase price to growers.

Inventory is periodically reviewed to determine if it is marketable, obsolete or impaired. Inventory that is
determined to be obsolete or impaired is written off to expense at the time the impairment is identified. Inventory
quality is a function of germination percentage. Our experience has shown that our alfalfa seed quality tends to be
stable under proper storage conditions; therefore, we do not view inventory obsolescence for alfalfa seed as a
material concern. Hybrid crops (sorghum and sunflower) seed quality may be affected by warehouse storage pests
such as insects and rodents. The Company maintains a strict pest control program to mitigate risk and maximize
hybrid seed quality.

During the fourth quarter of the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company recognized a write-down of inventory in the
amount of $8.8 million, which is included in Cost of Revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. $4.8
million of this write-down related to dormant alfalfa seed products. The termination of the distribution and
production agreements with Pioneer altered the Company’s planned consumption of these varieties and as a result
the Company determined this particular dormant seed inventory will need to be sold to alternative sales channels at
lower selling prices. The remaining inventory write-down primarily relates to changes in the Company’s assessment
of the future market prices for non-dormant alfalfa seed varieties. The changes in the Company’s assessment
occurred as it updated its business plans taking into account activity during the fourth quarter, which is the height of
the sales season for non-dormant varieties.

Components of inventory are:

June 30,2019 June 30, 2018

Raw materials and supplies $ 664,541 $ 344,620
Work in progress 5,664,934 2,775,398
Finished goods 64,966,045 57,299,258

$71,295,520 $60,419,276

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset
- periods of 5-35 years for buildings, 2-20 years for machinery and equipment, and 2-5 years for vehicles.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired in business acquisitions are reported at their initial fair value less accumulated
amortization. Intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the
asset. Periods of 10-30 years for technology/IP/germplasm, 5-20 years for customer relationships and trade names
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and 3-20 for other intangible assets. The weighted average estimated useful lives are 26 years for
technology/IP/germplasm, 17 years for customer relationships, 18 years for trade names and 19 years for other
intangible assets.

Goodwill

Goodwill originated from acquisitions of Imperial Valley Seeds, Inc. (“IVS”) and S&W Australia in fiscal year
2013, the acquisition of the alfalfa business from Pioneer in fiscal year 2015, the acquisition of assets of SV
Genetics in fiscal year 2016 and acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Chromatin, Inc. in fiscal year 2019.

Goodwill is assessed at least annually, or when certain triggering events occur, for impairment using fair value
measurement techniques. These events could include a significant change in the business climate, legal factors, a
decline in operating performance, competition, sale or disposition of a significant portion of the business, or other
factors. The Company first assesses qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair
value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill. If management concludes that it is
more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, management conducts a
quantitative goodwill impairment test. The goodwill impairment test is used to identify potential impairment by
comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. The Company uses market
capitalization and an estimate of a control premium to estimate the fair value of its one reporting unit as well as
discounted cash flow analysis. If the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the
reporting unit is considered not impaired. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an
impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess.

The Company performed a quantitative assessment of goodwill at June 30, 2019 and determined that goodwill was
fully impaired. See Note 6 for further information.

The Company performed a quantitative assessment of goodwill at June 30, 2018 and determined that goodwill was
not impaired.

Investment in Bioceres S.A.

The Company owns less than 1% of Bioceres, S.A., a provider of crop productivity solutions headquartered in
Argentina. The carrying value of the investment is $1.3 million at June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the investment is
included in Other Assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The Company adopted ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments — Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities beginning July 1, 2018. As such, this investment is
accounted for in accordance with ASC 321, Investments — Equity Securities. As the stock is not publicly traded, the
Company has elected to account for its investment at cost, with adjustments to fair value when there are observable
transactions that provide an indicator of fair value. In addition, If qualitative factors indicate a potential impairment,
fair value must be estimated and the investment written down to that fair value if it is lower than the carrying value.

Prior to July 1, 2018, the investment was accounted for under the cost method of accounting. Under this method, the
Company’s share of the earnings or losses of such investee companies is not included in the consolidated balance
sheet or statement of operations. However, impairment charges would have been recognized in the consolidated
statement of operations. If circumstances suggest that the value of the investee company has subsequently recovered,
such recovery is not recorded.

No adjustments for impairment or observable transactions were made in fiscal years 2019 or 2018.

Research and Development Costs

The Company is engaged in ongoing research and development (“R&D”) of proprietary seed and stevia varieties.
All R&D costs must be charged to expense as incurred. Accordingly, internal R&D costs are expensed as incurred.
Third-party R&D costs are expensed when the contracted work has been performed or as milestone results have
been achieved. The costs associated with equipment or facilities acquired or constructed for R&D activities that
have alternative future uses are capitalized and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of
the asset.
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Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial statement and tax basis
of assets and liabilities, as well as a consideration of net operating loss and credit carry forwards, using enacted tax
rates in effect for the period in which the differences are expected to impact taxable income. A valuation allowance
is established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.
The Company’s effective tax rate for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 has been affected by the valuation
allowance on the Company’s deferred tax assets.

Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share Data

Basic net income (loss) per common share ("EPS"), is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period.

Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting both the numerator (net income (loss)) and the denominator (weighted-
average number of shares outstanding) for the dilutive effects of potentially dilutive securities, including options,
restricted stock awards, convertible debt and common stock warrants.

The treasury stock method is used for common stock warrants, stock options, and restricted stock awards. Under this
method, consideration that would be received upon exercise (as well as remaining compensation cost to be
recognized for awards not yet vested) is assumed to be used to repurchase shares of stock in the market, with net
number of shares assumed to be issued added to the denominator.

The calculation of Basic and Diluted EPS is shown in the table below.

Years Ended June 30,
2019 2018

Numerator:
Net loss attributable to S&W Seed Company $(9,305,242) $ (4,725,090)
Numerator for basis EPS (9,305,242)  (4,725,090)
Effect of dilutive securities:

Warrants
Numerator for diluted EPS $(9,305,242) $ (4,725,090)
Denominator:
Denominator for basic EPS-weighted- average

shares 30,102,158 22,481,491

Effect of dilutive securities:

Employee stock options

Employee restricted stock units — —

Warrants — —
Dilutive potential common shares — —
Denominator for diluted EPS - adjusted weighted

average shares and assumed conversions 30,102,158 22,481,491
Basic EPS $ (0.31) § (0.21)
Diluted EPS $ 0.31) § (0.21)

The effects of employee stock options and stock units, and warrants are excluded because they would be anti-
dilutive due to the Company’s net loss.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment annually or more often if events and circumstances
warrant. Events relating to recoverability may include significant unfavorable changes in business conditions,
recurring losses or a forecasted inability to achieve break-even operating results over an extended period. The
Company evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets based upon forecasted undiscounted cash flows. Should
impairment in value be indicated, the carrying value of long-lived assets will be adjusted, based on estimates of
future discounted cash flows resulting from the use and ultimate disposition of the asset. Refer to Note 3 and Note 6
for impairment discussion.

Derivative Financial Instruments
Foreign Exchange Contracts

The Company’s subsidiary, S&W Australia, is exposed to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations in the normal
course of its business, which the Company at times manages through the use of foreign currency forward contracts.

The Company has entered into certain derivative financial instruments (specifically foreign currency forward
contracts), and accounts for these instruments in accordance with ASC Topic 815, “Derivatives and Hedging”,
which establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that derivative instruments be recorded on the
balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at fair value. The Company’s foreign currency contracts are not
designated as hedging instruments under ASC 815; accordingly, changes in the fair value are recorded in current
period earnings.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company discloses assets and liabilities that are recognized and measured at fair value, presented in a three-tier
fair value hierarchy, as follows:

° Level 1. Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets;

° Level 2. Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly;
and

° Level 3. Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to

develop its own assumptions.

The assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Chromatin acquisition were valued at fair value on a non-recurring
basis as of October 25, 2018.

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable, short-term and all long-term borrowings, as
reflected in the consolidated balance sheets, approximate fair value because of the short-term maturity of these
instruments or interest rates commensurate with market rates. There have been no changes in operations and/or
credit characteristics since the date of issuance that could impact the relationship between interest rate and market
rates.

Assets and liabilities that are recognized and measured at fair value on a recurring basis are categorized as follows:

Fair Value Measurements as of
June 30, 2019 Using:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Foreign exchange contract liability $ — § 42255 § —
Total $ — $§ 42255 § —
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Fair Value Measurements as of
June 30, 2018 Using:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Foreign exchange contract liability $ — §$ 100,138 $ —
Total $ — $ 100,138 $ —

During the years ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018, a change in derivative warrant liability of $0 and $431,300
were recorded in earnings, respectively. Upon expiration of the round-down pricing protection on December 31,
2017, the warrants were reclassified from derivative warrant liabilities to equity.

During the years ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018, there was no change in the contingent consideration
obligations. The DuPont contingent consideration was settled on December 1, 2017.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

The Company adopted Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-04, Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment
("ASU 2017-04") effective July 1, 2018. This standard eliminates Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. Instead,
an entity should perform its annual or interim goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting
unit with its carrying amount and recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount
exceeds the reporting unit's fair value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. The
new guidance was applied during the goodwill impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2019. See Note 6.

The Company adopted Topic 606 as of July 1, 2018. This ASC topic outlines a single comprehensive model for
entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most previously
existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP. The core principle of Topic 606 is that an entity should
recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

The Company adopted Topic 606 using the modified retrospective approach. The adoption did not result in a
cumulative effect adjustment as of July 1, 2018.

The adoption of Topic 606 had a significant effect on the Company's accounting for its distribution and production
agreements with Pioneer for the year ended June 30, 2019. There were no other changes in the Company's
accounting as a result of the adoption of Topic 606.

The change in the accounting for the distribution and production agreements with Pioneer arose from the provisions
of Topic 606 regarding the determination of whether a performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time or over
time. Under those provisions, a performance obligation is considered to be satisfied over time if the company's
performance creates an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or the work to satisfy the
performance obligation does not create an asset with alternative future use to the vendor and the customer has an
obligation to pay for work completed. Under the agreements, Pioneer submitted a demand plan to the Company in
advance of the growing season specifying the amount of seed that it intended to order for the upcoming sales year.
Once the demand plan was submitted, Pioneer could not cancel or reduce the amount of seed that it was obligated to
purchase under the agreements. In addition, the Company was not permitted to sell products produced for Pioneer
under the agreements to other customers. Therefore, under Topic 606, the performance obligation was satisfied, and
revenue was recognized, over time, as the Company took delivery of, processed, and packaged the seed.

Prior to the adoption of Topic 606, revenue related to the Pioneer agreement was recognized when seed was
delivered to Pioneer. Costs incurred to purchase and process seed were capitalized as inventory until the product was
delivered. As the Company adopted Topic 606 using the modified retrospective approach, figures for fiscal 2018
have not been adjusted and continue to reflect the prior accounting policies.
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The change in accounting for the Pioneer contract did not result in a cumulative effect adjustment, because all seed
produced for Pioneer in previous growing seasons had been delivered, and revenue recognized, prior to July 1, 2018,
and no seed had been received prior to July 1, 2018 related to the current growing season. However, the change did
not materially affect the amount of revenue and costs recognized for the year ended June 30, 2019. The effects of the
new accounting for the Pioneer contracts on the Company's financial statements are shown below:

Revenue
Product and other
Licensing
Total revenue
Cost of revenue
Product and other
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Goodwill impairment charges
Intangible asset impairment charges
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other expense
Foreign currency gain
Change in estimated value of assets held for sale
Reduction of anticipated loss on sub-lease land
Interest expense - amortization of debt discount
Interest expense
Loss before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss

Net loss attributed to noncontrolling interests
Net loss attributable to S&W Seed Company

Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:

Basic
Diluted
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Year Ended
June 30, 2019
Balances
Without
Adoption of
As Reported Adjustments ASC 606
$ 75,507,078 $ (1,837,392) $ 73,669,686
34,215,433 — 34,215,433
109,722,511 (1,837,392) 107,885,119
69,014,490 (1,522,606) 67,491,884
69,014,490 (1,522,606) 67,491,884
40,708,021 (314,786) 40,393,235
17,486,071 - 17,486,071
6,272,758 - 6,272,758
4,128,546 - 4,128,546
(86,222) - (86,222)
11,865,811 - 11,865,811
6,034,792 - 6,034,792
45,701,756 - 45,701,756
(4,993,735) (314,786)  (5,308,521)
(99,467) - (99,467)
1,521,855 - 1,521,855
(141,373) - (141,373)
340,847 - 340,847
2,886,077 - 2,886,077
(9,501,674) (314,786)  (9,816,460)
(148,747) (1,864) (150,611)
$ (9,352,927) (312,922) $ (9,665,849)
(47,685) - -

$ (9,305,242)

(312,922)

(9,665,849)

$ 0.31) $ (0.01) (0.32)

$ 031) $ (0.01) (0.32)
30,102,158 ~ 30,102,158
30,102,158 -~ 30,102,158




ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Assets held for sale
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangibles, net
Goodwill
Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable

Deferred revenue

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Lines of credit, net

Current portion of long-term debt, net

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

Long-term debt, net, less current portion

Other non-current liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares
authorized; no shares issued and outstanding

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 50,000,000 shares
authorized; 33,303,218 issued and 33,278,218

outstanding at June 30, 2019; 24,367,906 issued and

24,342,906 outstanding at June 30, 2018;
Treasury stock, at cost, 25,000 shares
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Noncontrolling interests
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS'
EQUITY

June 30, 2019

Balances Without
Adoption of ASC
As Reported Adjustments 606
$ 3,431,802 $ — $ 3,431,802
13,380,464 (1,837,392) 11,543,072
71,295,520 1,522,606 72,818,126
1,687,490 1,864 1,689,354
1,850,000 — 1,850,000
91,645,276 (312,922) 91,332,354
20,634,949 — 20,634,949
32,714,484 — 32,714,484
1,369,560 — 1,369,560
$ 146,364,269 $ (312,922) $ 146,051,347
$ 6,930,829 $ — $ 6,930,829
9,054,549 — 9,054,549
6,073,110 — 6,073,110
10,755,548 — 10,755,548
1,113,502 — 1,113,502
33,927,538 — 33,927,538
12,158,095 — 12,158,095
280,424 — 280,424
46,366,057 — 46,366,057
33,303 — 33,303
(134,196) — (134,196)
136,751,875 — 136,751,875
(30,466,618) (312,922) (30,779,540)
(6,138,467) — (6,138,467)
(47,685) — (47,685)
99,998,212 (312,922) 99,685,290
$ 146,364,269 $ (312,922)  § 146,051,347

Topic 606 also requires enhanced disclosures about the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenues and cash
flows arising from contracts with customers. Those disclosures can also be found in Note 4.
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Recently Issued, but Not Yet Adopted, Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02: Leases (“ASU 2016-02”). This
standard amends various aspects of existing accounting guidance for leases, including the recognition of a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be
classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern and classification of lease-related
expenses in the statements of operations and cash flows. This standard also introduces new disclosure requirements
for leasing arrangements. For public business entities, the new guidance is required to be applied in fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company adopted this
ASU and related amendments on July 1, 2019 and expects to elect certain practical expedients permitted under the
transition guidance. Additionally, the Company will elect the optional transition method that allows for a
cumulative effective adjustment in the period of adoption and will not restate prior periods. We continue to execute
on our implementation plan and gather lease data to derive the impact of the ASU on its financial statements. The
Company estimates that range of a $2.0 to $3.0 million right of use asset and related lease liability will be
recognized on the Company's consolidated balance sheet upon adoption. The Company does not expect a material
impact on its results of operations or cash flows.

NOTE 3 — PIONEER RELATIONSHIP
Distribution and Production Agreements with Pioneer

In 2014, the Company purchased from Pioneer certain assets related to alfalfa and entered into a long-term contract
to sell alfalfa seed to Pioneer under a production agreement (GMO varieties) and a distribution agreement
(conventional varieties). Under the production and distribution agreements with Pioneer, the Company grew,
processed, and delivered alfalfa seed for and to Pioneer. See Note 4 for a discussion of the recognition of revenue
under these agreements.

On May 22, 2019, the Company and Pioneer terminated the production and distribution agreements. As part of the
termination, Pioneer’s parent company, Corteva, agreed to purchase from the Company certain quantities of seed
held by the Company as of that date that Pioneer was not previously obligated to purchase. Those quantities of seed
will be delivered to Corteva periodically through February 2021.

The Company does not expect to sell any other products to Pioneer or Corteva beyond those quantities of seed.

In conjunction with the termination of the Pioneer production and distribution agreements, the Company recorded a
$6.0 million impairment charge on its intangible assets related to the Pioneer distribution agreements for the year
ended June 30, 2019. In addition, the termination of this relationship was a significant factor leading to the $11.9
million impairment of goodwill.

License Agreement with Corteva

Contemporaneously with the termination, the Company entered into a license with Corteva, under which Corteva
received a fully pre-paid, exclusive license to produce and distribute certain of the Company's alfalfa seed varieties
world-wide (except South America). The licensed seed varieties include certain of the Company's existing
commercial conventional (non-GMO) alfalfa varieties and six pre-commercial dormant alfalfa varieties. The
Company also assigned to Corteva grower production contract rights, and Corteva assumed grower production
contract obligations, related to the licensed and certain other alfalfa varieties. Corteva received no license to the
Company's other commercial alfalfa varieties or pre-commercial alfalfa pipeline products and no rights to any future
products developed by the Company.

Payments Due from Corteva and Pioneer

The Company received a payment of $45 million in May 2019 from Pioneer/Corteva, and will receive quarterly
payments through February 2021, which total approximately $25 million. Approximately $34.2 million of these
amounts referenced above has been allocated to the license to the Company’s alfalfa varieties. The $34.2 million is
reported as licensing revenue in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended June 30, 2019.
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The remaining amounts will be recognized as revenue as the seed is delivered to Corteva through February 2021.
The amount allocated to the seed represents the estimated standalone selling price of those quantities of seed,
determined based on the Company’s normal profit margin on the quantities and varieties of seed that Corteva agreed
to purchase. The Company allocated approximately $1.8 million to an unbilled receivable related to revenue
recognition at contract termination and the remainder of the payments was allocated to the license using a residual
method approach.

NOTE 4 - REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company adopted the provisions of Topic 606 as of July 1, 2018. As the Company adopted Topic 606 using the
modified retrospective approach, comparative figures have not been revised and are still reported under prior
accounting standards.

The Company derives its revenue from 1) the sale of seed, 2) milling services 3) research and development services
and 4) product licensing agreements.

The following table disaggregates the Company's revenue by type of contract':

Years Ended June 30,
2019 2018
ASC 606 ASC 605 ASC 605
Distribution and production agreements - Pioneer $ 37,605,215 $ 35,767,823 § 39,522,568
Other product sales 37,647,297 37,647,297 24,152,667
Licensing 34,215,433 34,215,433 -
Services 254,566 254,566 410,275

$ 109,722,511 $ 107,885,119 $ 64,085,510

'Fiscal year 2019 information provided under ASC 605 to provide for comparison to fiscal year 2018.

Distribution and Production Agreements with Pioneer

Under the production and distribution agreements with Pioneer, the Company grew, processed, and delivered alfalfa
seed for and to Pioneer. The Company concluded that none of the individual activities performed under these
contracts were distinct, as the customer was contracting for processed and packaged product.

Until those contracts were terminated in May 2019 (see Note 3), Pioneer submitted a demand plan to the Company
in advance of the growing season specifying the amount of seed that it intends to order for the upcoming sales year.
The Company was required to use commercially reasonable efforts to arrange for the requisite amount of seed to be
grown, processed and packaged. Once the demand plan was submitted, Pioneer was committed to at least that
amount of seed. In addition, the Company was not permitted to sell products produced for Pioneer under the
agreements to other customers. Therefore, as provided in Topic 606, the Company recognized revenue from these
agreements over time in 2019, as it incurred costs to fulfill its obligations.

To the extent the Company produced more product than Pioneer specified in its demand plan, the Company was
required to first offer such product to Pioneer. If Pioneer did not purchase such excess product, the Company was
permitted to sell the excess product to other customers subject to certain limitations.

The agreements specified prices per finished unit which were adjusted each year, up or down, based on current
market conditions, by a maximum of 4% per year. The prices for a given crop year were determined one year in
advance of the beginning of the sales season.

The Company concluded that cost was the best measure of progress under these contracts because no other measure
adequately reflected the value added to the product by each of the Company's major tasks - having the crop grown,
processing, and packaging. As the Company typically contracted out the growing of seed to third parties, the vast
majority of the Company's costs under these agreements were incurred, and therefore the vast majority of the
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revenue from such agreements was recognized, when the raw seed was purchased from the third-party contract
growers. The rest of the costs were incurred, and therefore the rest of the revenue was recognized, as the Company
processed and packaged the product. As of the date of the termination of the production and distribution agreements
with Pioneer (see Note 3), all seed covered by the active demand plan had been grown, processed and packaged.

Prior to the adoption of Topic 606, revenue from these agreements was recognized when risk and title to the product
was transferred, which generally occurred upon shipment.

Licensing

Contemporaneously with the termination in Note 3, the Company entered into a license with Corteva, under which

Corteva received a fully pre-paid, exclusive license to produce and distribute certain of the Company's alfalfa seed

varieties world-wide (except South America). The licensed seed varieties include certain of the Company's existing
commercial conventional (non-GMO) alfalfa varieties and six pre-commercial dormant alfalfa varieties.

Other Product Sales

Revenue from other product sales is recognized at the point in time at which control of the product is transferred to
the customer. Generally, this occurs upon shipment of the product. Pricing for such transactions is negotiated and
determined at the time the contracts are signed. We have elected the practical expedient that allows us to account for
shipping and handling activities as a fulfillment cost, and we accrue those costs when the related revenue is
recognized.

The Company has certain contracts with customers that offer a limited right of return on certain branded products.
The products must be in an unopened and undamaged state and must be resalable in the sole opinion of the
Company to qualify for refund. Returns are only accepted on product received by August 31% of the current sales
year. The Company uses the three-year historical returns percentage to estimate the refund liability and records a
reduction of revenue in the period in which revenue is recognized.

Services

Revenue from milling services, which are performed on the customer's product, is recognized as services are
completed and the milled product is delivered to the customer.

Revenue from research and development services is recognized over time as the services are performed. R&D
services are generally paid for in advance. In fiscal 2019, R&D revenue relates to a single contract in which the
customer may decide annually whether to continue the arrangement. Revenue is recognized straight-line over time,
as services are expected to be provided roughly evenly throughout the year.

Payment Terms and Related Balance Sheet Accounts

Accounts receivable represent amounts that are payable to the Company by its customers subject only to the passage
of time. Payment terms on invoices are generally 30 to 120 days. As the period between the transfer of goods and/or
services to the customer and receipt of payment is less than one year, the Company does not separately account for a
financing component in its contracts with customers.

Unbilled receivables represent contract assets that arise when the Company has partially performed under a contract,
but is not yet able to invoice the customer until the Company has made additional progress. Unbilled receivables
arose from the distribution and production agreements with Pioneer for which the Company recognized revenue
over time, as the Company bills for these arrangements upon product delivery, while revenue was recognized, as
described above, as costs were incurred. Unbilled receivables may arise as much as three months before billing is
expected to occur. Unbilled receivables are generally expected to be generated in the first and second fiscal quarters,
and to be billed in the second, third and fourth fiscal quarters.
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Losses on accounts receivable and unbilled receivables are recognized if and when it becomes probable that
amounts will not be paid. These losses are reversed in subsequent periods if these amounts are paid. During the year
ended June 30, 2019, the Company recognized bad debt expense of $996,461 associated with impaired accounts
receivable.

Deferred revenue represents payments received from customers in advance of completion of the Company's
performance obligation.

NOTE 5 - BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On October 25, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Chromatin, Inc.
(together with certain of its subsidiaries and affiliates in receivership, "Chromatin"), as well as the assumption of
certain contracts and limited specified liabilities of Chromatin, for an aggregate cash purchase price of
approximately $26.5 million (the "Acquisition"), pursuant to the terms of its Asset Purchase Agreement, dated
September 14, 2018, with Novo Advisors, solely in its capacity as the receiver for, and on behalf of, Chromatin
("Novo").

The acquisition expanded the Company's sorghum production capabilities, diversified its product offerings and
provided access to new distribution channels.

The Acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination, and the Company valued and recorded all assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated fair values on the date of the Acquisition.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
acquisition date of October 25, 2018:

October 25,2018

Cash and cash equivalents $ 95,049
Accounts receivable 947,015
Inventories 6,959,936
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 16,501
Property, plant and equipment 10,193,620
Assets held for sale 1,930,400
In-process research and development 380,000
Technology/IP - germplasm 7,200,000
Trade names 150,000
Goodwill 1,573,546
Current liabilities (2,881,198)
Noncurrent liabilities (114,869)
Total acquisition cost allocated $  (26,450,000)

Management determined that one of the facilities acquired as part of the Chromatin acquisition would not be
operated and is being held for sale. The components of that facility are:

Land and improvements 320,000
Buildings and improvements 1,380,000
Machinery and equipment 332,000
Less: Costs to sell (101,600)
Less: Fair value adjustment subsequently recorded (1,230,400)
Assets held for sale $ 700,000

Management expects the sale to be completed within 12 months and plans to pay down a portion of the Company's
short-term debt with the proceeds, accordingly, these held for sale assets are presented as current assets.
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The estimated fair value of accounts receivable acquired is $947,015, with the gross contractual amount totaling
$2,164,476, less $1,217,461 expected to be uncollectible. The current liabilities assumed relate to inventory acquired
in the acquisition as well as customer deposits. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets
acquired, amounting to $1,573,546, was recorded as goodwill on the consolidated balance sheet. The primary item
that generated goodwill was the premium paid by the Company for the ability to control the acquired business,
technology, and the distribution channels. Goodwill is not amortized for financial reporting purposes, but is
amortized for tax purposes.

Management assigned fair values to the identifiable intangible assets through a combination of the relief from
royalty method, the multi-period excess earnings method, and the replacement cost method. In-process research and
development costs are being accounted for as an indefinite lived intangible asset subject to impairment testing until
completion or abandonment of research and development efforts associated with the in-process projects. Upon
successful completion of each project, the Company will make a determination about the then remaining useful life
of the intangible asset and begin amortization.

The values and useful lives of the acquired intangibles are as follows:

Estimated Useful Life (Years) Estimated Fair Value

In-process research and development n/a $ 380,000
Technology/IP - germplasm 30 7,200,000
Trade names 5 150,000

Total identifiable intangible assets $ 7,730,000

The Company incurred acquisitions costs of $1,196,476 during the year ended June 30, 2019 that have been
recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of operations. The results of
the Chromatin acquisition are included in our consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition through
June 30, 2019. The revenue and net loss (including transaction costs) of Chromatin operations included in our
consolidated statements of operations were $12.4 million and $1.7 million, for the period from October 25, 2018
through June 30, 2019.

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents results as if the Acquisition occurred on July 1,
2017.

Years Ended

June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018
Revenue $ 111,359,688 $ 76,847,561
Net loss $ (11,179,299)$ (11,729,205)

For purposes of the pro forma disclosures above, the primary adjustments for the year ended June 30, 2019 include:
(1) the elimination of acquisition expenses of $1,196,476; (ii) amortization of acquired intangibles of $132,222; and
(iii) depreciation of acquired property, plant and equipment of $358,273.

For purposes of the pro forma disclosures above, the primary adjustments for the year ended June 30, 2018 include:
(1) amortization of acquired intangibles of $396,667; and (ii) depreciation of acquired property, plant and equipment
0f $1,074,780.

NOTE 6 — GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

During the fourth quarter of the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company terminated its production and distribution
agreements with Pioneer, thereby triggering a potential indicator of goodwill impairment. As a result, the Company
initiated a goodwill impairment test for the year ended June 30, 2019.

The Company compared the carrying value of its invested capital to its estimated fair values at June 30, 2019. The
Company estimated the fair value based on the income approach. The discounted cash flows served as the primary
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basis for the income approach and were based on discrete financial forecasts developed by management. Cash flows
beyond the discrete forecast period of ten years were estimated using the perpetuity growth method calculation. The
income approach valuation included estimated weighted average cost of capital, which was 10.6%.

Upon completing the impairment test, the Company determined that the fair value of invested capital was less than
the carrying value by approximately 10%, thus indicating an impairment. The Company recognized a goodwill
impairment charge of $11.9 million for the year ended June 30, 2019, which represented the entire goodwill balance
prior to the impairment charge.

The following table summarizes the activity of goodwill for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Balance at Balance at
July 1, 2018 Additions Impairment June 30, 2019
Goodwill $ 10,292,265 $ 1,573,546 $ (11,865,811) $ —
Balance at Balance at
July 1, 2017 Additions Impairment June 30, 2018
Goodwill $ 10,292,265 $ — 3 — §$ 10,292,265

For the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company recorded an impairment charge on its intangible assets of $6.0
million. Refer to Note 3 for further information.

Intangible assets consist of the following:

Balance at Balance at

July 1, 2018 Additions  Impairment Amortization June 30,2019
Trade name $ 1,159,826 $§ 150,000 $ — $ (104,480)$ 1,205,346
Customer relationships 1,156,955 — — (101,208) 1,055,747
Non-compete 62,720 — — (32,453) 30,267
GI customer list 71,639 — — (7,164) 64,475
Supply agreement 1,077,783 — — (75,629) 1,002,154
Distribution agreement 6,344,253 — (5,991,792)  (352,461) —
Grower relationships 1,753,208 — — (105,408) 1,647,800
Intellectual property 20,873,393 7,200,000 —  (1,286,925) 26,786,468
In process research and development — 380,000 — — 380,000
Internal use software 610,003 43,000 (43,000) (67,776) 542227

$33,109,780 $7,773,000 $(6,034,792) $(2,133,504) $32,714,484

Balance at Balance at
July 1,2017 Additions Impairment Amortization June 30,2018
Trade name $ 1,244,306 $ —8 —$ (84,480)$% 1,159,826
Customer relationships 1,258,163 — —  (101,208) 1,156,955
Non-compete 102,035 — — (39,315) 62,720
GI customer list 78,803 — — (7,164) 71,639
Supply agreement 1,153,415 — — (75,632) 1,077,783
Distribution agreement 6,728,753 — —  (384,500) 6,344,253
Production agreement 111,670 — —  (111,670) —
Grower relationships 1,858,616 — —  (105,408) 1,753,208
Intellectual property 21,725,539 295,034 — (1,147,180) 20,873,393
Internal use software 677,779 — — (67,776) 610,003
$34,939,079 $295,034 $ — $(2,124,333) $33,109,780
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Amortization expense totaled $2,133,504 and $2,124,333 for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Estimated aggregate remaining amortization is as follows:

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter
$1,867,303 $1,848,480 $1,848,480 §1,843,188 §$1,822,728 $23,484,305

Amortization expense

NOTE 7 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Components of property, plant and equipment were as follows:

June 30,2019 June 30, 2018

Land and improvements $ 2,150,085 $ 2,068,742
Buildings and improvements 10,018,108 8,888,196
Machinery and equipment 12,579,698 5,731,293
Vehicles 2,099,814 1,130,276
Construction in progress 66,921 220,089
Total property, plant and equipment 26,914,626 18,038,596
Less: accumulated depreciation (6,279,677) (4,858,464)
Property, plant and equipment, net $20,634,949 $13,180,132

Depreciation expense totaled $1,995,042 and $1,314,954 for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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NOTE 8 - DEBT

Total debt outstanding is presented on the consolidated balance sheet as follows:

June 30,2019 June 30, 2018

Working capital lines of credit

KeyBank $ 2,350,000 $25,050,464

National Australia Bank Limited 8,426,400 7,697,040

National Australia Bank Limited Overdraft

Facility 351,544 —

Debt issuance costs (372,396)  (116,945)
Total working capital lines of credit, net $10,755,548 $32,630,559

Current portion of long-term debt

Capital lease $ 563,087 $§ 27,241
Debt issuance costs (11,070) $ —

Keith facility (building loan) - National Australia

Bank Limited 73,731 3,701
Keith facility (machinery & equipment loans) -

National Australia Bank Limited 215,519 198,251
Unsecured subordinate promissory note 100,000 100,000
Secured real estate note - Conterra 247,942 229,789

Debt issuance costs (75,707) (76,981)
Secured equipment note - Conterra — 37,824
Debt issuance costs — (16,813)
Total current portion, net 1,113,502 503,012
Long-term debt, less current portion
Capital lease 1,709,481 —
Debt issuance costs (15,078) —
Keith facility (building loan) - National Australia

Bank Limited 256,303 421,857
Keith facility (machinery & equipment loans) -

National Australia Bank Limited 309,988 431,754
Secured real estate note - Conterra 9,922,269 10,170,211

Debt issuance costs (24,869)  (100,576)
Secured equipment note - Conterra — 2,062,176
Debt issuance costs — (8,335)
Total long-term portion, net 12,158,095 12,977,087
Total debt, net $13,271,596 $13,480,099

In September 2015, the Company entered into a credit and security agreement (the “KeyBank Credit Facility”) with
KeyBank. Key provisions of the KeyBank Credit Facility, as amended, include:

° An aggregate principal amount that the Company may borrow, repay and reborrow, of up to $45.0 million in
the aggregate, subject to a requirement that the Company maintain a reduced loan balance of (i) not more than
$20.0 million for at least 30 consecutive days over the prior twelve months (measured each quarter on a
trailing 12 month basis) and (ii) not more than $25.0 million for at least 60 consecutive days over the prior
twelve months (measured each quarter on a trailing 12 month basis).

° All amounts due and owing, including, but not limited to, accrued and unpaid principal and interest, will be
payable in full on December 31, 2020; provided that on or after January 15, 2020, KeyBank may deliver

notice of termination of the facility to the Company specifying a termination date no earlier than 30 days after
the date of the notice.
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A borrowing base of up to the total of the following: (a) 85% of eligible domestic accounts receivable, plus (b)
and 90% of eligible foreign accounts receivable, plus (c) the lesser of (i) 75% of the cost eligible inventory or
(i1) 90% of the net orderly liquidation value of the inventory, plus (d) the amount of any unencumbered cash
the Company holds at KeyBank, minus (¢) $16.0 million subject to lender reserves.

Loans may be based on a Base Rate or Eurodollar Rate (which is increased by an applicable margin of 2.9%
per annum for Eurodollar Loans and 1.0% for Base Rate Loans) (both as defined in the KeyBank Credit
Facility), generally at the Company’s option. In the event of a default, at the option of KeyBank, the interest
rate on all obligations owing will increase by 3% per annum over the rate otherwise applicable.

Subject to certain exceptions, the KeyBank Credit Facility is secured by a first priority perfected security
interest in all of the Company’s now owned and after acquired tangible and intangible assets and its domestic
subsidiaries, which have guaranteed the Company’s obligations under the KeyBank Credit Facility. The
KeyBank Credit Facility is further secured by a lien on, and a pledge of, 65% of the stock of its wholly-owned
subsidiary, S&W Holdings Australia Pty Ltd.

At June 30, 2019, the Company was in compliance with all KeyBank debt covenants.

In November 2017, the Company entered into a secured note financing transaction (the "Loan Transaction") with
Conterra Agricultural Capital, LLC ("Conterra") for $12.5 million in gross proceeds. Pursuant to the Loan
Transaction, the Company issued two secured promissory notes (the "Notes") to Conterra as follows:

Secured Real Estate Note. The Company issued one Note in the principal amount of $10.4 million (the
"Secured Real Estate Note") that is secured by a first priority security interest in the property, plant and
fixtures (the "Real Estate Collateral") located at the Company's Five Points, California and Nampa, Idaho
production facilities and its Nampa, Idaho and Arlington, Wisconsin research facilities (the "Facilities"). The
Secured Real Estate Note matures on November 30, 2020, which, subject to Conterra's approval, may be
extended to November 30, 2022. The Secured Real Estate Note bears interest of 7.75% per annum. The
Company has agreed to make semi-annual payments of interest and amortized principal on a 20-year
amortization schedule, for a combined payment of $515,711, starting July 1, 2018, in addition to a one-time
interest only payment on January 1, 2018. The Company may prepay the Secured Real Estate Note, in whole
or in part, at any time after it has paid a minimum of twelve months of interest on the Secured Real Estate
Note.

Secured Equipment Note. The Company issued a second Note in the principal amount of $2.1 million (the
"Secured Equipment Note") that was secured by a first priority security interest in certain equipment not
attached to real estate located at the Facilities. The Secured Equipment Note was also secured by the Real
Estate Collateral. The Secured Equipment Note was scheduled to mature on November 30,2019 . The
Secured Equipment Note bore an interest at a rate of 9.5% per annum. The Company agreed to make semi-
annual payments of interest and amortized principal on a 20-year amortization schedule, for a combined
payment of $118,223, starting July 1, 2018, in addition to a one-time interest only payment on January 1,
2018. The Secured Equipment Note was repaid in full in August 2018.

On August 15, 2018, the Company completed a sale and leaseback transaction with American AgCredit involving
certain equipment located at the Company's Five Points, California and Nampa, Idaho production facilities. Due to
its terms, the sale and leaseback transaction was required to be accounted for as a financing arrangement.
Accordingly, the proceeds received from American AgCredit were accounted for as proceeds from a debt financing.
Under the terms of the transaction:

The Company sold the equipment to American AgCredit for $2,106,395 million in proceeds. The proceeds
were used to pay off in full a note (in the principal amount of $2,081,527, plus accrued interest of $24,868)
held by Conterra Agricultural Capital, LLC, which had an interest rate of 9.5% per annum and was secured
by, among other things, the equipment.

The Company entered into a lease agreement with American AgCredit relating to the equipment. The lease
agreement has a five-year term and provides for monthly lease payments of $40,023 (representing an annual
interest rate of 5.6%). At the end of the lease term, the Company will repurchase the equipment for $1.
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S&W Australia finances the purchase of most of its seed inventory from growers pursuant to a seasonal credit
facilities with National Australia Bank Ltd (“NAB”). The current facilities (the “NAB Facilities”) were amended as
of July 9, 2019 and expire on March 31, 2021. As of June 30, 2019, AUD $12,504,633 (USD $8,780,753) was
outstanding under the NAB Facilities.

The NAB Facilities, as recently amended, comprise two distinct facility lines: (i) an overdraft facility (the
“Overdraft Facility”), having a credit limit of AUD $2,000,000 (USD $1,404,400) and a borrowing base facility (the
“Borrowing Base Facility”), having a credit limit of AUD $13,000,000 (USD $9,128,600).

The Borrowing Base Facility permits S&W Australia to borrow funds for periods of up to 180 days, at S&W
Australia’s discretion, provided that the term is consistent with its trading terms. Interest for each drawdown is set at
the time of the drawdown as follows: (i) for Australian dollar drawings, based on the Australian Trade Refinance
Rate plus 1.5% per annum and (ii) for foreign currency drawings, based on the British Bankers’ Association Interest
Settlement Rate for the relevant foreign currency for the relevant period, or if such rate is not available, the rate
reasonably determined by NAB to be the appropriate equivalent rate, plus 1.5% per annum. As of June 30, 2019, the
Borrowing Base Facility accrued interest on Australian dollar drawings at approximately 4.75% calculated daily.
The Borrowing Base Facility is secured by a lien on all the present and future rights, property and undertakings of
S&W Australia, the mortgage on S&W Australia’s Keith, South Australia property and the Company’s corporate
guarantee (up to a maximum of AUD $15,000,000).

The Overdraft Facility permits S&W Australia to borrow funds on a revolving line of credit up to the credit limit.
Interest accrues daily and is calculated by applying the daily interest rate to the balance owing at the end of the day
and is payable monthly in arrears. As of June 30, 2019, the Overdraft Facility accrued interest at approximately
6.77% calculated daily.

For both the Overdraft Facility and the Borrowing Base Facility, interest is payable each month in arrears. In the
event of a default, as defined in the NAB Facility Agreement, the principal balance due under the facilities will
thereafter bear interest at an increased rate per annum above the interest rate that would otherwise have been in
effect from time to time under the terms of each facility (i.e., the interest rate increases by 4.5% per annum under the
Borrowing Base Facility and the Overdraft Facility rate increases to 13.92% per annum upon the occurrence of an
event of default).

Both facilities constituting the NAB Facilities are secured by a fixed and floating lien over all the present and future
rights, property and undertakings of S&W Australia and are guaranteed by the Company as noted above. The NAB
Facilities contain customary representations and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants and customary
events of default that permit NAB to accelerate S&W Australia’s outstanding obligations, all as set forth in the NAB
facility agreements. S&W Australia was in compliance with all NAB debt covenants at June 30, 2019.

In January 2015, NAB and S&W Australia entered into a new business markets — flexible rate loan (the “Keith
Building Loan”) and a separate machinery and equipment facility (the “Keith Machinery and Equipment Facility”).
In February 2016, NAB and S&W Australia also entered into a master asset finance facility (the “Master Assets
Facility”). The Master Asset Facility has various maturity dates through 2023 and have interest rates ranging from
4.89% t0 5.31%.

The Keith Building Loan and Keith Machinery and Equipment Facility are used for the construction of a building on
S&W Australia’s Keith, South Australia property, purchase of adjoining land and for the machinery and equipment
for use in the operations of the building. The Keith Building Loan matures on November 30, 2024. The interest rate
on the Keith Building Loan varies from pricing period to pricing period (each such period approximately 30 days),
based on the weighted average of a specified basket of interest rates (5.79% as of June 30, 2019). Interest is payable
each month in arrears. The Keith Machinery and Equipment Facility bears interest, payable in arrears, based on the
Australian Trade Refinance Rate quoted by NAB at the time of the drawdown, plus 2.9%. The Keith Credit
Facilities contain customary representations and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants and customary
events of default that permit NAB to accelerate S&W Australia’s outstanding obligations, all as set forth in the
facility agreement. They are secured by a lien on all the present and future rights, property and undertakings of
S&W Australia, the Company’s corporate guarantee and a mortgage on S&W Australia’s Keith, South Australia

property.
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The annual maturities of short-term and long-term debt are as follows:

Fiscal Year Amount
2020 $ 1,200,279
2021 10,764,617
2022 705,216
2023 582,859
2024 145,349

Thereafter —

Total $13,398,320

NOTE 9 - INCOME TAXES

Loss before income taxes consists of the following:

Years Ended June 30,
2019 2018
United States $(9,336,700) $(5,112,254)
Foreign (164,974) 530,213
Loss before income taxes $(9,501,674) $(4,582,041)

Significant components of the provision for income taxes from continuing operations are as follows:

Years Ended June 30,
2019 2018
Current:
Federal $ — 3 —
State 28,591 —
Foreign 92,744 100,122
Total current provision 121,335 100,122
Deferred:
Federal (227,142) 20,785
State (42,940) 22,142
Foreign — —
Total deferred provision (benefit) (270,082) 42,927
(Benefit) Provision for income taxes $ (148,747) $ 143,049
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The differences between the total calculated income tax provision and the expected income tax computed using the
U.S. federal income tax rate are as follows:

Years Ended June 30,

2019 2018
Tax benefit at statutory tax rate $(1,995,352) $(1,262,509)
State benefit, net of federal benefit (304,015)  (133,666)
Mark to market on financial instruments - (118,838)
Section 965 toll tax - 584,086
Other permanent differences 23,786 (144,049)
Federal and state research credits - current year (228,039) (89,572)
Foreign rate differential 10,819 971)
Shortfall on restricted stock vest 49,118 155,783
Change in unrecognized tax benefit 49,939 -
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act - 3,264,391
Valuation allowance 2,265,361  (2,145,250)
Other (20,364) 33,644

§ (148,747)$ 143,049

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred to as the
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“the Tax Act”). The Tax Act significantly revised the U.S. corporate income tax by, among
other things, lowering the statutory corporate income tax rate (“federal tax rate”) from 35% to 21% effective January
1, 2018, implementing a modified territorial tax system, and imposing a mandatory one-time transition tax on
accumulated earnings of foreign subsidiaries.

The total tax charge as a result of the Tax Act was $3.8 million, consisting of $0.5 million of tax expense for the
U.S. transition tax on accumulated earnings of foreign subsidiaries and $3.3 million of tax expense for DTA re-
measurement.

Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets are shown below.

June 30,
2019 2018

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carry forwards $ 5,817,688 $ 6,771,974

Compensation accruals 261,365 144,550

Allowance for bad debts 1,376,388 151,972

Stock compensation 288,648 241,837

Tax credit carry forwards 662,283 434,245

Intangible assets 2,226,539 —

Deferred Rent 47,226 90,466

Assets held for sale 367,387 —

Other, net 476,411 277,065
Total deferred tax assets 11,523,935 8,112,109

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets (9,774,130) (7,506,759)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 1,749,805 605,350
Deferred tax liabilities

Intangible assets — (519,942)

Fixed assets (1,749,805)  (355,491)
Total deferred tax liabilities (1,749,805)  (875,433)
Net deferred tax asset / (liability) $ — $ (270,083)
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In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, the Company considers whether it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is
dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during periods in which those temporary differences
become deductible. The Company considers projected future taxable income and planning strategies in making this
assessment. Based on projections of taxable income, the Company had previously determined that it is more likely
than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Accordingly, a valuation allowance had been recorded as of
June 30, 2017. The Company’s valuation allowance position has not changed for the years ended June 30, 2019 and
June 30, 2018, respectively, as the Company does not believe that it is more likely than not that it will realize its
deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance increased $2.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2019 related
primarily to the ability of the Company to utilize net operating losses to offset current year income, resulting in a
reduction to the Company net deferred tax asset balance.

In the event the Company experiences an ownership change within the meaning of Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code (“IRC”), the Company’s ability to utilize net operating losses, tax credits and other tax attributes may
be limited. As of June 30, 2019, the Company is not aware of any applicable Section 382 limitations that may exist
on its net operating losses.

As of June 30, 2019, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $24.7
million and $8.3 million, respectively, which will begin to expire June 30, 2030, unless previously utilized. A
portion of the federal net operating losses generated after June 30, 2017 can be carried forward indefinitely as a
result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. Therefore, approximately $4.9 million of net operating loss carryovers are not
subject to expiration. The Company has federal research credits of $642,463 which will expire June 30, 2031, unless
previously utilized. The Company also has foreign tax credits of $157,859 which will begin to expire June 30, 2023,
unless previously utilized. The Company has state research credits of $23,170 that do not expire.

As of June 30, 2019, the Company has not provided for foreign withholding taxes on approximately $3.8 million of
undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiary as these earnings are considered indefinitely reinvested outside of the
United States. The Company does not plan to repatriate any earnings that are currently located in its foreign
subsidiaries as of June 30, 2019. However, to the extent that the foreign subsidiaries accrue earnings and profits in
the future years, the Company does plan to repatriate those funds to the U. S. and will record withholding taxes as
those earnings and profits are incurred.

The Company recognizes liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process. The first step is to
evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more
likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation
processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of
being realized upon settlement. While the Company believes that it has appropriate support for the positions taken
on its tax returns, the Company regularly assesses the potential outcome of examinations by tax authorities in
determining the adequacy of its provision for income taxes.

The Company has $63,214 of unrecognized tax benefits related to current year tax positions as of June 30, 2019.
Included in the unrecognized tax benefits was $49,939 of tax benefits that, if recognized, would reduce our annual
effective tax rate, if the Company were not in a valuation allowance position. However, as the Company is in a full
valuation allowance position, there would be no impact to the annual effective tax rate if the tax benefits were
recognized.

The Company's policy is to recognize interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters as a component of
income tax expense. The Company has not accrued interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions as
of June 30, 2019 and 2018. The Company does not expect its unrecognized tax benefits to change significantly over
the next 12 months.
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NOTE 10 - WARRANTS

The following table summarizes the total warrants outstanding at June 30, 2019:

Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise Price  Expiration as of New as of
Issue Date Per Share Date June 30,2018 Issuances Expired  June 30,2019
Warrants Dec 2014 $ 4.32 June 2020 2,699,999 — — 2,699,999
2,699,999 — — 2,699,999

The following table summarizes the total warrants outstanding at June 30, 2018:

Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise Price  Expiration as of New as of
Issue Date Per Share Date June 30,2017 Issuances Expired  June 30, 2018
Warrants Dec 2014 $ 4.32 June 2020 2,699,999 — — 2,699,999
2,699,999 — — 2,699,999

NOTE 11 - EQUITY

On September 5, 2018, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the "Securities Purchase
Agreement") with MFP Partners, L.P. ("MFP"), pursuant to which the Company sold to MFP 1,607,717 shares of
common stock of the Company (the "Common Shares") at a purchase price of $3.11 per share at an initial closing,
and agreed to sell, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, 7,235 shares of newly designated Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock of the Company ("Preferred Shares") to MFP at a purchase price of $3,110 per share at
a second closing (the "Second Closing").

The Second Closing was completed on October 23, 2018, for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $22.5
million, which was used primarily to fund the Chromatin Acquisition. The Preferred Shares carried no voting rights
and were automatically convertible into shares of common stock at the rate of 1,000 shares of common stock per
Preferred Share upon the approval of the Company's stockholders for the issuance of the requisite shares of common
stock. Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company agreed to use its reasonable best efforts to
solicit the approval of its shareholders for the issuance of stock upon the conversion of the Preferred Shares at a
special meeting of shareholders, and at each annual meeting of shareholders thereafter, if necessary. Approval was
obtained at a Special Meeting of Stockholders held on November 20, 2018, and the Preferred Shares automatically
converted into 7,235,000 shares of common stock on that same day.

NOTE 12 - FOREIGN CURRENCY CONTRACTS

The Company’s subsidiary, S&W Australia, is exposed to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations in the normal
course of its business, which the Company manages through the use of foreign currency forward contracts. These
foreign currency contracts are not designated as hedging instruments; accordingly, changes in the fair value are
recorded in current period earnings. These foreign currency contracts had a notional value of $2,192,223 at June 30,
2019 and their maturities range from July to October 2019.

The Company records an asset or liability on the consolidated balance sheet for the fair value of the foreign currency
forward contracts. The foreign currency contract liabilities totaled $42,255 at June 30, 2019 and foreign currency
contract liabilities totaled $100,138 at June 30, 2018. The Company recorded a gain on foreign exchange contracts
of $52,788 and a loss on foreign exchange contracts of $272,801, which is reflected in cost of revenue for the years
ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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NOTE 13 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Contingencies

Based on information currently available, management is not aware of any other matters that would have a material
adverse effect on the Company's financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Legal Matters

The Company may be subject to various legal proceedings from time to time. The results of any future litigation
cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on the
Company because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, and other factors. Any
current litigation is considered immaterial and counter claims have been assessed as remote.

Leases

The Company has entered into various non-cancelable operating lease agreements. Rent expense under operating
leases was $763,874 and $401,375 for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The following table sets forth the Company's estimates of future lease payment obligations as of June 30, 2019:

2025 and
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 beyond Total @

Operating lease obligations  $ 640,135 $ 634,422 $352,730 $201,800 $235,776 $ 366,581 $2,431,444

(a) Minimum payments have not been reduced by minimum sublease rentals of $788,400 due in the future under
noncancelable sublease

The following table sets forth the composition of total rental expense for all operating leases except those with terms
of a month or less that were not renewed.

Years Ended June 30,

2019 2018
Minimum rentals $ 763,874 $ 401,375
Less: Sublease rentals (87,600) (43,800)

$§ 676,274 § 357,575

NOTE 14 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On July 19, 2017, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with certain purchasers, including
MFP Partners, L.P. ("MFP"), a stockholder of the Company, and certain entities related to Wynnefield Capital
Management LLC (collectively, “Wynnefield”), pursuant to which MFP purchased approximately $3.7 million of
shares of its common stock and Wynnefield purchased approximately $3.0 million of shares of its common stock.
Each of MFP and Wynnefield is a beneficial owner of more than 5% of the Company’s common stock. Alexander
C. Matina, a member of the Company’s Board, is Vice President, Investments of MFP. Robert D. Straus, a member
of the Company’s Board since January 9, 2018, is a Portfolio Manager and Analyst at Wynnefield.

On October 11, 2017, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with Mark W. Wong, the

Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to which the Company sold and issued an aggregate of
75,000 shares of its Common Stock at a purchase price of $3.50 per share, for aggregate gross proceeds of $262,500.
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On December 22, 2017, the Company completed the closing of its previously announced rights offering. At the
closing, the Company sold and issued an aggregate of 2,594,923 shares of its Common Stock at a subscription price
of $3.50 per share pursuant to the exercise of subscriptions and oversubscriptions in the rights offering from its
existing stockholders. Pursuant to an Investment Agreement, dated October 3, 2017, between the Company and
MFP, MFP agreed to purchase, at the subscription price, all of the shares not purchased in the Rights Offering (the
"Backstop Commitment"). Accordingly, on December 22, 2017, the Company and MFP completed the closing of
the Backstop Commitment, in which the Company sold and issued 905,077 shares of its Common Stock to MFP.
Combined, the Company sold and issued an aggregate of 3,500,000 shares of its common stock for aggregate gross
proceeds of $12.25 million.

On September 5, 2018, the Company entered into the Securities Purchase Agreement with MFP, pursuant to which
the Company sold the Common Shares at the Initial Closing and the Preferred Shares at the Second Closing. The
Initial Closing was completed on September 5, 2018 and the Second Closing was completed on October 23, 2018.
See Note 11 for further discussion on the Second Closing.

On December 18, 2018, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the "MFP Loan Agreement")
with MFP, pursuant to which the Company was able to borrow up to $5,000,000, in minimum increments of
$1,000,000, from MFP during the period beginning on December 18, 2018 and ending on the earlier to occur of (i)
March 18, 2019 and (ii) certain specified events of default. Pursuant to the MFP Loan Agreement, interest accrued
on outstanding principal at a fixed per annum rate of 6.0%. In addition, the Company was obligated to pay to MFP a
fee equal to 2.0% of each advance under the MFP Loan Agreement. Concurrently with the execution of the MFP
Loan Agreement, the Company drew down $1,000,000 under the MFP Loan Agreement, which was disbursed to the
Company on December 21, 2018. On December 31, 2018, the Company repaid in full the $1,000,000 disbursed to
the Company. As of June 30, 2019, no amounts remained outstanding under the MFP Loan Agreement.

NOTE 15 - EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION
Equity Incentive Plans

In October 2009 and January 2010, the Company's Board of Directors and stockholders, respectively, approved the
2009 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended and/or restated from time to time, the "2009 Plan"). The plan authorized the
grant and issuance of options, restricted shares and other equity compensation to the Company's directors,
employees, officers and consultants, and those of the Company's subsidiaries and parent, if any. In October 2012
and December 2012, the Company's Board of Directors and stockholders, respectively, approved the amendment
and restatement of the 2009 Plan, including an increase in the number of shares available for issuance as grants and
awards under the Plan to 1,250,000 shares. In September 2013 and December 2013, the Company's Board of
Directors and stockholders, respectively, approved the amendment and restatement of the 2009 Plan, including an
increase in the number of shares available for issuance as grants and awards under the Plan to 1,700,000 shares. In
September 2015 and December 2015, the Company's Board of Directors and stockholders, respectively, approved
the amendment and restatement of the 2009 Plan, including an increase in the number of shares available for
issuance as grants and awards under the Plan to 2,450,000 shares.

In January 2019, the Company's Board of Directors and stockholders approved the 2019 Equity Incentive Plan
("2019 Plan") as a successor to and continuation of the 2009  Plan. Subject to adjustment for certain changes in the
Company's capitalization, the aggregate number of shares of the Company's common stock that may be issued under
the 2019 Plan will not exceed 4,243,790 shares, which is the sum of (i) 2,750,000 new shares, plus (ii) 350,343
shares that remained available for grant under the 2009 Plan as of January 16, 2019, plus (iii) 1,143,447 shares
subject to outstanding stock awards granted under the 2009 Plan.

The term of incentive stock options granted under the Company’s equity incentive plans may not exceed ten years,
or five years for incentive stock options granted to an optionee owning more than 10% of the Company's voting
stock. The exercise price of options granted under the Company’s equity incentive plans must be equal to or greater
than the fair market value of the shares of the common stock on the date the option is granted. An incentive stock
option granted to an optionee owning more than 10% of voting stock must have an exercise price equal to or greater
than 110% of the fair market value of the common stock on the date the option is granted.
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The Company measures the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments
based on the grant-date fair value of the award. Stock options issued to non-employees are accounted for at their
estimated fair value. The fair value of options granted to non-employees is re-measured as they vest. The Company
amortizes stock-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.

The Company utilizes a Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model, which includes assumptions regarding the
risk-free interest rate, dividend yield, life of the award, and the volatility of the Company's common stock to

estimate the fair value of employee options grants.

Weighted average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes-Merton model are set forth below:

June 30,
2019 2018
Risk free rate 1.9% - 3.0% 1.7% -2.3%
Dividend yield 0% 0%
Volatility 34.5%-41.5%  45.3%-45.5%
Average forfeiture assumptions 1.1% 1.4%

During the year ended June 30, 2019, the Company granted 497,178 options to its directors, certain members of the
executive management team and other employees at exercise prices ranging from $2.19 - $3.30. These options vest
in either quarterly or annual periods over one to three years, and expire ten years from the date of grant.

A summary of stock option activity for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 is presented below:

Weighted - Weighted-

Average Average
Exercise Remaining Aggregate
Number Price Contractual Intrinsic
Outstanding Per Share Life (Years) Value
Outstanding at June 30, 2017 990,528 $ 5.12 43 §$ 100,344
Granted 103,283 345 — —
Exercised (49,000) 3.95 — —
Canceled/forfeited/expired (252,737) 6.46 — —
Outstanding at June 30, 2018 792,074 4.55 6.3 10,413
Granted 497,178 2.85 — —
Exercised — — — —
Canceled/forfeited/expired (166,500) 6.17 — —
Outstanding at June 30, 2019 1,122,752 3.55 8.0 34,135
Options vested and exercisable at June 30, 2019 618,668 4.04 7.0 —
Options vested and expected to vest as of
June 30, 2019 1,120,572 $ 3.55 8.0 $ 33,928

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted and outstanding at June 30, 2019 was $0.99. At June
30,2019, the Company had $458,246 of unrecognized stock compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures,
related to the options under the 2009 Plan, which will be recognized over the weighted average remaining service
period of 1.84 years. The Company settles employee stock option exercises with newly issued shares of common
stock.

During the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company issued 175,758 and 78,642 restricted stock units to its
directors, certain members of the executive management team, and other employees. The restricted stock units have
varying vesting periods ranging from immediate vesting to quarterly or annual installments over one to three-years.
The fair value of the awards during the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 totaled $472,171 and $279,611,
respectively, and was based on the closing stock price on the date of grants.
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The Company recorded $379,212 and $487,391 of stock-based compensation expense associated with grants of

restricted stock units during the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. A summary of activity related to

non-vested restricted stock units is presented below:

Weighted-Average
Number of Nonvested ~ Weighted-Average Remaining Contractual

Restricted Stock Units Grant Date Fair Value Life (Years)
Nonvested restricted units outstanding at June 30, 2017 120,971 $ 5.59 1.0
Granted 78,642 3.56 1.3
Vested (105,985) 5.49 —
Forfeited (4,435) 4.45 —
Nonvested restricted units outstanding at June 30, 2018 89,193 3.98 1.1
Granted 175,758 2.69 2.8
Vested (107,747) 3.75 —
Forfeited — — —
Nonvested restricted units outstanding at June 30, 2019 157,204 § 2.69 1.4

At June 30, 2019, the Company had $297,670 of unrecognized stock compensation expense related to the restricted

stock units, which will be recognized over the weighted average remaining service period of 1.4 years.

At June 30, 2019, there were 2,957,294 shares available under the 2019 Plan for future grants and awards.

Stock-based compensation expense recorded for stock options, restricted stock grants and restricted stock units for

the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, totaled $694,610 and $748,516, respectively.

NOTE 16 - NON-CASH ACTIVITIES FOR STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

The below table represents supplemental information to the Company's consolidated statements of cash flows for

non-cash activities during the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Years Ended June 30,

2019 2018
Fair value of assets acquired $ 29,446,067 $ —
Cash paid for the acquisition (26,450,000) —
Liabilities assumed (2,996,067) —
Purchases of equipment classified as capital lease (574,018) —

NOTE 17 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In August 2019, S&W Australia, a wholly owned subsidiary of S&W Seed Company, licensed certain wheat

germplasm varieties and acquired certain equipment from affiliates of Corteva. In the transaction, S&W Australia
paid a one-time license fee of US$2.3 million and an equipment purchase price of US$300,000. The license has an

initial term of 15 years.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Principal Executive Officer and our Principal Financial Officer,
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2019 (the “Evaluation Date”).
The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange
Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their
objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible
controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2019, our
Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls
and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements in accordance with GAAP. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management has conducted, with the participation of our Principal Executive Officer and our Principal Accounting
Officer, an assessment, including testing of the effectiveness, of our internal control over financial reporting as of
the Evaluation Date. Management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting was conducted using the
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework (2013 Framework). A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. In
connection with our management’s assessment of our internal control over financial reporting as required under
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we have not identified any material weaknesses in our internal
control over financial reporting as of the Evaluation Date. We have thus concluded that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of the Evaluation Date.

This annual report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal
control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public
accounting firm pursuant to an exemption for smaller reporting companies under Section 989G of the Dodd-Frank
Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) or in other factors that occurred during the period of our evaluation that have
significantly affected, or are reasonably likely to significantly affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by Item 10 regarding directors, executive officers, promoters and control persons is
incorporated by reference to the information appearing under the caption "Directors and Executive Officers" in our
definitive Proxy Statement relating to next Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year.

Our written Code of Ethics applies to all of our directors and employees, including our executive officers, including
without limitation our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or
controller or persons performing similar functions. The Code of Ethics is available on our website at
http://www.swseedco.com in the Investors section under "Corporate Governance." Changes to or waivers of the
Code of Ethics will be disclosed on the same website. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under

Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding any amendment to, or waiver of, any provision of the Code of Ethics by disclosing
such information on the same website.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference to the information appearing under the caption
"Executive Compensation" in our definitive Proxy Statement relating to our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference to the information appearing under the caption
"Security Ownership" in our definitive Proxy Statement relating to our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference to the information appearing under the caption
"Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" in our definitive Proxy Statement relating to our 2019 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the close of
our fiscal year.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference to the information appearing under the caption
"Principal Accounting Fees and Services" in our definitive Proxy Statement relating to our 2019 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the close of our fiscal
year.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements:

Reference is made to the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements of S&W Seed Company under Item 8 in Part 11
of this Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

As a smaller reporting company, no financial statement schedules are required.

(3) Exhibits:

The information required by this Section (a)(3) of Item 15 is incorporated by reference or filed with this report as set
forth on the exhibit index that follows below.
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(b) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

Form

SEC File
Number

Exhibit
Number

Filing Filed
Date  Herewith

2.1

2.2f

2.3f

24

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8M

2.9M

3.1
3.2

3.3

4.1
4.2

Asset Acquisition Agreement among the
Registrant, Imperial Valley Seeds, Inc.
(“IVS”), Glen D. Bornt, Fred Fabre and the
Bornt Family Trust, dated September 28, 2012

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement between
the Registrant and Pioneer Hi-Bred
International, Inc. (“Pioneer”), dated
December 19, 2014

First Amendment to Asset Purchase and Sale
Agreement between the Registrant and
Pioneer, dated December 31, 2014

Second Amendment to the Asset Purchase and
Sale Agreement between the Registrant and
Pioneer, dated April 23, 2015

Third Amendment to Asset Purchase and Sale
Agreement between the Registrant and
Pioneer, dated July 23, 2015

Fourth Amendment to Asset Purchase and Sale
Agreement between the Registrant and
Pioneer, dated July 23, 2015

Asset Acquisition Agreement between the
Registrant and SV Genetics Pty Ltd, dated
May 26,2016

Asset Purchase Agreement by and between
Novo Advisors, solely in its capacity as the
receiver for, and on behalf of, Chromatin, Inc.,
dated September 5, 2018

Asset Purchase Agreement by and between
Novo Advisors, solely in its capacity as the
receiver for, and on behalf of, Chromatin, Inc.,
dated September 5, 2018

Registrant’s Articles of Incorporation

Certificate of Designation of Preferences,
Rights and Limitations of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock

Registrant’s Amended and Restated Bylaws,
together with Amendments One, Two and
Three thereto

Form of Common Stock Certificate

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant
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8-K

8-K

8-K

10-K

10-K

10-Q

10-K

10-K

10-K

S-3
8-K

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

001-34719
001-34719

000-34719

333-219726
000-34719

2.1

2.1

2.1

2.6

2.7

2.1

2.1

2.8

2.9

3.1
3.1

32

43
10.3

10/2/12

12/29/14

1/7/15

9/28/15

9/28/15

2/8/18

5/31/16

9/20/18

9/20/18

12/19/11
10/25/18

9/28/15

8/4/17
12/31/14



10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.57

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.107

10.117

10.12

10.13

10.14F

10.15

Assignment and Assumption Agreement
between the Registrant and IVS, dated October
1,2012

Supply Agreement between IVS and Imperial
Valley Milling Co. (“IV Milling”), dated
October 1, 2012 (assigned to the Registrant)

Subordinated Promissory Note made by the
Registrant in favor of IVS, dated October 1,
2012

Service Level Agreement with IV Milling
dated April 4, 2014

Roundup Ready® Alfalfa Co-Breeding
Agreement between the Registrant and Forage
Genetics International, LLC, dated March 21,
2013

Contract Alfalfa Production Services
Agreement between the Registrant and
Pioneer, dated December 31, 2014

First Amendment to Contract Alfalfa
Production Services Agreement between the
Registrant and Pioneer, dated July 23, 2015

Second Amendment to Contract Alfalfa
Production Services Agreement between the
Registrant and Pioneer, dated August 7, 2015

Third Amendment to Contract Alfalfa
Production Services Agreement between the

Registrant and Pioneer, dated December 21,
2017

Fourth Amendment to Contract Alfalfa
Production Services Agreement between the
Registrant and Pioneer, dated August 2, 2018

Alfalfa Distribution Agreement between the
Registrant and Pioneer, dated December 31,
2014

First Amendment to Alfalfa Distribution
Agreement between the Registrant and
Pioneer, dated July 23, 2015

Second Amendment to Alfalfa Distribution
Agreement between the Registrant and
Pioneer, dated August 7, 2015

Research Agreement between the Registrant
and Pioneer, dated December 31, 2014

First Amendment to Research Agreement
between the Registrant and Pioneer Hi-Bred
International, Inc., dated December 21, 2017.
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8-K

10-Q

8-K

10-K

10-K

8-K

10-K

8-K

10-Q

10-K

10-K

8-K

8-K

10-Q

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.45

10.28

10.2

10.7

10.2

10.6

10.10

10.1

10.10

10.1

10.3

10.7

10/2/12

2/13/13

10/2/12

9/29/14

9/30/13

1/7/15

9/28/15

8/17/15

2/8/18

9/20/18

1/7/15

9/28/15

8/17/15

1/7/15

2/8/18



10.167

10.17°

10.18f

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

Non-Exclusive Alfalfa Licensing and
Assignment Agreement between the Registrant
and Pioneer, dated December 31, 2014

Lease Agreement between the Registrant and
Pioneer, dated December 31, 2014

Information Technology Transition Services
Agreement between the Registrant and
Pioneer, dated December 31, 2014

Promissory Note issued by the Registrant in
favor of Pioneer, dated December 31, 2014

Security Agreement between the Registrant
and Pioneer, dated December 31, 2014

Mortgage from the Registrant to Pioneer, dated
December 31, 2014

Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents, Security
Agreement and Fixture Filing among the
Registrant, TitleOne Corporation, as trustee,
and Pioneer, as beneficiary, dated December
31,2014

Patent License Agreement between the
Registrant and Pioneer, dated December 31,
2014

Patent Assignment Agreement between the
Registrant and Pioneer, dated December 31,
2014

Know-How Transfer Agreement between the
Registrant and Pioneer, dated December 31,
2014

Data Transfer Agreement between the
Registrant and Pioneer, dated December 31,
2014

Assignment Agreement of Plant Variety
Certificates, Plant Breeders’ Rights,
Maintenance Rights and Registration Rights
between the Registrant and Pioneer, dated
December 31, 2014

First Amendment to the Assignment
Agreement of Plant Variety Certificates, Plant
Breeders’ Rights, Maintenance Rights and
Registration Rights between the Registrant and
Pioneer, dated April 23,2015

Assignment and Assumption Agreement
between the Registrant and Pioneer, dated
December 31, 2014

General Warranty Deed by Pioneer in favor of
the Registrant, dated December 31, 2014
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8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

10-K

8-K

8-K

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.25

10.16

10.17

1/7/15

1/7/15

1/7/15

1/7/15

1/7/15

1/7/15

1/7/15

1/7/15

1/7/15

1/7/15

1/7/15

1/7/15

9/28/15

1/7/15

1/7/15



10.31

10.32

10.33*

10.34*

10.35%

10.36*

10.37*

10.38*

10.39%

10.40*

10.41%*

10.42*

10.437

10.44

10.45

Warranty Deed by Pioneer in favor of the
Registrant, dated December 31, 2014

Form of Indemnification Agreement with
Officers, Directors and Employees of the
Registrant and Subsidiaries

Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive
Plan as amended through Amendment No. 2,
forms of Stock Option Grant and Agreement,
Restricted Stock Unit Grant and Restricted
Stock Award

S&W Seed Company 2019 Equity Incentive
Plan (the “Plan”)

Form of Stock Option Grant Notice, Option
Agreement and Notice of Exercise under the
Plan.

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice
and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under
the Plan.

Employment Agreement between the
Registrant and Mark S. Grewal, dated March
18,2016

Employment Agreement between the
Registrant and Matthew K. Szot, dated April
24,2019

Employment Agreement between the
Registrant and Dennis C. Jury, dated March
18,2016

Contract of Employment between Seed
Genetics International Pty, Ltd. and Dennis C.
Jury, dated as of March 28, 2013

Employment Agreement between the
Registrant and Mark W. Wong, dated June 19,
2017

Employment Agreement between the
Registrant and Danielson B. Gardner, dated
August 15,2016

Collaboration Agreement between the
Registrant and Calyxt, Inc., dated May 28,
2015 and entered into by the Registrant on
June 4, 2015

Credit and Security Agreement between the

Registrant and KeyBank, National Association

(“KeyBank”), dated September 22, 2015

First Amendment to Credit and Security
Agreement between the Registrant and
KeyBank, dated June 29, 2016
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8-K

8-K

10-K

S-8

S-8

S-8

8-K

10-Q

8-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

8-K

10-K

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

333-229625

333-229625

333-229625

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

10.18

10.1

10.34

99.1

99.1

99.1

10.1

10.4

10.3

10.1

10.35

10.36

10.39

10.1

10.39

1/7/15

7/24/14

9/28/15

2/12/19

2/12/19

2/12/19

3/23/16

5/9/19

3/23/16

4/5/13

9/20/17

9/20/17

9/28/15

9/23/15

9/20/17



10.46

10.47

10.48

10.49

10.50

10.51

10.52

10.53

10.54

10.55

10.56

10.57

10.58

10.59

10.60

10.61

Second Amendment to Credit and Security
Agreement between the Registrant and
KeyBank, dated October 4, 2016

Third Amendment to Credit and Security
Agreement between the Registrant and
KeyBank, dated March 13, 2017

Fourth Amendment Agreement between the
Registrant and KeyBank, dated September 13,
2017

Fifth Amendment to Credit and Security
Agreement between the Registrant and
KeyBank, dated March 14, 2018

Sixth Amendment Agreement between the
Registrant and KeyBank, dated June 28, 2018

Seventh Amendment Agreement between the
Registrant and KeyBank, dated December 18,
2018

Eighth Amendment Agreement between the
Registrant and KeyBank, dated December 27,
2018

Revolving Credit Note dated September 22,
2015 in favor of KeyBank

Intellectual Property Security Agreement of
the Registrant in favor of KeyBank, dated
September 22, 2015

Pledge Agreement by the Registrant in favor of
KeyBank, dated September 22, 2015

Security Agreement (Subsidiary) by U.S.
Subsidiaries of Registrant in favor of
KeyBank, dated September 22, 2015

Guaranty of Payment (Subsidiary) by U.S.
Subsidiaries of Registrant in favor of
KeyBank, dated September 22, 2015

Form of Registration Rights Agreement among
the Registrant and purchasers of the 8% Senior
Secured Convertible Debentures and Warrants

Registration Rights Agreement between the
Registrant and MFP Partners, L.P., dated
November 23, 2015

Securities Purchase Agreement between the
Registrant and MFP Partners, L.P., dated
December 31, 2014

Securities Purchase Agreement between the
Registrant and MFP Partners, L.P. dated
November 23, 2015
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10-K

10-K

10-Q

10-Q

10-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

10.40

10.41

10.3

10.1

10.47

10.1

10.1

10.2

10.4

10.3

10.6

10.5

10.4

10.2

4.1

10.1

9/20/17

9/20/17

11/9/17

5/10/18

9/20/18

12/26/18

12/28/18

9/23/15

9/23/15

9/23/15

9/23/15

9/23/15

12/31/14

11/24/15

12/31/14

11/24/15



10.62

10.63

10.64

10.65

10.66

10.67

10.68

10.69

10.70

10.71

10.72

10.73

10.74

10.75

Business Letter of Offer dated January 19,
2015 from NAB for SGI credit facilities

Business Letter of Offer dated April 13,2015
from NAB for SGI credit facilities

Business Letter of Advice dated April 13, 2015
from NAB modifying SGI Farm Management
Overdraft Facility

Corporate Guarantee executed by the
Registrant on April 21, 2015 in favor of
National Australia Bank with respect to SGI
credit facilities

Business Letter of Advice to SGI dated as of
April 28, 2016 (executed by SGI on May 6,
2016) from NAB for SGI credit facilities

Business Letter of Advice for S&W Seed
Company Pty Ltd from National Australia
Bank Ltd, dated April 13, 2018

Form of Security Agreement among the
Registrant and purchasers of the 8% Senior
Secured Convertible Debentures

Form of Guaranty provided by Seed Holding,
LLC and Stevia California, LLC in favor of the
purchasers of the 8% Senior Secured
Convertible Debentures

Form of Intercreditor and Subordination
Agreement among Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.,
Hudson Bay Fund LP, in its capacity as agent
for the holders of the 8% Senior Secured
Convertible Debentures and Pioneer

Securities Purchase Agreement between the
Registrant and the Purchasers named therein,
dated July 19, 2017

Registration Rights Agreement between the
Registrant and the Purchasers, dated July 19,
2017

Investment Agreement, by and between the
Registrant and MFP Partners, L.P., dated
October 3, 2017

Securities Purchase Agreement by and
between the Registrant and Mark W. Wong,
dated October 11, 2017

Registration Rights Agreement by and between
the Registrant and Mark W. Wong, dated
October 11, 2017
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10-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

8-K

10-Q

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

000-34719

10.43

10.44

10.45

10.46

10.1

10.2

10.5

10.6

10.7

99.1

99.2

99.1

99.1

99.2

9/28/15

9/28/15

9/28/15

9/28/15

5/12/16

5/10/18

12/31/14

12/31/14

12/31/14

7/20/17

7/20/17

10/4/17

10/12/17

10/12/17



10.76

10.77

10.78

10.79

10.80

10.81

10.82

21.1
23.1

24.1
31.1

31.2

32.1%*

32.2%%*

Secured Promissory Notes issued by the 10-Q 000-34719
Registrant in favor of Conterra Agricultural

Capital, LLC, dated November 30, 2017 and

related documents

Registration Rights Agreement by and between S-3 333-222916
the Registrant and MFP Partners, L.P., dated
December 22, 2017

Sale and Lease Agreement by and between the 10-K 000-34719
Registrant and American AgCredit, dated
August 15,2018

Securities Purchase Agreement dated 8-K 000-34719
September 5, 2018, by and among the
Registrant and MFP

Voting Rights Agreement dated September 5, 8-K 000-34719
2018, by and among the Registrant and MFP

Registration Rights Agreement dated 8-K 000-34719
September 5, 2018, by and among the
Registrant and MFP

Loan and Security Agreement, dated 8-K 000-34719
December 18, 2018, by and between the
Company and MFP Partners, L.P.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

Power of Attorney (see signature page)

Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant
to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant
to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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10.5

4.17

10.73

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.2

2/8/18

2/7/18

9/20/18

9/6/18

9/6/18

9/6/18

12/26/18



101 The following materials from the Company's X

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2019, formatted in XBRL
(eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i)
the Consolidated Balance Sheets at June 30,
2019 and June 30, 2018; (ii) the Consolidated
Statements of Operations for the Fiscal Years
Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018; (iii) the
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive
(Loss) Income for the Fiscal Years Ended June
30, 2019 and 2018; (iv) the Consolidated
Statement of Stockholders' Equity; (v) the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the
Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018;
and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements

sk

M

Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to an Order Granting Confidential Treatment under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Registrant under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made
before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in
such filing.

Exhibits and schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Registrant
undertakes to furnish supplemental copies of any of the omitted schedules upon request by the Securities and
Exchange Commission; provided, however, that Registrant may request confidential treatment pursuant to
Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, for any schedule so furnished.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: September 18, 2019

S&W SEED COMPANY

By: /s/ Mark W. Wong

Mark W. Wong
President and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints Mark W. Wong and Matthew K. Szot, or any of them, his attorneys-in-fact, for such person in any and all
capacities, to sign any amendments to this report and to file the same, with exhibits thereto, and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that either
of said attorneys-in-fact, or substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Mark W. Wong President, Chief Executive Officer and September 18, 2019
Mark W. Wong Director (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Matthew K. Szot Executive Vice President, Finance and September 18, 2019
Matthew K. Szot Administration and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s/ Mark J. Harvey Chairman of the Board September 18, 2019
Mark J. Harvey
/s/ David A. Fischhoff Director September 18, 2019
David A. Fischhoff
/s/ Consuelo E. Madere Director September 18, 2019
Consuelo E. Madere
/s/ Alexander C. Matina Director September 18, 2019
Alexander C. Matina
/s/ Charles B. Seidler Director September 18, 2019
Charles B. Seidler
Director September 18, 2019
Robert D. Straus
/s/ Alan D. Willits Director September 18, 2019

Alan Willits
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OFFICERS & DIRECTORS

OFFICERS & EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT BOARD MEMBERS

Mark M. Wong Mark J. Harvey, Chairman

Chief Executive Officer Chairman of the Board, S&W Seed Company
Matthew K. Szot Mark M. Wong

Chief Financial Officer Chief Executive Officer, S&W Seed Company
Executive Vice President, Finance and Administration David A. Fischhoff

David Callachor Monsanto Company, retired

Executive Vice President, International
t’ Consuelo Madere

Don Panter President & Founder of Proven Leader Advisory, LLC
Executive Vice President, Americas Monsanto Company, retired

Alexander C. Matina
MANAGEMENT Vice President, Investments at MFP Investors LLC
Dennis Jury

Charles B. Seidler

SVP, International Production & Supply Chain
Portfolio Manager, BTG Pactual
Danielson Gardner

Business Development Lead Americas Robert D. Straus

Portfolio Manager, Wynnefield Capital Management LLC
Christine Hatcher

Vice President, Finance Alan Willits
Chairman of Cargill Asia Pacific, retired

Mike Eade

Vice President, Sales & Marketing - Americas

Kirk Rolfs
Vice President, Production & Supply Chain for the Americas

Andrea McFarlane
Director of Human Resources

Steve Calhoun
Vice President, Research & Development

Ernst Topitsching
Commercial Lead Europe

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
S&W Seed Company S&W Seed Company’s common stock is traded on the
2101 Ken Pratt Blvd., Suite 201 Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol SANW

Longmont, CO 80501 United States
www.swseedco.com

TRANSFER AGENT & REGISTRAR

Transfer Online, Inc.

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC 512 SE Salmon Street
ACCOUNTING FIRM Portland, OR 97214

www.transferonline.com
Crowe LLP

San Francisco, CA

FORM10-K

The Company’s complete filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including the Form 10-K included in the report and all exhibits, are available
without charge through the Company’s website at www.swseedco.com under “Investor Relations” as well as on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains statements that discuss our future expectations, contains projections of our results of operations and financial condition and includes other
forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our actual results may differ significantly and materially from those expressed in these forward-looking statements as a
result of risks and uncertainties, including those detailed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. We disclaim any intent or obligation to update these forward-
looking statements, and you should not unduly rely on them.
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